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PART I
Iltem 1. Business

This report contains forward-looking statementsedeéhstatements relate to future events or ourddinancial performance. In some cases,
you can identify forwar-looking statements by terminology such as "mawfl," "should," "expect," "plan,” "anticipate,” 'dieve,"
"estimate," "predict," "potential” or "continuefid negative of such terms or other comparable terlagy. These statements are only
predictions. Actual events or results may diffetenially. Important factors which may cause acteslilts to differ materially from the
forward-looking statements are described in thdi@eentitled "Risk Factors" in Item 1 of this ArelReport on Form 10-K and in other
sections of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, arfteotisks identified from time to time in our filis with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, press releases and other communications

Although we believe that the expectations refledteithe forwardlooking statements are reasonable, we cannot giearéurture results, leve

of activity, performance or achievements. Moreoweither we nor any other person assumes resplitysibr the accuracy and completeness
of the forward-looking statements. We are undeolpligation to update any of the forward-lookingtetaents after the filing of the Form 10-
K to conform such statements to actual result® @ehinges in our expectations.

Description of the business

General

Wireless Facilities, Inc. is an independent proviafeoutsourced services for the wireless commuitna industry. We were incorporated in
the state of New York on December 19, 1994, beganations in March 1995, and were reincorporatetiénstate of Delaware in 1998. We
completed our initial public offering on Novemberl®99.

We plan, design, deploy and manage wireless teleamitations networks. This work involves radio fieqcy engineering, site
development, project management and the instaflatioadio equipment networks. We also provide nmegkwmanagement services, which
involve day-today optimization and maintenance of wireless netaof\s part of our strategy, we are technology\emtor independent. V'
believe that this aligns our goals with those af customers and enables us to objectively evaladerecommend specific products or
technologies. We provide network design and depkayrservices to wireless carriers such as (in algtieal order) AT&T Wireless,
Cingular, Telcel and Verizon and equipment vendoich as Ericsson, Nortel and Siemens. During 28813lso provided services to Bechtel
Corporation, a global engineering and project manant company. In turn, Bechtel Corporation prosiservices to both wireless carriers
and equipment manufacturers.

The wireless telecom industry has experienced rgqudith over the past few years and carriers haagentarge capital investments to exp
their networks. During 2001, however, a weakenamhemy and tightened capital markets constrainedtbeth of these capital investmer
thus reducing demand for infrastructure equipmedtralated services. As carriers deploy their netgiahey have been faced with a
proliferation in both the number and type of conitpet. Due to this increasingly competitive anditaonstrained environment, carriers are
experiencing challenges associated with managingptax networks and technologies and must focus awatisfying customer demand for
enhanced services, seamless and comprehensiveageybetter call quality, faster data transmissiath lower prices. These changes have
pressure on carriers and equipment vendors toadidbeir resources effectively, which we beliewald increasingly lead them to outsource
network planning, design, deployment and management

Our services are designed to improve our custoroenspetitive position through the planning, desagid deployment and management of
their networks. We developed a methodology of plagand deploying wireless networks that allowsaideliver reliable, scalable network
solutions. We offer our services primarily on afikprice basis with scheduled deadlines for corgpidimes, that is, on a time-certain basis.
We believe this enables our customers to morehiglfarecast the costs and timing of network depient and management. This allows our
customers to focus on their core competencies @lgn us for planning, designing, deploying andhating their networks.

In addition to our United States operations, aB@fember 31, 2001, we had ongoing projects in cmanvithin Europe, Middle East, Africa
(collectively, "EMEA") and Latin America. In 20082% of our revenues were derived from internatiaparations.

Industry Background

Wireless networks are telecom systems built usagiiprequipment. The implementation of a wirelessvoek involves several project phases,
including planning, design and deployment. During planning phase, decisions are made about tkee typ
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of equipment to be used, where it will be located how it will be configured. These decisions aasdd on a number of analytical
considerations, including phone subscriber profiled target markets, forecasts of call usage, fiahmodeling and forecasting and radio
engineering analysis. The design phase follows,jmnuves the coordinated efforts of radio engisesite development professionals and
other technical disciplines. Potential equipmetgssare identified, based on a range of variablesiding radio propagation characteristics,
economics, site access, and construction feagibilit

Once a network design has been accepted, landldimgurooftops must be bought or leased for towmrtelecom equipment, including radio
base stations, antennas and supporting electrartics site development phase requires input frarmaraber of specialists, including real
estate, land use and legal professionals who wdtklecal jurisdictions to secure any necessary lage, zoning and construction permits.
Next, construction and equipment installation mhesperformed. Finally, radio frequency engineermdssion the new radio equipment, 1
it, integrate it with existing networks and tune tomponents to optimize performance.

Once placed in service, wireless networks mustongirtually updated, recalibrated, tuned and moeddor performance and faults. Traffic
patterns change, trees or buildings may block rajoals and interference may be encountered freighboring or competing networks or
other radio sources. Usage patterns may changedeoanew rate plans, new features or increasileg sOptimization is the process of
tuning the network to take into account such changed often gives rise to maintenance tasks sielntenna changes, new equipment
installations or the replacement of substandarfdited components.

Changes in the Wireless Telecom Industry

Wireless carriers are under pressure to continyaysgrade their networks with new technologies exygand into new geographic regions in
order to remain competitive and satisfy the denfangervasive wireless service. The demand forleg® Internet access and other data
services, also known as mobile wireless broadbandcgs, has created the need to adopt new tedfiesleuch as those embodied in the
nearer-term 2.5G and emerging third-generation @&)dard. High-speed fiber networks are being leayith mobile broadband wireless
technologies to deliver enhanced telecom capadsilaind features to new customers and markets. 2001, a weakened world economy
and tightened capital markets constrained the drafithe wireless telecommunications industry, itegwin a delay in buildouts of wireless
communications networks.

As carriers deploy their wireless networks, thegefaignificant competition. Through privatizationthe 1980s, domestic and international
deregulation in the 1990s, and more recently, ¢éigatl capital markets and the lifting of spectrupsda the United States, the competitive
landscape has changed for wireless carriers. Faersato differentiate themselves and remain cditipe in this new environment, they have
been required to deploy networks to:

. provide seamless nationwide coverage and avgidresive roaming costs on competitors' networksarkets where carriers do not currel
own infrastructure;

. offer PCS service in new geographic markets;
. offer enhanced services, such as one rate pale; 1D, text messaging and emergency 911 locsorices;

. implement third-generation (3G) network standdeddeliver wireless broadband data services, diotyInternet access and two-wayneil;
and

. offer wireless local loop systems domesticallpypass incumbent wireline competitors and in dgviely countries lacking modern wireline
telephone infrastructure.

A number of emerging telecommunication carrierspgenbusiness models were originally funded whercdipital markets were more robust,
have found it increasingly difficult to secure atltial funds to complete the build-out of theirlieologies and networks and as a
consequence, certain carriers filed for bankrupitoyng 2001. In addition, many established carrfierge stopped or deferred the build-out of
their networks in the current uncertain marketscipital and telecommunication services. As a tesatwithstanding long-term growth
projections for the wireless telecommunicationsustdy, the neaterm outlook for the deployment of wireless netwgor&mains uncertain. £
the section "Risk Factors" in Item 1 of this Ann&aport on Form 10-K.

Challenges for Wireless Carriers and Equipment Vendrs

Due to this increasingly competitive environmeiatiriers are focused on satisfying customer demandrfhanced services, seamless and
comprehensive coverage, better quality, faster wlatemission and lower prices. It has also createenvironment where speed to market is
an important component of a wireless carrier's asgcCarriers are also faced with the

4



challenge of managing increasingly complex netwarhd technologies. For example, the introductiowioéless Internet technologies and
the growth in mobile broadband wireless servicgsiireng the transmission of large amounts of da¢ates additional new technological
hurdles for carriers establishing or upgradingrthetworks. In this dynamic environment, custonmruasition and retention are key
determinants of success. In our experience, thadduhcarriers to increasingly prioritize theiraesces and focus on revenue generating
activities by outsourcing functions outside th@ireecompetencies.

The changing environment is also placing signifiagwerational challenges on carriers. Carriers madte decisions about which geographic
markets to serve and which services and technddgieffer. Staffing challenges and process implaat®ns can present cost uncertainties
and operational challenges for carriers to deptayrmanage their networks. The technical complexityireless networks is increasing for
carriers as the concurrent management of analggcyedigital and next generation technologies esmlhdditionally, networks are being
deployed with equipment from unrelated vendorsjmgpsystem integration challenges. This situat®axacerbated by consolidation within
the industry as many emerging operators are aatjoireease their operations. While consolidati@atzs opportunities for new technology
platforms and allows business models and dataignkito form new nationwide networks, this oftetiaéle operational challenges for carri

to effectively integrate their distinct networks.

Equipment vendors are also facing numerous chatkeag they develop new generations of equipmehtindteased features and
functionality. Vendors traditionally provide equipmt and related services that can be deployedmétitiarrier's existing network and
integrate with equipment offered by other vendéisa result of the rapid pace of technological geanve believe that equipment vendors
have increasingly focused on offering competitivedoict solutions and outsourced services suchtasredesign, deployment and
management. During 2001, equipment manufacturedsrwent substantial downsizing as a result of togigital markets and reduced carrier
infrastructure investments. In an effort to conéria provide the full range of services requiredrplement their equipment, we believe
manufacturers will increasingly turn to outsourcfogthese technical services.

The Need for Outsourcing

We believe that carriers, equipment vendors arataelengineering and project management compargasigsourcing network planning,
design and deployment and management to focuseimctbre competencies and refine their competdideantage. We believe wireless
carriers and equipment vendors who are seekingordifig are looking for service providers who:

. accommodate larger-scale, domestic and intemmatibesign and deployment projects through sufiicireimbers of highly skilled and
experienced employees;

. offer turnkey solutions;

. are technology and vendor independent;

. offer fixed-price, time-certain services; and

. update, manage, optimize, monitor and maintamptex wireless networks.
The WFI Solution

We provide outsourced services to telecom carregmsipment vendors and related engineering an@grajanagement companies for the
planning, design, deployment and ongoing optimiratind management of wireless networks. We offekey solutions on a fixed-price,
time-certain basis as well as on a time and experetbod. We have expertise with all major wireleshnologies, and have deployed
equipment supplied by a majority of the world'slieg equipment vendors. We believe that we areebatile to manage large-scale
deployments for our customers, both domesticaltyiaternationally than telecommunications carriggsg their own internal resources or
coordinating multiple sub-contractors. Our proj@etnagement process enables us to meet our customeds for high quality networks
delivered on time and within budget.

Turnkey Solutions. Traditionally, carriers engagenumber of firms or used internal personnel tédoamd operate their wireless networks. In
this case, the carrier was responsible for thedination and integration of the various groups defined and implemented the process to be
used. The turnkey approach that we offer allowscreer to engage a single responsible party wtaxcountable for delivering and
managing the network under a single master seagoeement. In contrast to traditional methods, m@igde management services during
each phase of the engagement, enabling us toegffigischedule processes and resources, redu@rtgth and cost of network deployment
and management. We provide our customers withragpyi point of accountability and reduce the inédficies associated with coordinating
multiple subcontractors. In addition, we elimintie need for a carrier or equipment vendor to abertrain and retain network deployment
and management staff,



resulting in potential cost and time efficienci€his allows carriers and vendors to focus theioweses on revenue generating activities.

Technology and Vendor Independence for Both Modiild Fixed Wireless Operations. We have experiemedi major wireless technologie
including:

conversion of analog, cellular systems to digitgdability (CDMA, TDMA, GSM, and iDEN); deployment digital PCS systems; migration
to 3G network platforms to provide high speed veissldata Internet capability, such as UMTS specinuBurope; and development of
emerging broadband technologies in the MMDS and IS\pectrums. Two critical components of our abtiityneet and exceed customer
expectations are our broad scope of services anttclinology expertise and independence. We aréncatly keeping abreast of next
generation technologies to maintain technology eiqee Consistent with our vendor independent golee have not aligned ourselves with
the products of any particular vendor. We provideriges to many of the largest wireless carriesaghwith engineering staff that are
qualified and approved by nearly every major wisslequipment vendor. Our technology and vendompieadgence results in objective
recommendations to the customer based on therffilgof the customer's needs.

Fixed-Price and Time-Certain Delivery. A majoritiyaur services are sold primarily on a fixed-pritme-certain basis, where our customers
pay by the cell site or project, rather than byhibar. By selling our services primarily on a fixpdce, time-certain basis, we enable our
customers to better forecast their capital expangitand more accurately forecast the timing astsarf network deployment and
management. This allows them to focus on their corapetencies and rely on us for the aftctive planning, deployment and manager

of their networks.

Time and Expense Services. We also provide serticegstomers on a time and expense method whetedtgmers are billed for our
services by the hour and for related expensesregdor materials required to complete a projebisBervice type provides our customers
with the flexibility to outsource certain projestdich allows them to leverage their own resources.

Proven Methodology. Our project management proerables us to meet our customers' needs withoyprmonising quality. We leverage
our experience, which we obtained from implementingdreds of projects, to reduce time to markeh&w projects. For example, project
managers utilize our project management proceskad project progress and coordinate the intemraif numerous specialized activities
during the design and deployment of a network. \&Aseldedicated staff employed to facilitate effitimedback of information among the
various specialized activities so that our projeeins work quickly and effectively. Through thisoodinated effort and the use of Dynamic
Tracker(TM), our proprietary project tracking soéire tool, we are able to optimize resource deployraed deliver solutions on time and
within budget.

Depth and Scale. Our principal asset is our s8&ffp of whom work directly on customer projects.diecember 31, 2001, we had
approximately 625 engineers, 25% of whom have ackéidegrees. Our technological expertise and indkabwledge has enabled us to
form strong customer relationships with early stegecom ventures, as well as established camigisequipment vendors. In addition, we
have established corporate resource centers inddeRrazil, the United Kingdom and Sweden. We lelieur presence in these countries
facilitates our ability to customize services toahtihne needs of our international customer base.

Strategy

Our objective is to be the global leader in teleanrtsourcing. This means being the leading indepetngrovider of complete outsourced
wireless telecom network services, including netwmanning, design, deployment, and managementkeéhelements of our strategy
include:

Reinforce our focus on larger, top tier clients andtomer satisfaction. Our long-term success d&papon our ability to consistently deliver
value to our customers in the form of completedguts, rendered to the highest professional stasddelivered on time and within budget.
By offering turnkey solutions on a fixed-price, 8rgertain basis, we hold ourselves to the expecmset with our customers. We strive to
exceed customer expectations on every project. lieve we have been successful in developing custtogalty and trust because of our
high standards and vendor and technology indepeed&ustomer satisfaction is demonstrated by tttetthiat a high level of our customers
has used WFI services for repeat projects.

Expand the suite of services we offer and pursasseselling opportunities. Since our inception,hage continually looked for new ways to
serve our customers. Expanding our services previda channels for revenues and the ability tosesadl our suite of services to existing
customers. For instance, we often utilize our gplalyment consulting services to establish relatigps with customers as soon as a project
is conceived. Based on this relationship, we pucpportunities for network design and deploymenmtc®a network is deployed, we offer
ongoing network operations, maintenance and op#itioiz services. Through our network operationsereintRichardson, Texas, we also
centrally manage, monitor and optimize the netwarfkseveral of our customers. Our experience witlerging technologies also offers cross-
selling opportunities for network upgrades and dgpient of a carrier's next generation network. &ehhologies continue to evolve and
networks



become more complex, we will continue to expandsauvices to meet the changing needs of our cussome

Remain at the forefront of new technologies. Emaggechnologies present numerous opportunitiechalienges for existing carriers and
vendors as well as for new carriers. Our custodepend on us to draw upon our extensive desigrlaplbyment experience to recommend
optimal solutions to them. To achieve this, we hiawkouse training programs for all technical persa. We will continue to actively market
our technology expertise to wireless carriers apdmment vendors that are deploying leading eddentaglogies. This permits us to gain
valuable experience deploying new technologiesleandiso adding value to these customers' productsearvices offerings. Additionally,
employees in our Advanced Technology Group are neesntilf and participate with industry standarddrsgtiodies to develop domestic and
international standards for next generation telepomaucts by attending standard setting forumsraaking contributions to new standards.

Pursue opportunities for international growth. intgional markets represent a significant oppotyufiorr future growth. We established
corporate resource centers in Mexico and Brazilgg8, the United Kingdom in 1999, and Sweden inQ2@y the end of 2001, we had begun
planning the emergence of corporate resources imaCiWe intend to increasingly execute internatigmajects with both local professional
resources and by the use of allocated resourcesdtber market segments. Initially, our internagibrevenues resulted from deployment
contracts with multinational equipment vendors. ldger, as we continue to penetrate foreign marketsxpect to continue to capitalize on
opportunities created by privatization, new licesssand the expansion of wireless local loop netaiork

Continue to attract and retain qualified personfiethnology drives our industry. As a result, oogiaeers and site development teams are
critical to our success. We have implemented atitutional process for career development and inginWe intend to continue to attract and
retain qualified staff by offering our employeesltbnging projects and opportunities to work withexging technologies within a corporate
culture that fosters innovation and encouragesiegrand professional development. We intend tdinae to invest in training and
professional development.

Capitalize on prior project experience. We havéigipated in the deployment of thousands of cédissiThe experience we have gained
through these projects is reflected in our projeahagement process and proprietary project manageowds. This experience allows us to
optimize the allocation of our resources and caestty meet our customers' needs without compramgiguality. We will also seek to
leverage our knowledge gained in international reemksuch as the deployment of 3G technology inedtimmarkets. We will continue to
refine our processes, methodologies and projecagement tools, matching them to new customer aritht#ogy requirements.

Network Services

We provide a comprehensive suite of network sohstito wireless carriers and equipment vendors, feamsibility planning, to design,
deployment and ongoing network management.

Business Consulting

We provide business consulting services for aligeployment planning steps involved in technologgyessment, market analysis, and
business plan development.

Market Analysis. The market team studies and aealytze traffic patterns, population density, toppiy and propagation environment in
each market under consideration. We have a wekldeed capability in geographic information syst€@kS) services, which is used for
network design as well as deployment. We have deeel a proprietary methodology to assist custoimessalysis of the competitive
landscape for broadband services.

Technology Evaluation and Vendor Selection. Theaubed Technology Group, a group of experts in ed®ktelecommunications
technologies and applications, assists custometstarmining the best equipment for a particulajgut, analyzing the feasibility of a
particular technology for a network plan and mangghe bidding process from multiple equipment wadConsistent with our
independence from vendors and technology, evaluatig selections are made to suit the customefitepod needs.

Strategic and Business Consulting. Our businessuttimg group utilizes its expertise and experietacanalyze the financial, engineering,
competitive market and technology issues applicabieproposed technology or network deploymenjegtoDrawing on the demographic
analysis and preliminary network dimensioning perfed by the market analysis team and benchmarldejgoyment-related expenditures
from our various functional groups, consultantsatzenew business strategies or evaluate existipipylment strategies. Services include:

. defining subscriber profiles and target markieisluding competitive and regulatory analysis;
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. developing service offerings and marketing pléuas drive usage forecasting;
. network design and backbone configuration; and
. business plan development and financial modeling.

We have worked on a number of high profile busirss$stechnology planning projects in the wireleshistry, covering a range of mobile
broadband and satellite technologies. Althoughsthe of these projects is typically smaller in setipan design and deployment projects,
are strategically important to us because theyesst opportunities to build relationships and itiéty with customers during the planning
phase, and they enhance our experiences with lpadige technologies. These services are offerdmitina time and materials and fixed
price basis.

Design and Deployment Services
We provide a range of services for the full desigd deployment of wireless networks. Such seniuaade:

Radio Frequency Engineering. Radio frequency emgmédesign each integrated wireless system to tineeustomer's transmission
requirements. These requirements are based upaijezted level of subscriber density and trafficmd@d and the coverage area specified by
the operator's license or cost-benefit decisions.&dgineers perform the calculations, measurenzmgests necessary to determine the
optimal placement of the wireless equipment. Initimidto meeting basic transmission requiremeis,radio frequency network design must
make optimal use of radio frequency and resulb@highest possible signal quality for the gregtestion of subscriber usage within existing
constraints. The constraints may be imposed byparsimeters, terrain, license limitations, intexfee with other operators, site availability,
applicable zoning requirements and other factors.

Microwave Relocation. To enable customers to usedhio frequency spectrum they have licensed,dften necessary for customers to
analyze the licensed spectrum for microwave interfee and move incumbent users of this portiom@ispectrum to new frequencies. We
assist our customers in accomplishing this micravalocation by providing complete point-to-pointigpoint-to-multipoint line-of-sight
microwave engineering and support services. Engimgand support services include identifying ergtmicrowave paths, negotiating
relocation with incumbent users, managing and trackelocation progress and documenting the fiealoshmissioning of incumbent users.

Fixed Network Engineering. Most wireless calls altenately routed through a wireline network. Aseault, the traffic from wireless
networks must be connected with switching centetisimvwireline networks. We establish the most@éfint method to connect cell sites to
the wireline backbone, whether by microwave radibylandline connections. Our engineers are ins@ln specifying, provisioning and
implementing fixed network facilities. Additionallyhe convergence of voice and data networks, Bpaity through broadband technologies,
such as LMDS, MMDS and Fast Ethernet, has createshesubset of specialized fixed network enginegskills. These skills include
planning, design, capacity and traffic analysisgfacket-switched and Internet protocol router-bassd/ork elements. Engineering teams are
trained in specialized data networking and Intepnetocol engineering issues.

Site Development. Site development experts stueyehsibility of placing base stations in the areder consideration from a zoning
perspective, negotiate leases and secure buildingits, supervise and coordinate the civil engiimgerequired to prepare the rooftop or
tower site, manage multiple construction subcottracand secure the proper electrical and telecamgations connections.

Installation and Optimization Services. We instadio frequency equipment, including base statlenteonics and antennas, and recommend
and implement location, software and capacity ckamgquired to meet the customer's performancefigpd¢ions. We provide installation a
optimization services for all major PCS, celluladanobile broadband wireless air interface starslardl equipment manufacturers. We also
perform initial optimization testing of installe@tworks to maximize the efficiency of these netvgork

Network Management Services

Network management services are comprised o-deployment radio frequency optimization serviced aetwork operations and
maintenance services.



Post-Deployment Radio Frequency Optimization. Updtinal deployment, a network is optimized to prdeiwireless service based upon a set
of parameters existing at that time, such as eglkily, spectrum usage, base station site locatindsestimated calling volumes and traffic
patterns. Over time, call volumes or other paramsatey change, requiring, for example, the relocatif base stations, addition of new
equipment or the implementation of system enhano&m®/e offer ongoing radio frequency optimizatsamvices to periodically test netwc
elements, tune the network for optimal performaaoe identify elements that need to be upgradedpaced.

Network Operations and Maintenance. For custométsamgoing outsourcing needs, we can assume regplity for day-to-day operation
and maintenance of their wireless networks. Theticiship we develop with our customers for thigetypf outsourcing contract begins with a
team of engineers and other professional and stptadf matched to the customer's specific needstake into account such variables as
grade of service and reliability requirements, pmént manufacturer certification and geographiolayf the system in question for
determining the allocation of site maintenance ather responsibilities between our service teamthadustomer's own personnel. We
provide staffing to perform the necessary servioesentralized network monitoring and optimizatiervices and ongoing optimization,
operations, maintenance and repair of critical nétvelements, including base station equipment,il@alwitching centers and network
operating centers to the extent required by itsocnsrs. We also provide training services for titernal network staff of our customers.

The WFI Methodology

We believe that our project management processtisat for the successful execution of our busgesdel. Project managers use our
methodology and proprietary tools to coordinatevituéous specialized activities involved in biddipdanning, designing, deploying and
optimizing networks on an ongoing basis. Throughdbordination of project managers and functiompkets, we are able to integrate and
account for the various pieces of a turnkey engagem

We have built upon past experiences in developmgrelytical framework to provide scalable solusidm clients. While there are features
unique to each project, there are often similegitimong projects. The project management proceesigned to bring the expertise
developed during prior engagements to bear on eawtproject.

We continue to dedicate resources to maintainirgimproving the project management process. Atdrelusion of each engagement,
incremental knowledge gained during the coursé@efaroject is incorporated into a knowledge databd#e believe that the implementation
and improvement of the project management prodéssately benefits clients. The methodology enahiggo leverage technological and
industry expertise to deliver reliable networksirapid fashion without sacrificing quality. We a@mmitted to continually refining the
project management process, customizing it for e&eth customer and for each new technology oppdytuni

Sales and Marketing

We market and sell services through a direct daleg to wireless carriers and equipment vendossoffDecember 31, 2001, we employe:
full-time sales and marketing staff. Sales persbwoek collaboratively with senior management, agdtisg and deployment personnel to
develop new sales leads and secure new contrauath. dalesperson is expected to generate new sattsdnd take responsibility as an
account manager for specified accounts with exjstilstomers. As account manager, the salespersds wih planning and deployment
personnel assigned to that customer to identifyodppities for performing additional services fbat customer.

Customers

We provide network design, deployment and managesewices to wireless carriers, equipment vendotsrelated engineering and project
management companies. We have provided servicsdtite service providers and wireless tower canigs. A representative list of our
customers (in alphabetical order) during 2001 ideBIAT&T Wireless, Bechtel, Cingular, Ericsson, d¢xSiemens, Triton PCS, Telecorp
PCS, Telcel and Verizon.

Employees

As of December 31, 2001, we employed 1,486 fuletemployees worldwide, including 1,249 in netwatisign and deployment services,
in sales and marketing, and 203 in general andrastrative positions. None of our employees, wité éxception of our Scandinavian
employees, are represented by a labor union, arftawe not experienced any work stoppages. We ocansid employee relations to be
satisfactory.



Competition

Our market is highly competitive and fragmented enepresented by numerous service providers. Mery@rimary competitors have been
the internal engineering departments of carrierequipment vendor customers. With respect to riadiquency engineering services, we
compete with service providers that include Amari¢awer, CelPlan Technologies, Comsearch (a sudrgidif Allen Telecom Inc.),
Flextronics, LCC International, and Marconi Comnuations. We compete with site acquisition serviejolers that include General
Dynamics and Whalen & Company, Inc. (a subsididryeira Tech, Inc.). These companies have alsogatya some site management
activities. Competitors that perform civil enginegrwork during a build-out are normally regionahstruction companies. We compete with
engineering and project management companies kobtel, Bovis Lend Lease and Fluor Daniel Inc tfer deployment of wireless networ
These companies are significant competitors gifieir project finance capabilities, reputations aridrnational experience. Many of these
competitors have significantly greater financiathnical and marketing resources, generate gneatenues and have greater name
recognition than we do. We have worked as a subsmchor for Bechtel, and have developed a relatipnshereby on occasions we have
jointly pursued business opportunities, and wiltiiaue to do so in the futur

We believe that the principal competitive factorour market include the ability to deliver reswishin budget and on time, reputation,
accountability, staffing flexibility, project manament expertise, industry experience and compefiiicing. In addition, expertise in new
and evolving technologies, such as mobile broadmédreless, has become increasingly important. Wiewethat the ability to integrate the
technologies, as well as equipment from multipledas, gives us a competitive advantage as we féantbe best technology and equipment
to meet a customer's needs. We believe our abiligpmpete also depends on a number of additiacédfs which are outside of our control,
including:

. the prices at which others offer competitive sy,
. the ability and willingness of our competitorsfittance customers' projects on favorable terms;
. the ability of our customers to perform the seegithemselves; and
. the responsiveness of our competitors to custo@eds.
Industry Segment Information

Our operations are organized along service lindsiratiude three reportable industry segments: Deaigl Deployment, Network
Management, and Business Consulting. The follovatde sets forth the contribution of our industegents to revenues and operating
income (loss) for the fiscal years ended Decemlefi899, 2000 and 2001 (in millions):

1999 2000 2001

Revenues:

Design and deployment $ 86.9 $ 205.6 $ 159.5

Network management 4.5 42.7 40.4

Business consulting 1.3 7.6 7.3

Total revenues $ 92.7 $ 2559 $ 207.2
Operating income (loss):

Design and deployment $ 16.2 $ 389 $ (59.1)

Network management 1.1 10.7 (11.2)

Business consulting 0.3 2.4 1.2)

$ 52.0 $ (71.5)

Geographic Segment Information

In 2001, we realized approximately 32% of our rexemnfrom projects outside of the United States.eRees for the years ended December
31, 1999, 2000 and 2001 and long-lived assets e¢iber 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001 derived by geograggigiment are as follows (in
millions):

1999 2000 2001
United States $61.1 $183.7 $141.6
EMEA -- 18.0 22.5
Latin America 316 54.2 43.1
Total revenues $92.7 $255.9 $207.2



1999 2000 2001

United States $12.3 $715 $58.2

EMEA - 29.2 21.9

Latin America 0.3 1.1 1.9
Total long-lived assets $12.6 $101.8 $82.0

Risk Factors

You should carefully consider the following rislcfars and all other information contained in thisndial Report on Form 10-K. Investing in
our common stock involves a high degree of riskkRiand uncertainties, in addition to those we rilgsdelow, that are not presently known
to us or that we currently believe are immaterialyralso impair our business operations. If anyheffbllowing risks occur, our business
could be harmed, the price of our common stockadakline and you may lose all or part of your stwgent. See the note regarding forward-
looking statements included at the beginning afite

1. Business.

We expect our quarterly results to fluctuate. Iffaiéto meet earnings estimates, our stock pradddecline.

Our quarterly and annual operating results hawekted in the past and will vary in the future tlwa variety of factors, many of which are
outside of our control.

The factors outside of our control include:
. telecommunications market conditions and econamiaitions generally;

. the timing and size of network deployments by @arrier customers and the timing and size of arél@rnetwork equipment built by our
vendor customers;

. fluctuations in demand for our services;

. the length of sales cycles;

. the ability of certain customers to sustain apisources to pay their trade accounts receivzdinces;
. reductions in the prices of services offered byampetitors; and

. costs of integrating technologies or businedsatswe add.

The factors substantially within our control inctud

. changes in the actual and estimated costs amdttimomplete fixed-price, time-certain projects;

. the timing of expansion into new markets, botimdstically and internationally; and

. the timing and payments associated with possibigiisitions.

Due to these factors, our quarterly revenues, esgeeand results of operations have recently vaigdficantly and could continue to vary
significantly in the future. You should take thdéaetors into account when evaluating past periadd, because of the potential variability
to these factors, you should not rely upon resifl{zast periods as an indication of our future gerfance. In addition, we may from time to
time provide estimates of our future performancstiriates are inherently uncertain and actual resu# likely to deviate, perhaps
substantially, from our estimates as a result efrtfany risks and uncertainties in our busines$ydirg, but not limited to, those set forth in
these risk factors. We undertake no duty to updstienates if given. In addition, the long-term viidyp of our business could be negatively
impacted if the recent downward trend in our rewsnand results of operations is sustained. Beaauseperating results may vary
significantly from quarter to quarter based upanfictors described above, results may not meabpectations of securities analysts and
investors, and this could cause the price of oarmon stock to decline significantly.

During 2001, we experienced a negative impact taeamings and stock price as a result of the foregfactors that may cause our quarterly
results to fluctuate. We may continue to incur éssfor the foreseeable future. Due to the recewntion in the financial markets generally,
and specifically the slowdown in wireless telecomimations infrastructure spending, some of ourausts have cancelled or suspended
their contracts with us and many of our customads@otential customers have postponed enteringietocontracts for our services and or
have asked for price concessions. The reductitimeimvailability of capital due to the downturn fadso delayed the completion of mergers
contemplated by some of our customers, which redtesl in project delays. In addition, unfavoradd@nomic conditions are causing sc



of our customers to take longer to pay us for sessiwe perform, increasing the average numberyaf theat our receivables are outstanding.
Also due to the difficult financing and economimddions, some of our customers may not be abpmyous for services that we have already
performed
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and three of our customers filed for bankruptcytgetion in 2001. If we are not able to collect amswue to us, we may be required to write-
off significant amounts of our accounts receivable: example, we recognized bad debt expense bfriBion during the first quarter of

fiscal 2001 due to Advanced Radio Telecom's fifilmgbankruptcy protection and we recognized bad dgpense of $13.9 million for the
entire Metricom, Inc. receivable due to Metricofillag for bankruptcy protection and $1.3 millionrfUS Wireless due to US Wireless' filing
for bankruptcy protection during the second quarfe2001. Because we are not able to reduce ous essfast as our revenues may decline,
our costs as a percentage of revenues may incaedseorrespondingly, our net earnings may declisproportionately to any decrease in
revenues. If we restructure our business in amteffianinimize our expenses, we may incur assogiekarges. As a result of these and other
factors, it has become extremely difficult to faxstour future revenues and earnings, and anyqgti@us we make are subject to significant
revisions and are very uncertain.

If the downturn in the telecommunications industoptinues or if we are unable to sufficiently irese our revenues or reduce our expenses,
we may experience a negative impact to our findamegults which may cause us to breach certaiméiz covenants. If we are unable to
obtain waivers of compliance for breach of cerfaiancial covenants, additional adverse consequeatfecting availability of future fundin
could occur and repayment of our debt obligatiomdd be accelerated, thus limiting our availabdgiidity and capital resources.

Our success is dependent on the continued growtteideployment of wireless networks, and to thergx¢hat such growth cannot be
sustained our business may be harmed.

The wireless telecommunications industry has hisatly experienced a dramatic rate of growth baotlthie United States and internationally.
Recently, however, many telecommunications cartiexe been re-evaluating their network deployméanigin response to downturns in the
capital markets, changing perceptions regardingstrgt growth, the adoption of new wireless techgws, and a general economic slowdc

in the United States and internationally. It iffidiflt to predict whether these changes will regula sustained downturn in the
telecommunications industry. If the rate of growtintinues to slow and carriers continue to redbeé tapital investments in wireless
infrastructure or fail to expand into new geograpdmeas, our business will be significantly harmed.

The uncertainty associated with rapidly changingc@mmunications technologies may also continugetgatively impact the rate of
deployment of wireless networks and the demandtiorservices. Telecommunications service provifess significant challenges in
assessing consumer demand and in acceptance difyrepanging enhanced telecommunications capasliti telecommunications service
providers continue to perceive that the rate okptance of next generation telecommunications mtsduill grow more slowly than
previously expected, they may, as a result, coattowslow their development of next generation tedbgies. Any significant sustained
slowdown will further reduce the demand for ounvgms and adversely affect our financial results.

Our revenues will be negatively impacted if thene @elays in the deployment of new wireless netaork

A significant portion of our revenues is generdteth new licensees seeking to deploy their networksdate, the pace of network
deployment has sometimes been slower than expeatiedn part to difficulty experienced by holdefdicenses in raising the necessary
financing, and there can be no assurance thatefloidders for licenses will not experience simdgficulties. In addition, uncertainties
regarding the availability and allocation of spantrhave caused delays in network deployment botthernites States and internationally.
There has also been substantial regulatory unngrteggarding payments owed to the United Statesmgunent by past successful wireless
bidders, and such uncertainty has also delayedanktleployments. In addition, factors adverselgetifig the demand for wireless services,
such as allegations of health risks associated tiwthuse of mobile phones, could slow or delaydgggloyment of wireless networks. These
factors, as well as delays in granting the usgetsum, legal decisions and future legislatiorutations may slow or delay the deploymer
wireless networks, which in turn, could harm ousibass.

If our customers do not receive sufficient finamgiour business may be seriously harmed.

Some of our customers and potential customersugaby outside financing to pay the considerablescoktieploying their networks. If these
companies fail to receive adequate financing oeerpce delays in receiving financing, particulafter we have begun working with them,
our results of operations may be harmed. Even m&t®and potential customers that have adequatedimg may delay deploying or
upgrading their networks as they prioritize oragattheir capital resources. In addition, to theeakbur customers continue to experience
capital constraints, they could place pressuresoio lower the prices we charge for our serviced,they may be inclined to choose the
services of our competitors to the extent our cditgrs are willing and able to provide project filtdng. If competitive pressures force us to
make price concessions or otherwise reduce pragesuir services, then our revenues and margingdedline and our results of operations
would be harmed.

Our success is dependent on the continued treraktosutsourcing wireless telecommunications sesvice

Our success is dependent on the continued tremdrbiess carriers and network equipment vendomuteource their network design,
deployment and management needs. If wireless caaied network equipment vendors elect to perfoonennetwork deployment services
themselves, our revenues would likely decline amdbaisiness would be harmed.
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A loss of one or more of our key customers or delayproject timing for key customers could causggaificant decrease in our net reven

We have derived, and believe that we will contitmderive, a significant portion of our revenuesira limited number of customers. We
anticipate that our key customers will change mftiture as current projects are completed andprejects begin. The services required by
any one customer could be limited by a number ctbfs, including industry consolidation, technolajidevelopments, economic slowdown
and internal budget constraints. None of our custsris obligated to purchase additional servioa® fus and most of our contracts with
customers can be terminated without cause or pebgplthe customer on notice to us. As a resulhe§é factors, the volume of work
performed for specific customers is likely to vémym period to period, and a major customer in paeod may not use our services in a
subsequent period. Accordingly, we cannot be aettat present or future customers will not ternértheir network service arrangements
with us or significantly reduce or delay their cats.

The consolidation of equipment vendors or carrendd adversely impact our business.

Recently, the wireless telecommunications induls&y been characterized by significant consolidatiivity. This future consolidation
within the wireless telecommunication industry niegd to a greater ability among equipment vendodscarriers to provide a full suite of
network services, and may simplify integration amtallation, which could lead to a reduction imded for our services. Moreover, the
consolidation of equipment vendors or carriers ddwgve the effect of reducing the number of ourentror potential customers, which could
increase the bargaining power of our remainingausts. This potential increase in bargaining poveelld create competitive pressures
whereby a particular customer may request our ekdty with them in a particular market and put dovard pressure on the prices we ch
for our services. Accordingly, we may not be ablegpresent some customers who wish to retainewices.

We may not be able to hire and retain a sufficremhber of qualified engineers or other employeesitain our growth, meet our contract
commitments or maintain the quality of our services

Our future success will depend on our ability teetand retain additional highly skilled engineerintanagerial, marketing and sales
personnel. Competition for such personnel is irdeaspecially for engineers and project managaswe may be unable to attract
sufficiently qualified personnel in adequate nunsiiermeet the demand for our services in the futaraddition, as of December 31, 2001,
24% (approximately 250) of our employees in thetéthiStates were working under H-1B visas. H-1Bs/m@ a special class of
nonimmigrant working visas for qualified aliens \img in specialty occupations, including, for exdeypadio frequency engineers. We are
aware that the Department of Labor has issuediintiémal regulations that place greater requireraemt H-1B dependent companies, such as
WFI, and may restrict our ability to hire workensder the H-1B visa category in the future. In additthese regulations expose us to
significant penalties, including a prohibition drethiring of H-1B workers, if the Department of loslleems us noncompliant.

In addition, immigration policies are subject tpichchange, and these policies have generally becoore stringent since the events of
September 11, 2001. For example, the Mexican goventwill not issue visas to enter Mexico for peopf certain nationalities without a
prior background check conducted by the Gubernaaiffice in Mexico City. These policies may restrietr ability to send certain of our
employees to Mexico that we deem necessary toisubagrowth of our subsidiary, WFI de Mexico. Aagditional significant changes in
immigration law or regulations may further restioetr ability to continue to employ or to hire newenkers on H-1B visas and otherwise
restrict our ability to utilize our existing emplegs as we see fit, and, therefore, could harm asinbss.

A significant percentage of our revenue is accalifiée on a percentage-of-completion basis, whidlildgeause our quarterly results to
fluctuate.

A significant percentage of our revenue is derifredh fixed priced contracts which are accountedoioia percentage-of-completion basis.
The portion of our revenue from fixed price contsaaccounted for approximately 52% of our reverfaeshe twelve months ended
December 30, 2001. With the percentage-of-compiatiethod for revenue recognition, we recognize eges as they are incurred and we
recognize revenue based on a comparison of therturosts incurred for the project to date to bemtestimated total costs of the project.
Accordingly, the revenue we recognize in a giveartgr depends on the costs we have incurred farichahl projects and our then current
estimate of the total remaining costs to completividual projects. If, in any period, we signifitdy increase our estimate of the total cos
complete a project, we may recognize very littloradditional revenue with respect to that projésta result, our gross margin in such
period and in future periods may be significandguced and in some cases we may recognize a losdigitlual projects prior to their
completion. For example, in 1999 we revised thameged costs to complete two large contracts wheshilted in a reduction of gross mare
by 9.9% in the first quarter of 1999 and 6.9% ia siecond quarter of 1999. To the extent that dimates fluctuate over time or differ from
actual requirements, gross margins in subsequemtega may vary significantly from our estimated aould harm our financial results.
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Similarly, the cancellation or modification of artact, which is accounted for on a percentagesafymetion basis, may adversely affect our
gross margins for the period during which the cacttis modified or cancelled. In the first quaéfiscal 2001, we experienced such gross
margin adjustments related to the suspension amdrtation of the Metricom and Advanced Radio Tetaamntracts. Under certain
circumstances, a cancellation or modification &ked price contract could also result in our havio reverse revenue that we recognized
prior period, which could significantly reduce tamount of revenues we recognize for the periodhitiwthe adjustment is made. For
example, if we have a three year fixed price cattndhere the contract fee is $1 million and th&ahestimated costs associated with the
contract are $550,000, and if during the first yearincur $220,000 in costs related to the contmadtcorrespondingly estimate that the
contract is 40% complete, then under the percert&gempletion accounting method we would recogri@és, or $400,000 in revenue
during the first year of the contract. If, durifgetsecond year of the contract the project is teated with 35% of the services deemed
provided to the client, then the total revenuetlfier project would be adjusted downward to $350,@0d,the revenue recognizable during the
second year would be the total revenue earnedtéo thee $350,000 less the revenue previously razedror $400,000, resulting in a reversal
of $50,000 of revenue previously recognized. Toekient we experience additional adjustments sachase described above, our revenues
and gross margins will be adversely affected.

Our financial results may be harmed if we maintaiincrease our staffing levels in anticipatioroag or more projects and underutilize our
personnel because such projects are delayed, @duterminated.

Since our business is driven by large, and somstimgti-year contracts, we forecast our personaetls for future projected business. If we
maintain or increase our staffing levels in antétipn of one or more projects and those proje@slalayed, reduced or terminated, we may

underutilize these additional personnel, which widaotrease our general and administrative expensésce our earnings and possibly harm
our results of operations.

Additionally, due to current market conditions, are faced with the challenge of managing the apfatepsize of our workforce in light of
projected demand for our services. If we maintaivoakforce sufficient to support a resurgence imeed, then in the meantime our general
and administrative expenses will be high relativedr revenues and our profitability will sufferltérnatively, if we reduce the size of our
workforce in response to any decrease in the derfuaralir services, then our ability to quickly resgl to any resurgence in demand will be
impaired. This challenge has resulted in our untilemation of employees due to the unforseen reidndh the demand for our services dur
fiscal 2001. To the extent that we fail to succelysimanage this challenge, our financial resulii$ lve harmed.

Our short operating history, our recent growthxpanding services, and the recent and sudden siswdae to the current economic
conditions in our industry limit our ability to fecast operating results.

We have generated revenues for only seven yearthasgdwe have only a short history from which tedact future revenues. This limited
operating experience, together with the dynamidketagnvironment in which we operate, including fliating demand for our services,
reduces our ability to accurately forecast our tpryr and annual revenues. Further, we plan ourating expenses based primarily on these
revenue projections. Because most of our expemsds@urred in advance of anticipated revenuesmag not be able to decrease our
expenses in a timely manner to offset any unexgesttertfall in revenues. For further financial infation relating to our business, see
"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Finan€@idition and Operating Results."”

Our operating results may suffer because of coripetin our industry.

The wireless network services market is highly cetitive and fragmented and is served by numeroogenies. Many of these competitors
have significantly greater financial, technical andrketing resources, generate greater revenuelseaedgreater name recognition and
experience than us. We do not know of any compsttttat are dominant in our industry. For a monmaslete description of our competition,
see the "Business--Competition" section of this dairReport on Form 10-K.

We believe that the principal competitive factorour market include the ability to deliver reswishin budget and on time, reputation,
accountability, staffing flexibility, project manament expertise, industry experience and pricimgddition, expertise in new and evolving
technologies, such as wireless internet servi@gspkcome increasingly important. We also beliewreability to compete depends on a
number of factors outside of our control, including

. the prices at which others offer competitive sy,

. the ability and willingness of our competitorsfittance customers' projects on favorable terms;
. the ability of our customers to perform the sesgithemselves; and

. the responsiveness of our competitors to customeds.
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We may not be able to compete effectively on tlersether bases, and, as a result, our revenuememthie may decline. In addition, we have
recently begun to face competition from a new ctdsntrants into the wireless network serviceskaiacomprised of recently unemployed
telecommunications workers who have started their businesses and are willing to operate at lowafitpmargins than ours. To the extent
that these competitors are able to increase thaikeh share, our business may suffer.

We must keep pace with rapid technological chamgesket conditions and industry developments tata# and grow our revenues.

The market for wireless and other network systegigie deployment and management services is clesizad by rapid change and
technological improvements. Our future successdeifiend in part on our ability to enhance our aurservice offerings to keep pace with
technological developments and to address incrglgssophisticated customer needs. We may not seftdsdevelop or market service
offerings that respond in a timely manner to ttehimlogical advances of our customers and compgtito addition, the services that we do
develop may not adequately or competitively addtiessieeds of the changing telecommunications maldee. If we are not successful in
responding to technological changes, market canditor industry developments, our revenues mayrageahd our business may be harmed.

Our business operations could be significantlyugised if we lose members of our management team.

Our success depends to a significant degree ugocoititinued contributions of our executive officdrsth individually and as a group. See
"Directors and Executive Officers of the Registramtcorporated by reference in this Annual Report-orm 10-K, for a listing of our
executive officers. Our future performance willdagostantially dependent on our ability to retaid aerotivate them.

We may not be successful in our efforts to integnaternational acquisitions.

A key component of our business model is to exgandperations in international markets. Internalacquisitions pose a challenge, as we
must integrate operations despite differences limi@ language and legal environments. To datehave limited experience with
international acquisitions and face risks relatethbse transactions, including:

. difficulties in staffing, managing and integragimternational operations due to language, culurather differences;
. different or conflicting regulatory or legal récegments;

. foreign currency fluctuations; and

. diversion of significant time and attention ofr amanagement.

Ouir failure to address these risks could inhibipi@clude our efforts to pursue or complete intéonal acquisitions.

We continue to enter new international markets. failure to effectively manage our internationakogtions or respond to changing
regulatory conditions in foreign markets could hamn business.

We currently have international operations, inahgdoffices in Brazil, Mexico, United Kingdom and &een. For the twelve months ended
December 31, 2001, international operations acenlfur approximately 32% of our total revenues. higkeve that the percentage of our
total revenues attributable to international operet will continue to be significant. We intenddnter additional international markets, which
will require significant management time and finahcesources and could adversely affect our opegahargins and earnings. In order to
enter these new international markets, we will nedure additional personnel and develop relatijps with potential international
customers. To the extent that we are unable todms timely basis, our growth in internationalrkeds will be limited, and our business
could be harmed.

Our international business operations are subgegtrtumber of material risks, including, but natited to:
. difficulties in building and managing foreign eptons;

. regulatory uncertainties in foreign countrieglilding changing regulations and delays in licegsiarriers to build out their networks in
various locations;

. difficulties in enforcing agreements and collegtreceivables through foreign legal systems andesding other legal issues;
. longer payment cycles;
. foreign and U.S. taxation issues;
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. potential weaknesses in foreign economies, paatity in Europe, South America and Mexico;
. fluctuations in the value of foreign currenciesd
. unexpected domestic and international regulaegnomic or political changes.

To date, we have encountered each of the riskkerktabove in our international operations. If are unable to expand and manage our
international operations effectively, our business/ be harmed.

Fluctuations in the value of foreign currencieslddwarm our profitability.

The majority of our international sales are cudgedenominated in U.S. dollars. Fluctuations in Wladue of foreign currencies, compared to
the U.S. dollar, may make our services more experibian local service offerings in internationaldtions. This would make our service
offerings less price competitive than local senaferings, which could harm our business. To date,experience with this foreign currency
risk has predominately related to the Braziliarl ezl Mexican peso. In addition, we conduct businesSwedish krona, British pound
sterling, and Euro. We do not currently engageuimency hedging activities to limit the risks ofrncy fluctuations. Therefore, fluctuations
in foreign currencies could have a negative impacthe profitability of our global operations, whiwould harm our financial results.

We may encounter potential costs or claims respftiom project performance.

Our engagements often involve large scale, higbiymex projects. Our performance on such projaetguently depends upon our ability to
manage the relationship with our customers, aredfaxtively manage the project and deploy approgriasources, including third-party
contractors, and our own personnel, in a timelymeanMany of our engagements involve projects éinatsignificant to the operations of our
customers' businesses. Our failure to meet a cesteexpectations in the planning or implementatiba project or the failure of our
personnel or third-party contractors to meet pitajeenpletion deadlines could damage our reputat&sylt in termination of our engagement
and adversely affect our ability to attract newibess. We undertake projects in which we guarap¢emrmance based upon defined
operating specifications or guaranteed delivergsldt/nsatisfactory performance or unanticipateficdifies or delays in completing such
projects may result in a direct reduction in paytag¢a us, or payment of damages by us, which wbalth our business.

As of December 31, 2001, executive officers andalors and their affiliates controlled 53% of outstanding common stock (including the
shares of common stock into which the shares déSér Convertible Preferred Stock may be convertad)l as a result are able to exercise
control over matters requiring stockholder approval

As of December 31, 2001, executive officers andalars and their affiliates beneficially ownedtlie aggregate, approximately 53% of our
outstanding common stock, after giving effect te tonversion of Series A Convertible Preferred Itat particular, our Chairman, Massih
Tayebi, and our Chief Executive Officer, MasoodTlayebi, beneficially owned, in the aggregate, apipnately 38% of our outstanding
common stock. In addition, other members of theebajamily owned, in the aggregate, approximatéfy & our outstanding common stock.
As a result, these stockholders are able to exeotntrol over matters requiring stockholder apptosuch as the election of directors and
approval of significant corporate transactions,clbinclude preventing a third-party from acquirgantrol over us. These transactions may
also include those that other stockholders deebe o their best interests and in which those asberkholders might otherwise receive a
premium for their shares. For further informatiegarding our stock ownership, see "Security OwnprshCertain Beneficial Owners and
Management" incorporated by reference into thisushiReport on Form 10-K.

Our stock price may be particularly volatile be@o§our industry.

The stock market in general has recently experggegéreme price and volume fluctuations. In addititve market prices of securities of
technology and telecommunications companies hage betremely volatile, and have experienced flutna that have often been unrelated
to or disproportionate to the operating performamicdnose companies. These broad market fluctusitonld adversely affect the price of our
common stock. For further information regardingergcstock trends, see "Market for Registrant's Comiaquity and Related Stockholder
Matters" in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Provisions in our charter documents and Delawaventay make it difficult for a third-party to acgeius and could depress the price of our
common stock.

Delaware corporate law and our certificate of ipowation and bylaws contain provisions that cowdthy, defer or prevent a change in cot
of our management or us. These provisions maydisemurage proxy contests and make it more diffifmri our stockholders to elect
directors and take other corporate action. As altigbese provisions could limit the price thatestors are willing to pay for shares of our
common stock. These provisions include:
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. authorizing the board of directors to issue prefi stock;

. prohibiting cumulative voting in the electiondifectors;

. limiting the persons who may call special meetinfjstockholders;
. prohibiting stockholder action by written conseamd

. establishing advance notice requirements for natigns for election to our board of directorsargroposing matters that can be acted on
by stockholders at meetings of our stockholders.

We are also subject to certain provisions of Deladaw which could delay, deter or prevent us fremtering into an acquisition, including
Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation,halaich prohibits us from engaging in a businegalmioation with an interested
stockholder unless specific conditions are met.

Iltem 2. Properties

Our principal executive offices are located in axmately 93,000 square feet of office space in Bego, California. The lease for such
space expires in April 2010. Other executive offiaee located in the following locations:

Sao Paulo, Brazil; Mexico City, Mexico; Stockhol8weden; and in London, U.K. The Company also leaffe&® space to support
engineering and deployment services in Reston,iMagLos Angeles, California; Oakland, Californkagnolulu, Hawaii; Hingham,
Massachusetts; Grand Rapids, Michigan; Montvaley Bersey; Columbia, Maryland; Baltimore, MarylaB&nsalem, Pennsylvania and
Beijing, China. The leases on these spaces expi@iaus times through March 2009.

In conjunction with asset acquisitions that occdiire2000, we assumed the operating leases ofianalitoffice space in the following
locations:
Seattle, Washington; Chicago, lllinois; Houstonxd®& Denver, Colorado; Milwaukee, Wisconsin; andlgod, Oregon.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

In June and July 2001, the Company and certaits afiiectors and officers were named as defendaffitee purported class action
complaints filed in the United States District Ciofiar the Southern District of New York on behalfpersons and entities who acquired the
Company's common stock at various times on or &fterember 4, 1999. The complaints allege that élgéstration statement and prospectus
dated November 4, 1999, issued by the Companyrinexion with the public offering of the Compangtsmmon stock contained untrue
statements of material fact or omissions of maltéaizt in violation of securities laws because thgistration statement and prospectus
allegedly failed to disclose that the offering'slarwriters had (a) solicited and received additiama excessive compensation and benefits
from their customers beyond what was listed inrdggstration statement and prospectus and (b)eshiato tie-in or other arrangements with
certain of their customers which were allegedlyiglesd to maintain, distort and/or inflate the maniece of the Company's common stocl
the aftermarket. On August 8, 2001, the above-eefezd lawsuits were consolidated for pretrial psgsowith similar lawsuits filed against
hundreds of other initial public offering issuerglgheir underwriters in the Southern District GafrNew York. An initial case management
conference was held on September 7, 2001 for allahvsuits, at which time the court ordered thatttime for all defendants to respond to
complaint be postponed until further notice of @aurt. The Company believes these lawsuits areowitmerit and intends to vigorously
defend against them.

In October 2000, we were notified that Norm Korayormer employee who was terminated by us, askérsd he was owed certain
commissions and stock options and severance payds We were served with a formal arbitration dedhilating to the matter in January
2001. In August 2001, the arbitration concludedhveib award of $316,700 in favor of Norm Korey, eg@nting severance pay, commissions
and expense reimbursement. The outcome of thiepdieg did not have a materially adverse effedherCompany.

On July 25, 2000, we filed a complaint for DeclargtRelief in the Superior Court of the State ofifdenia for the County of San Diego,
against Dr. Rahim Tafazolli, a former employee/adiast who received an unregistered certificatgprtedly representing 45,000 shares of
our common stock. The complaint sought a declaratiat the subject certificate is invalid due te thrfeiture provisions of the employee
benefit plan and due to Dr. Tafazolli's failureprform the agreed services. On November 21, 2DA0Tafazolli filed a cross-complaint
seeking money damages and a declaration thatdrgiied to receive an unrestricted WFI stock fiegtte for 45,000 shares. On July 2001,
we entered into a settlement agreement with DraZdh agreeing to issue Dr. Tafazolli 15,000 utnieted shares. Massih Tayebi, our
Chairman, and Masood K. Tayebi, our Chief Execu@¥icer, each agreed to transfer to us one-hathefshares due to Dr. Tafazolli under
the settlement agreement. We have had no net seiedhe number of outstanding shares of our comstack and no impact on our
financial statements for the year ended Decembg2@11, as a result of this agreement.
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Advanced Radio Telecom Corp. ("ART"), which inigdtChapter 11 bankruptcy proceedings in 2001, itebdn action with the bankruptcy
court against the Company to recover alleged peafar payments in the amount of $737,529. The Coynflad an answer contesting the
allegations in this matter and intends to vigorpwidfend against this matter. In a related ma&BT has filed a partial objection to the
Company's proof of claim. The Company has retagmahsel and is currently prosecuting the full vadigs claim.

Metricom, Inc., which initiated Chapter 11 bankmypproceedings in 2001, has filed an action withliankruptcy court against the Company
to recover alleged preference payments in the atrafui,416,240. The Company intends to vigorougfend against this matter.

In addition to the foregoing matters, from timetitoe, we may become involved in various lawsuitd Egal proceedings which arise in the

ordinary course of business. However, litigatiosubject to inherent uncertainties, and an adwexsdt in these or other matters may arise
from time to time that may harm our business.

Iltem 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of SecurityHolders

None.

18



PART Il

Iltem 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters

Our common stock is listed on the NASDAQ Nationarkkt System, under the symbol "WFII" and has waglece November 5, 1999.

Our common stock began trading on the NASDAQ Naitidarket System effective November 5, 1999. Pwathat date, there was no pul
market for our common stock. The following tablésgferth for the periods indicated the high and asing prices for our common stock,
reported by NASDAQ. Such quotation represents idéaler prices without retail markups, markdownsanmissions and may not
necessarily represent actual transactions.

High L ow

Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2001

First Quarter $44.19 $ 4.13
Second Quarter $ 761 % 3.69
Third Quarter $ 969 $ 4.29
Fourth Quarter $715 $ 4.27
Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2000
First Quarter $157.88 $3 9.63
Second Quarter $93.63 $3 2.75
Third Quarter $80.50 $4 8.13
Fourth Quarter $62.66 $3 1.94

On March 11, 2002, the closing price of our Comr8twock as reported by Nasdaq was $5.10 per sharbla@eh 11, 2002, there were
approximately 47,621,270 shares of Common Stocktaatling, which were held by approximately 269 shalders of record of our comm
stock.

We have not declared any dividends since becomjmgblic company. Covenants in our financing arrangets prohibit or limit our ability t
declare or pay cash dividends. We currently intenektain any future earnings to finance the groaritl development of the business and
therefore do not anticipate paying any cash dividdn the foreseeable future. Any future deterniometto pay cash dividends will be at the
discretion of the board of directors and will bep€eledent upon the future financial condition, resoftoperations, capital requirements,
general business conditions and other factorstiieaboard of directors may deem relevant.

On October 30, 2001, we issued an aggregate 0883lBares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stac#,raised $34.9 million, net of
issuance costs, in a private placement to invedtfoeds managed by Oak Investment Partners. Thesheere issued for a Common Stock
equivalent price of $5.50 per share. Each shaBedts A Convertible Preferred Stock is initialyneertible into 100 shares of Common
Stock at the option of the holder at any time stiitje certain provisions in the agreement. Aftdy 2004, the Series A Convertible Preferred
Stock will automatically convert into shares of tbempany's Common Stock if and when our Commonk3tacles at or above $11.00 per
share for 30 consecutive days after that date.rBefoy proceeds are distributed to the holdersoofii@on Stock, each share of Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock is entitled to recé880.00 per share as a liquidation preference apgriquidation, dissolution, winding up,
consolidation, merger, reorganization, sale obaBubstantially all of the Company's assets dagechange of control transactions (each a
“Liguidation Event"). The shares were issued pumstmthe exemption from registration provided doder Rule 506 of Regulation D of the
Securities Act of 1933, based on the representatyahe purchasers that they are accredited inkestée intend to use the net the proceeds
from the offering to support future liquidity angpansion needs of the Company.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following selected consolidated financial dgttauld be read in conjunction with our consoliddtedncial statements and related notes
thereto and with "Management's Discussion and Asiglgf Financial Condition and Results of Operatfomhich are included elsewhere in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Year Ended December 31,

(All amou nts except per share data in millions)
Consolidated Statement of Operations Data: 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001
Revenues $22.7 $51.9 $92.7 $255.9 $207.2
Gross profit $10.9 $23.8 $38.4 $115.8 $66.2
Operating income (loss) $7.0 $10.7 $17.6 $52.0 $(71.5)
Net income (loss) $6.8 $47 $9.6 $31.8 $(60.1)
Net income (loss) per share:
Basic $0.24 $0.17 $0.33 $0.76 $(1.31)
Diluted $0.23 $0.15 $0.27 $0.63 $(1.31)
Weighted average shares:
Basic 28.7 284 29.1 418 459
Diluted 29.3 30.7 352 505 459

As of December 31,

(A Il amounts in millions)
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data: 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001
Cash and cash Equivalents $ .8 $29 $343 $185 $61.1
Working capital $9.2 $7.7 $91.4 $103.2 $104.3
Total assets $11.1 $60.3 $134.4 $297.1 $275.9
Total debt $ - $16.0 $ 2.7 $37.7 $421

Total stockholders' equity $9.8 $14.3 $101.4 $198.6 $197.8

Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Famcial Condition and Results
of Operations ("MD&A")

This report contains forward-looking statementseSeéhstatements relate to future events or ourddinancial performance. In some cases,
you can identify forwar-looking statements by terminology such as "mawifl," "should," "expect," "plan,” "anticipate,” 'dieve,"
"estimate," "predict," "potential” or "continuefid negative such terms or other comparable terogyolThese statements are only
predictions. Actual events or results may diffetenially. Important factors which may cause acteslilts to differ materially from the
forward-looking statements are described in thai@eentitled "Risk Factors" in Item 1 in this AraduReport on Form 10-K and in other
sections of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, arfteotisks identified from time to time in our fifis with the Securities and Exchange

Commission, press releases and other communications

Although we believe that the expectations refledteithe forwardlooking statements are reasonable, we cannot gearéuture results, leve
of activity, performance or achievements. Moreoweither we, nor any other person, assume resplitysibr the accuracy and completen:
of the forward- looking statements. We are undeolpligation to update any of the forward-lookingtsments after the filing of the Annual
Report on Form 10-K to conform this statement toialcresults or to changes in its expectations.

Overview

Wireless Facilities, Inc. offers network businesasulting, network planning, design and deploymant] network operations and
maintenance services to the wireless telecommuoreaindustry. During the years ended DecembeB32Q and December 31, 2001, we
increased the number of our contracts, the scoperdervices and our geographic presence. Initherfionths of 1999, we entered into our
first contracts for network planning which contried to increased revenues and net income duringettieended December 31, 2000. During
2000, we formed a subsidiary in the United Kingd®tireless Facilities International Limited. ("WFIL"WFIL began servicing existing
contracts and entering into new contracts in EyrdpeMiddle East and Africa ("EMEA") in April 2000 his work included services
performed for many of the latest wireless techn@egncluding UMTS, broadband wireless applicaticemd voice and video applications.
For the year ended December 31, 2001, our desigideployment, network management and business Itimgssegments contributed to
77%, 19% and 4% of our revenues, respectively. Res®from our international operations contribute@2% of our total revenues for the
year ended December 31, 20

Revenues from network planning, design and deploymmentracts are primarily fixed price contractsiehhare recognized using the
percentage-of-completion method. Under the pergentd-completion method of accounting, cost of maas on each project
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are recognized as incurred, and revenues are reeggibased on a comparison of the current costsried for the project to date compared to
the then estimated total costs of the project fatant to completion. Accordingly, revenue recogdizea given period depends on the costs
incurred on each individual project and the curestimate of the total costs to complete a proptiermined at that time. As a result, gross
margins for any single project may fluctuate aaltptoject cost estimates are revised on a perioakts as deemed necessary. The full an

of an estimated loss is charged to operationsamp#riod it is determined that a loss will be zadi from the performance of a contract. For
business consulting, network planning, design aplayment contracts offered on a time and expeasis owe recognize revenues as
services are performed. We typically charge a fixexhthly fee for ongoing radio frequency optiminateind network operations and
maintenance services. With respect to these sepvwigerecognize revenue as services are performed.

Cost of revenues includes direct compensation anéfiis, living and travel expenses, paymentsitdparty sub-contractors, allocation of
corporate overhead, costs of expendable computievase and equipment, and other direct projectteel@xpenses. Direct compensation and
benefits is computed based on standard costs aual dours billed. We review these standard cost®gdically to ensure they are compari

to actual costs.

Selling, general and administrative expenses irckampensation and benefits, costs associatecuwitbrutilization, computer software and
equipment, facilities expenses and other expensegdirectly related to projects. Our sales persbhaee, as part of their compensation
package, incentives based on their productivityiimduthe year ended December 31, 2000, we comptheefirst phase of implementing a
new financial management and accounting softwasgram in our domestic operations. We completedsémee software program
implementation in Mexico by the second quarterisfdl 2001 and as of December 31, 2001, we welteeifinal phases of implementation in
the United Kingdom. Such software is expected tteb@accommodate our growth. We expect to incueasps in subsequent periods related
to licensing the software package and related peedacosts associated with phasing in its impleatéorti in our international operations. We
may also incur expenses related to a given prajeativance of the commencement of the project amevease our personnel to work on the
project. New hires typically undergo training orr systems and project management process priaibg ldeployed on a project.

Due to the recent downturn in the financial marlketgeneral, and specifically within the telecomnmations industry, many of our custom
are having trouble obtaining necessary capitaliness which are required to fund the expansioheif thusinesses (e.g., telecom network
deployments and upgrades). The current volatifitthe financial markets and economic slowdown i thS. and internationally has also
intensified the uncertainty experienced by manguwfcustomers, who are finding it increasinglyidifft to predict demand for their products
and services. As a result, many of our customers had continue to slow and postpone the deploywfeméw wireless networks and the
development of new technologies and products, whashreduced the demand for our services. Somerafustomers have recently cance
or suspended their contracts with us and many o€ostomers or potential customers have postponexieg into new contracts for our
services. For example, during the first quarte2@1, we announced that we received notice of aohfuspension and termination from
Metricom, Inc. Also due to the difficult financirand economic conditions, some of our customersmoaype able to pay us for services that
we have already performed. If we are not able tlecbamounts owed to us, we may be required ttevoff significant amounts of our
accounts receivable. For example, three of ouocusts, Metricom, Inc., Advanced Radio Telecom asdWireless filed for bankruptcy
protection this year. This caused us to recognébdebt expense of $3.5 million for Advanced Raditecom in the first quarter of fiscal
2001, $13.9 million for Metricom, Inc. and $1.3 laih for US Wireless in the second quarter of fi2202, which thereby negatively affec
our profitability.

Some of our contracts with our customers includebimilestones, whereby the client is not invalamtil certain milestones are reached.
However, we recognize revenue under the percemigempletion method of accounting. If a contractarminated by a customer or
modified before a milestone is reached, we genevéll be required to renegotiate the terms of paptrfor work performed but not yet
billed. As a result of the market conditions ddsed above, we began to experience this duringl f&@1 with a number of our contracts that
contain billing milestones. Due to the circumstanserrounding such cancellations or modificatioms ge financial condition of the related
customers, the amount we ultimately collect fromhsoustomers may be, and often is, discounted fhemamount we have previously
recorded in unbilled accounts receivable and reeeBacause we are not able to reduce our cosésbad our revenues may decline, our
costs as a percentage of revenues may increaseanespondingly, our net earnings may declinerdisprtionately to any decreases in
revenues. We have experienced this challenge phatig with respect to managing our employee bagd,this has resulted in
underutilization of employees due to the unforegeelction in the demand for our services durisgdl 2001. In response to these factors
and the lack of visibility and uncertain market ditions, we have taken steps and are continuirnigki® steps to reduce our level of
expenditures. Specifically, we have reduced oudbeant by approximately 28% since December 31, 200®have also implemented a
more stringent expenditure approval policy, in Horeto further reduce our costs. Additionally, wepect to continue to review our internal
processes throughout 2001 and make further adjustnas necessary.

As a result of these and other factors, it has imecextremely difficult to accurately forecast outufre revenues and
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earnings, and we therefore cannot re-affirm eseésat our revenues or projections of our earnihngswe have made in public statements
prior to the date of this Annual Report on FormKLO-

Results of Operations
Comparison of Results for the Year Ended DecembgP@00 to the Year Ended December 31, 2001

Revenues. Revenues decreased 19% from $255.9miidliadhe twelve months ended December 31, 208207 .2 million for the twelve
months ended December 31, 2001. The $48.7 millemeahse was primarily attributable to the recenligie in the economy and specifically,
in wireless telecommunications infrastructure spegdwvhich resulted in the suspension and termonatif certain contracts. Revenues from
international markets comprised 28% of our totaeraies during the twelve months ended Decembe2(®) compared to 32% of our total
revenues during the twelve month period ended Dbeef3i, 2001.

Cost of Revenues. Cost of revenues increased Iglifgain $140.1 million for the twelve months endedcember 31, 2000 to $141.0 million
for the twelve months ended December 31, 2001 amssgprofit was 45% of revenues for the twelve reminded December 31, 2000
compared to 32% for the twelve months ended DeceBthe2001. The increase in cost of revenues aolihden gross profit is primarily
attributable to the recent decline in the economy specifically, in wireless telecommunicationgéastructure spending, which resulted in the
suspension and termination of certain contractduding our contracts with Metricom, Inc. and Adead Radio Telecom. The sudden and
unexpected loss of these customers caused thetedmmerall margin on thelated contracts to decrease and therefore a atiriadjustini
entry in the amount of $8.6 million was recordedhe first half of fiscal 2001 to adjust the margétorded to date to the expected final
margin on the contracts. Gross profit also deciedse to costs incurred to demobilize staff as aghvork performed on milestones that
could not be completed and billed. Finally, we hbegun to experience continued pressure assodcidtfedompetitive pricing demands

within the wireless telecommunications industry.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. 8gllgeneral and administrative expenses increa3®dfom $53.5 million for the twelve
months ended December 31, 2000 to $103.2 milliontHfe twelve months ended December 31, 2001. A eeptage of revenues, selling,
general and administrative expenses increased2fidnfor the twelve months ended December 31, 20@0% for the twelve months ended
December 31, 2001. The increase is due primariligher administrative costs to accommodate ouredtimand international growth,
combined with lower utilization rates caused by dog/nturn experienced during 2001 in the wirelesscommunications industry. During
fiscal 2001, the Company recorded approximately $2llion of severance costs associated with tdeicgon of employee headcount. Also,
bad debt expense totaling $21.3 million, which udeld allowances for receivables due from Metricmo, of $13.9 million, Advanced Radio
Telecom of $3.1 million, and US Wireless of $1.3liom were recorded during the first half of fis@01. The Company also recorded
accruals during fiscal 2001 for an estimated cambrdiability in our Mexico subsidiary of $2.2 rhidn and for the estimated loss on unused
office space of $1.4 million.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense. Depreciatind amortization expense increased 110% from $1ilidn for the twelve months
ended December 31, 2000, to $21.6 million for tikelte months ended December 31, 2001. The incisgsenarily due to the incremental
amortization of goodwill and other identifiableangibles resulting from our acquisitions compledadng the latter part of fiscal 2000.

Asset Impairment Charges. For the twelve monthee@mkcember 31, 2001, asset impairment chargdedd42.9 million, compared to no
charge for the twelve months ended December 31).2l0k recent slowdown in the economy, current egoa conditions and visible trends
in the telecommunications industry triggered anaimpent evaluation of our goodwill and other intdg assets in the second quarter of
fiscal 2001 in accordance with SFAS 121, "Accounfior the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and famig-Lived Assets to be Disposed
Of". Based on our analyses of the results of operatand projected future cash flows associateld egttain goodwill and other intangible
assets, we determined that an impairment existedoringly, we recorded a $12.9 million impairmeharge in the second quarter of fiscal
2001. Assets determined to be impaired includedlgidband contract and workforce intangibles appneating $8.2 million in our design
and deployment segment and $4.7 million in our netwnanagement segment.

Net Other Income (Expense). For the twelve montiided December 31, 2000, net other income was $llidmtompared to net othe
expense of $3.5 million for the twelve months enBedember 31, 2001. This increase in expense @fréBlion was primarily attributable to
higher interest expense resulting from increaséd detstanding during the periods under compariand,a $1.1 million realized loss on
available-for-sale investment securities relatethébankruptcy filing of Advanced Radio Telecomiethwas recorded in the first quarter of
fiscal 2001.

22



Provision (Benefit) for Income Taxes. Our effectimeome tax rate changed from a provision of 39%ile twelve months ended December
31, 2000 to a benefit of 20% for the twelve morehded December 31, 2001. The change was primdrilguable to the change from
reported pre-tax earnings in 2000 to reported @xddsses in 2001, as well as an increase in thatian allowances on certain U.S. and
foreign deferred tax assets in 2001.

Comparison of Results for the Year Ended Decembet 399 to the Year Ended December 31, 2000

Revenues. Revenues increased 176% from $92.7 mitiothe year ended December 31, 1999, to $258l@mfor the year ended Deceml|
31, 2000. The $163.2 million increase was primaatlyibutable to the addition of new contracts froar acquisitions completed during 2000,
expanded scope on several large, existing contraictsnew contracts in our consulting and netwoskagement segments, which generated
no revenues in the year ended December 31, 19§8ifi§ant new contracts included contracts acquitedugh our fiscal year 2000
acquisitions of The Walter Group, the Dallas netwaperations center, and Davis Bay. Revenues atseased from two significant
deployment contracts in the Mexican market servingtie year ended December 31, 2000. Revenuesdurimternational markets
comprised 34% of our total revenues during the gealed December 31, 1999, compared to 28% of talrrevenues during the year ended
December 31, 2000.

Cost of Revenues. Cost of revenues increased 1689%6%54.3 million for the year ended December 3B9l to $140.1 million for the year
ended December 31, 2000, primarily due to increatating in support of new contracts. Gross prefiis 41% of revenues for the year er
December 31, 1999, compared to 45% for the yeagdeBatcember 31, 2000. The increase is primarilytduemore favorable mix of project
revenues resulting from the types of services plexi

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. Bglligeneral and administrative expenses increa®&¥h from $18.7 million for the year
ended December 31, 1999, to $53.5 million for tearyended December 31, 2000. As a percentage erfiues, selling, general and
administrative expenses increased from 20% foy#ae ended December 31, 1999, to 21% for the yededDecember 31, 2000. The
increase is due to staffing increases in genexhbaministrative departments to support our grawthperations, the increased corporate
support required for a public company, as welimg tcharged for new employees during our orientati@ining and assignment processes.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense. Depreciatind amortization expense increased 390% fromi2libn for the year ended
December 31, 1999, to $10.3 million for the yeateshDecember 31, 2000. The increase is primarigytdigoodwill and other identifiable
intangibles resulting from our recent acquisitionbjch also contributed to our increase in reverareboverall operating expenses.

Net Other Income (Expense). For the year endedbleee31, 1999, net other expense was $0.5 mill@npared to net other income of $
million for the year ended December 31, 2000. Tinisease totaling $0.7 million was primarily attrtbble to interest earned on our
investments in marketable securities from the prdseof our November 1999 initial public offeringdaihe reduction of net foreign currency
losses, partially offset by an increase in inteexgtense on increasing balances on our line oftaad the initiation of certain capital leases.

Provision for Income Taxes. Our provisional incotse rate as a percentage of income before taxesaksd from 42% for the year ended
December 31, 1999, to 39% for the year ended Deeef3th 2000. The decrease is primarily attributabl@creases in our foreign revenues
from operations.

Trends

During 2001, tightened capital markets constraitedgrowth of the wireless telecommunications itigusesulting in a delay in buildouts of
wireless communications networks. If buildouts degloyments of wireless communications networkginae to be delayed for a sustained
period of time, our customers may place pressunesao lower the prices that we charge for ourisesy which would harm our results of
operations.

Indications regarding overall telecom market cdodi available as of the date of this Annual ReparForm 10-K show continuing
weakness in wireless telecommunications infrasirectpending. Due to this environment, managenreseptly expects that the Company
will record a net loss for the quarter ending MaBdh 2002, resulting from the continued underwtiian of its billable employees. In
response, management is taking steps intendedttreghe Company to profitability as soon as fesind is considering a number of
alternative cost cutting measures and significapease reductions, including further lowering wéokce levels, many of which may require
the Company to take an accounting charge in coimmeatith their implementation.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our sources of liquidity included cash and cashvadents, cash from operations, amounts availabteucredit facilities, and other external
sources of funds. On October 30, 2001, the Compaesived $34.9 million, net of issuance costs, ftbeinvestment funds
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managed by Oak Investment Partners for the sdts 8kries A Convertible Preferred Stock. As of &aber 31, 2001, we had cash and cash
equivalents of $61.1 million and had $33.0 millmumtstanding on our senior secured credit faciliipé¢ of credit").

Cash used in or provided by operations is primatégived from our contracts in process and chairmgesrking capital. Cash used in
operations totaled $38.3 million for the twelve rttenended December 31, 2000 while cash providezpbyations totaled $5.2 million for t
twelve months ended December 31, 2001.

Cash used in investing activities was $14.7 miléow $5.0 million for the years ended Decembe2800 and 2001, respectively. Investing
activities for the year ended December 31, 200Gisted primarily of cash paid for acquisitions ameestments of $47.1 million and capital
expenditures of $5.7 million which are partiallfsat by proceeds totaling $38.0 million receivezhirsales of marketable securities.
Acquisitions during the year ended December 310206uded the purchase of assets or securities Trbe Walter Group, Comcor, Davis
Bay, Questus, Telia Contracting, and Telia Acadesmyyell as the purchase of a network operationtecean investment in CommVerge
Solutions Inc., and an equity interest in Diverswbrks, Inc. Cash used in investing activitiestfa twelve months ended December 31,
2001 consisted of capital expenditures.

Cash provided by financing activities for the yeaded December 31, 2000 was $37.5 million which pvasarily derived from $24.9 millic
in net borrowings under our line of credit and $l&illion from sale of common stock issued throwgin stock option and employee stock
purchase plans. Cash provided by financing aawitotaled $42.3 million for the twelve months eh@&cember 31, 2001. Financing
activities primarily consisted of proceeds fronuissce of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock,sseleommon stock issued through our
stock option and employee stock purchase planspandorrowings under our line of credit, partiadf§set by repayment of notes payable
capital lease obligations.

As of December 31, 2001, $33.0 million was outstagdinder our line of credit with a weighted averagterest rate of 6.40%. The line of
credit expires in February 2004. Loans under fhis of credit bear interest, at our discretiorgittier (i) the greater of the bank prime rate
the Federal Funds Rate plus 0.5%, plus a marggingrfrom 0.75% to 2.50%, the ("base rate margioi')ji) at the London Interbank
Offering Rate ("LIBOR") plus a margin ranging frdir’'5% to 3.50%, the ("LIBOR rate margin"). The lwfecredit is secured by
substantially all of our assets. The line of cregdjteement contains restrictive covenants, whictgray other things, require maintenance of
certain financial ratios. On July 19, 2001, we enxed an amendment to our line of credit agreenvenith among other items, changed the
minimum EBITDA covenant to exclude unusual change$o a specified amount with respect to the firel second quarters of our fiscal
2001 financial results. On December 31, 2001, veeeted a second amendment to our line of credéemgent, which amended certain
financial covenants for 2002, reduced the aggregatemitment from $100 million to $80 million and iwed the requirement for compliance
for two financial covenants as of December 31, 2@&lsuch, we were in compliance with all requicedenants as of December 31, 2001.

As discussed in the "Risk Factors" section of Rart our Annual Report on Form 10-K, our quartexrhd annual operating results have
fluctuated in the past and will vary in the futuhge to a variety of factors, many of which are im&®f our control. If the downturn in the
telecommunications industry continues or if we@amable to sufficiently increase our revenues oucecur expenses, we may experience a
negative impact to our financial results which ncayse us to breach certain financial covenantge ldre unable to obtain waivers of
compliance for breach of certain financial covesaatiditional adverse consequences affecting dii#tjeof future funding could occur and
repayment of our debt obligations could be acctderahus limiting our available liquidity and ctgiresources.

We have no material cash commitments other thaigatidns under our credit facilities, operating aagital leases. Future capital
requirements will depend upon many factors, ingigdhe timing of payments under contracts and as®e in personnel in advance of new
contracts.

The following summarizes the Company's contraabbéibations and other commitments at December 8Q12and the effect such
obligations could have on its liquidity and cashwflin future periods (in millions):

Amount of Commitme nt Expiring by Period

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 Thereafter
Capital leases .......... $51 $35 3$0.5 $0.2 $-- $--
Operating leases ........ 49 43 37 35 24 82
Long-term debt .......... 0.2 02 02 - - --

$10.2 $8.0 $4.4 $3.7 $2.4 $8.2

We believe that our cash and cash equivalent bedaaied funds available under the existing lineredlit will be sufficient to satisfy cash
requirements for the next twelve months. Althoughaannot accurately anticipate the effect of irdlat
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on our operations, we do not believe that inflatias had, or is likely in the foreseeable futurbdee, a material impact on our net revenues
or results of operations. In addition to our créddility, we derive a portion of our liquidity fro our cash flows from operations. During 2(
tightened capital markets constrained the growtthefwireless telecommunications industry, resgltma delay in buildouts of wireless
communications networks. If buildouts and deploymeri wireless communications networks continubdalelayed for a sustained period of
time, the demand for our services and the pricaswie are able to charge for our services may mgclvhich would result in a decline in our
cash flows from operations. To address this, wda@resed on preserving cash by continuously monigogxpenses and identifying cost
savings. We will also continue to explore opportiesifor direct equity investments to help meet shaort-term liquidity requirements.

Critical Accounting Principles and Estimates

In response to the SEC's Release Numbers 33-8Cdtithary Advice Regarding Disclosure About Critidacounting Policies" and 33-
8056, "Commission Statement about Management'suBégen and Analysis of Financial Condition and Resef Operations," the Company
has identified the following critical accountingliptes that affect its more significant judgment&lastimates used in the preparation of its
consolidated financial statements. The preparatfdhe Company's financial statements in conformiiy accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requirasagement of the Company to make estimates andhgitg that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, revenues andresgs, and related disclosures of contingent assdtBabilities. On a periodic basis, the
Company evaluates its estimates, including thdsgekto revenue recognition, allowance for dodlsficounts, valuation of lonlived asset
including goodwill and identifiable intangibles,catinting for income taxes including the relatediasibn allowance, accruals for self-
insurance and compensation and related benefilsc@mtingencies and litigation. We explain thessaating policies in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements and at relevaeetians in this discussion and analysis. Thesenastis are based on the information that is
currently available and on various other assumpttbat are believed to be reasonable under themsstances. Actual results could vary from
those estimates under different assumptions orittonsl.

We believe the following critical accounting poéisiaffect the Company's more significant judgmantbestimates used in the preparation of
its consolidated financial statements.

Revenue recognition. We derive our revenue primém@dm long-term contracts and account for thesgregts under the provisions of
Statement of Position 81-1, "Accounting for Perfarmoe of Construction-Type and Certain Productiopel@€ontracts”. Revenue on time and
materials contracts is recognized as servicesemdered at contract labor rates plus material #mef direct costs incurred. Revenue on fixed
price contracts is recognized on the percentagmofpletion method based on the ratio of total cioetisrred to date compared to estimated
total costs to complete the contract. Estimatesefs to complete include material, direct laboerbead, and allowable general and
administrative expenses. These estimates are rediew a contract-by-contract basis, and are reyieeddically throughout the life of the
contract such that adjustments to profit resulfrogn revisions are made cumulative to the datéefrevision. The full amount of an
estimated loss is charged to operations in thegéris determined that a loss will be realizezhirthe performance of a contract. Significant
management judgments and estimates, includingstiraated costs to complete projects, which dritesproject's percent complete, must be
made and used in connection with the revenue répedin any accounting period. Material differenogsy result in the amount and timing
of our revenue for any period if our managementerdgitferent judgments or utilized different estiemtin addition, many of our contracts
include milestone billings. If a contract is termiad or reduced in scope prior to a milestonenigj]live may not be able to recover the full
amount of revenue recognized, which would resudt ireduction of revenue and gross margin in thees/e period.

Allowance for doubtful accounts. We maintain amatnce for doubtful accounts for estimated losssslting from the inability of certain
customers to make required payments on amountdbhe Company. Management determines the adeauidhbis allowance by periodica
evaluating individual customer accounts receivabtessidering the customer's financial condition emdent economic conditions. If the
financial condition of our customers were to detexie, resulting in an impairment of their abilibtymake payments, additions to the
allowance for doubtful accounts may be required.

Valuation of long-lived and intangible assets anddill. We have recorded significant amounts abdwill and intangibles resulting from
the acquisitions we have completed in the pasethiears. We assess the impairment of identifiatilnpibles, long-lived assets and related
goodwill whenever events or changes in circumstaitodicate that the carrying value may not be recable. Factors we consider important
which could trigger an impairment review include tollowing:

. significant underperformance relative to expedtistorical or projected future operating results;
. significant changes in the manner of our usdefacquired assets or the strategy for our oveusiness;
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. significant negative industry or economic trends;
. significant decline in our stock price for a siiseéd period; and
. our market capitalization relative to net bookuea

When we determine that the carrying value of intlaleg, long-lived assets and related goodwill mai/be recoverable based upon the
existence of one or more of the above indicatoismpiirment, we measure any impairment based anjaqted discounted cash flow mett
using a discount rate determined by our managetodr® commensurate with the risk inherent in ourent business model. Net intangible
assets, long-lived assets, and goodwill amount&®@4 million as of December 31, 2001.

In 2002, SFAS No. 142 became effective and asultyege will cease to amortize approximately $5dhidlion of goodwill and $2.1 million ¢
intangibles. We recorded approximately $14.0 millid amortization on these amounts during 2001otigh December 31, 2001, goodwill
has been amortized on a straight-line basis oves lianging from 5 to 20 years, and intangiblesHzeen amortized on a straight-line basis
over lives ranging from 2 to 5 years. In lieu ofatization, we are required to perform an initiabairment review of our goodwill and
intangible assets with indefinite lives in 2002 amdannual impairment review thereafter. If weraguired to record an impairment charge in
the future, it would have an adverse impact onresults of operations.

Accounting for income taxes. As part of the proagfgsreparing our consolidated financial statemergsare required to estimate our income
taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which we @per This process involves us estimating our actuiaknt tax exposure together with
assessing temporary differences resulting fronediffy treatment of items, such as deferred reveiouéax and accounting purposes. These
differences result in deferred tax assets andliligsi which are included within our consolidatealance sheet. We must then assess the
likelihood that our deferred tax assets will beorared from future taxable income and to the extanbelieve that recovery is not likely, we
must establish a valuation allowance. To the extenéstablish a valuation allowance or increaseatdwance in a period, we must include
an expense within the tax provision in the stateaméoperations.

Significant management judgment is required in mheil@ng our provision for income taxes, our defdrtax assets and liabilities and any
valuation allowance recorded against our net defetaix assets. We have recorded a valuation allwevan$12.2 million as of December 31,
2001, due to uncertainties related to our abibtutilize some of our deferred tax assets, primaxdnsisting of certain net operating losses
carried forward and foreign tax credits, beforeytagpire. The valuation allowance is based on stimmates of taxable income by jurisdiction
in which we operate and the period over which @mfeded tax assets will be recoverable. In the etret actual results differ from these
estimates or we adjust these estimates in futuiegegewe may need to establish an additional vadoatllowance which could materially
impact our financial position and results of opiera. The net deferred tax asset as of Decembe2(®1ll, was $10.0 million, net of a valuat
allowance of $12.2 million.

Accrual for self insurance. The Company maintamsecrual for its health and workers compensatafissurance, which is a componen
accrued expenses in the consolidated balance sMgatagement determines the adequacy of theseadsdiy periodically evaluating our
historical experience and trends related to bo#ith@nd workers compensation claims and paymaritsmation provided to us by our
insurance broker, industry experience and trendsagrrage lag period in which claims are paidutfirsinformation indicates that our
accruals are overstated or understated, we willsadie assumptions utilized in our methodologresr@duce or provide for additional
accruals as appropriate.

Contingencies and litigation. The Company is sulfiewarious claims and legal actions in the ordir@urse of our business. Some of these
matters include professional liability and employekated matters. Although we are currently notr@wat any such pending or threatened
litigation that we believe is reasonably likelyitave a material adverse effect on us, if we becawsgre of such assessments against the
Company, we will evaluate the probability of an exbe outcome and provide accruals for such conitige as necessary.

Factors That May Affect Financial Condition And Future Results

The Company participates in an industry that i ljigompetitive and is experiencing severe econgessures. Industry participants
confront aggressive pricing practices by competjtoontinually changing customer demand pattemnds rapid technological developments.
The following are important factors that could aastual results to differ materially from the gted results contained in the forward-
looking statements in this report.

. Continued weak global economic conditions couldesisely impact the Company's revenues and graath r
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. The competitive environment in the wireless teftamunications industry places pressure on revegross margins and market share.

. Depressed capital markets are likely to hindarrucapital expansion for wireless carriers andipggent vendors.

. Erosion of the financial condition of customeosill adversely affect the Company's business.

. Delays in implementing the Company's businessi@fiodmation management and system improvementkil@versely affect its business.
. The Company's stock price can be volatile.

Additional factors that could cause actual restaltgiffer materially from the projected results tained in the forward-looking statements in
this report are described in the "Risk Factorstisadn Item | of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

At December 31, 2000 and 2001, the Company didhae¢ any relationships with unconsolidated entitienancial partnerships, such as
entities often referred to as structured financspacial purpose entities, which would have betabéished for the purpose of facilitating off-
balance sheet arrangements or other contractualipw or limited purposes. In addition, the Compdogs not engage in trading activities
involving non-exchange traded contracts. As suud Gompany is not materially exposed to any finagcliquidity, market or credit risk that
could arise if the Company had engaged in suctioakhips.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standardsr@¢'FASB") issued Statement of Financial AccoogtStandards (SFAS) No. 141
(SFAS No. 141), "Business Combinations," and SFASNI2 (SFAS No. 142), "Goodwill and Other IntarigiBssets." SFAS No. 141
supersedes APB Opinion No. 16, "Business Combingtiand SFAS No. 38, "Accounting for Preacquisit@mmtingencies of Purchased
Enterprises" and eliminates pooling-of-interestsoamting prospectively. SFAS No. 141 was adopteduy 1, 2001. SFAS No. 142
supersedes APB Opinion No. 17, "Intangible Assets!l changes the accounting for goodwill from an rietion method to an impairment-
only approach. Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill andmgfible assets with indefinite lives will be testedeast annually or whenever events or
circumstances occur indicating that goodwill mightimpaired. The provisions of SFAS No. 142 araiireqgl to be applied starting with fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2001. Upon éalopf SFAS No. 142, amortization of recorded fasimess combinations consumma
prior to July 1, 2001 will cease, and intangiblsets acquired prior to July 1, 2001, that do notttiee criteria for recognition under SFAS
No. 141 will be reclassified to goodwill. The adioptof SFAS No. 141 did not have an impact on tenany's financial position or resu

of operations. The Company will adopt SFAS No. dA2January 1, 2002, upon which time the Companlyogdse amortizing goodwill and
intangible assets with indefinite lives in accorcamvith the guidelines set forth in the standarsl ofthe date of adoption, remaining
unamortized goodwill and unamortized other intatgéssets is approximately $54.4 million and $2illion, respectively, all of which will

be subject to the transition guidelines of SFAS Nt2. The Company is currently evaluating the implaat the adoption of SFAS No. 142
will have on its results of operations and finahpiasition.

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143 (SFASINB), "Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligaggrwhich addresses financial
accounting and reporting for obligations associat#ét the retirement of tangible long-lived assatsl for the associated asset retirement
costs. The standard applies to tangible long-lagskts that have a legal obligation associatedthdtin retirement that results from the
acquisition, construction or development or noross of the asset. SFAS No. 143 requires that thedhue of a liability for an asset
retirement obligation be recognized in the perioavhich it is incurred if a reasonable estimatéadfvalue can be made. The fair value of the
liability is added to the carrying amount of the@dated asset and this additional carrying amisuti¢preciated over the remaining life of the
asset. The liability is accreted at the end of gamiiod through charges to operating expense. Thégions of SFAS No. 143 are required to
be applied during the quarter ending March 31, 20@3accomplish this, the Company must identifyledlal obligations for asset retirement
obligations, if any, and determine the fair valdi¢h@se obligations on the date of adoption. ThHerd@nation of fair value is complex and

will require the Company to gather market inforroatand develop cash flow models. Additionally, @@mpany will be required to develop
processes to track and monitor these obligatiohhié time, the Company does not anticipate thattdoption of SFAS No. 143 will have a
material effect on the Company's consolidated firerstatements.

In October 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144 (SRAS144), "Accounting for the Impairment or Dispbsf Long-Lived Assets," which
addresses financial accounting and reporting feiintipairment or disposal of long-lived assets. WHRFAS No. 144 supersedes SFAS No.
121, "Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Liveds#ets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed iDfgtains many of the fundamental
provisions of SFAS No. 121, including the recogmitand measurement of the impairment of long-liasskts to be held and used, and the
measurement of long-lived assets to be disposegt shle. SFAS No. 144 also supersedes the accguantih reporting provisions of
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 30 (APB @),
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"Reporting the Results of Operations--ReportingEffects of Disposal of a Segment of a Businesd,Extraordinary, Unusual and
Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactionss'tfi@ disposal of a segment of a business. Howéwetains the requirement in APB No.
30 to report separately discontinued operationsesitehds that reporting to a component of an ety either has been disposed of (by sale,
abandonment, or in a distribution to owners) aléssified as held for sale. SFAS No. 144 is effedior fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2001. At this time, the Company de¢snticipate that the adoption of SFAS No. 144 halve a material effect on the
Company's consolidated financial statements.

Certain Related Party Transactions

In addition to the foregoing transactions, othéatesl party transactions are referenced in Parltéin 13 "Certain Relationships and Related
Transactions" of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

In October 2001, the Company issued an aggregd®,687 shares of Series A Convertible PreferrediStvalued at $35.0 million, in a
private placement to entities affiliated with aeditor of the Company.

During 2000 and 2001, two subsidiaries of the Camp®VFI de Mexico and Wireless Facilities Latin Arica Ltda., entered into certain
transactions with JFR Business Corporation Intéonat S. de R.L. de C.V. and JFR de Brasil Ltdalléctively, JFR). The General Manager
of WFI de Mexico and Wireless Facilities Latin Arizer Ltda., who is also the brother of both the @han and the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company, holds a majority ownership intenestFR. The primary business purpose for WFI daibteand Wireless Facilities Latin
America Ltda. transacting business with JFR relatexbtaining more reliable and more available iserand response compared to
independent businesses providing such servicesadtet or less than market rates after consideinglevant factors. Commencing in
March 2002, all transactions between JFR and WHlekico and JFR and Wireless Facilities Latin Aroaritda. must be approved by the
Company's Chief Financial Officer and General Celirefter a competitive bidding process.

During 2000 and 2001, WFI de Mexico contracted WHR for automobile leasing, computer leasing,ad sub-contractor for certain of its
customer contracts. During the years ended Dece81her000 and 2001, WFI de Mexico paid JFR appraséty $3.6 million and $2.7
million, respectively, for all services renderedlanthese contracts. As of December 31, 2000 a@dl,20F| de Mexico owed JFR $0 and
approximately $2.2 million, respectively. Also chgi2001, JFR contracted with WFI de Mexico for satitactor services for certain of its
customer contracts. The Company believes thaktimestand the amounts paid or payable under thedeacts are comparable to terms and
amounts that the Company could have negotiatedrwmitracts with unaffiliated third parties for sugervices.

During 2001, Wireless Facilities Latin America Lidieas transacted business with JFR as a subcamtpoviding services in connection w
certain customer contracts. During the year endeceBber 31, 2001, Wireless Facilities Latin Ametitida. paid JFR approximately $0.1
million for all services rendered under these aaxris. Also during 2001, JFR contracted with WirglEacilities Latin America Ltda. for
subcontractor engineering services for certainsofiustomer contracts. As of December 31, 2001eMAs Facilities Latin America Ltda. has
a trade receivable balance from JFR for approxiln&@.3 million related to such services. The Compbelieves that the terms and the
amounts payable and receivable under these camaeeitomparable to terms and amounts that the @orgould have negotiated under
contracts with unaffiliated third parties for sussrvices.

At December 31, 2001, except as noted above, #rerao other commitments or guarantees betweemdéfhe Company.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures A&out Market Risk

We are exposed to foreign currency risks due th transactions and translations between functiandlreporting currencies in our Mexican,
Brazilian and United Kingdom subsidiaries. We atpased to the impact of foreign currency fluctuasi@ue to the operations of and net
monetary asset and liability positions in our Me@xiBrazil and United Kingdom foreign subsidiari8gnificant monetary assets and
liabilities include trade receivables, trade pagatdnd intercompany payables that are not denosdimatheir local functional currencies. As
of December 31, 2001, our Mexican subsidiary was et asset position of approximately $27.3 nmillichile our Brazilian and United
Kingdom subsidiaries were
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in net monetary liability positions of approximatdl1.4 million and $5.6 million, respectively. Thetential foreign currency translation
losses from a hypothetical 10% adverse changesiexbhange rates from the net asset or liabiligitipms at December 31, 2001 are
approximately $2.7 million, $0.1 million and $0.6llion for Mexico, Brazil and the United Kingdomespectively.

In addition, we estimate that a 10% change in §preixchange rates would impact reported net inqomss) by approximately $0.4 million
for the twelve months ended December 31, 2001. Whisestimated using a 10% deterioration facttnécaverage monthly exchange rates
applied to net income or loss for each of the sliases in the respective period.

Due to the difficulty in determining and obtainipgedictable cashflow forecasts in our Latin Amedgerations, the use of hedging activities
is not deemed appropriate at this time.

As of December 31, 2001, $33.0 million was outstagdinder our line of credit with a weighted averagterest rate of 6.40%. The line of
credit expires in February 2004. Loans under this of credit bear interest, at our discretiorgittier (i) the greater of the bank prime rate
the Federal Funds Rate plus 0.5%, plus a marggingrfrom 0.75% to 2.50%, the ("base rate margioi')ji) at the London Interbank
Offering Rate ("LIBOR") plus a margin ranging frdir’'5% to 3.50%, the ("LIBOR rate margin"). The liwfecredit is secured by
substantially all of our assets. The line of credjteement contains restrictive covenants, whictgray other things, require maintenance of
certain financial ratios. On July 19, 2001, we enxed an amendment to our line of credit agreenvemith among other items, changed the
minimum EBITDA covenant to exclude unusual change$o a specified amount with respect to the firel second quarters of our fiscal
2001 financial results. On December 31, 2001, vexeted a second amendment to our line of credéemgent, which amended certain
financial covenants for 2002, reduced the aggregat@nitment from $100 million to $80 million and wed the requirement for compliance
for two financial covenants as of December 31, 2@&lsuch, we were in compliance with all requicedenants as of December 31, 2001.

We do not utilize any derivative financial instrum&to hedge the interest rate fluctuation as alarizes under the credit facility are
borrowed over the short term and we currently retlae ability to pay down amounts borrowed throaghoperational funds. A hypothetical
10% adverse change in the weighted average intextestor the twelve months ended December 31, ,200ald have increased net loss for
the period by approximately $0.2 million.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The information required by this Item is includedRart IV Items 14(a)(1) and (2) of this Annual Ben Form 10-K.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountémon Accounting and

Financial Disclosure

None
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PART 1lI

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Rgistrant

The information required by this item is incorpeaby reference to the information under the cagtilection of Directors" and
"Compliance with

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act" of the Regigtsattefinitive Proxy Statement and notice of oud2@nnual Meeting of Stockholders
which we will file with the Securities and Exchan@emmission within 120 days after the end of fi@0d1 (April 30, 2002).

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this item is incorp@aby reference to the information under the captiexecutive Compensation” of the
Registrant's definitive Proxy Statement and natiteur 2002 Annual Meeting of Stockholders whichwi# file with the Securities and
Exchange Commission within 120 days after the dritbcal 2001 (April 30, 2002).

Iltem 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial @vners and Management

The information required by this item is incorpedby reference to the information under the capt®ecurity Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Owners and Management” of the RegisBal#finitive Proxy Statement and notice of our28Mnual Meeting of Stockholders
which we will file with the Securities and Exchan@emmission within 120 days after the end of fis2@01 (April 30, 2002).

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transaains

The information required by this item is incorpedby reference to the information under the capt@ertain Relationships and Related
Transactions" of the Registrant's definitive Pr&gtement and notice of our 2002 Annual Meetin§totkholders which we will file with
the Securities and Exchange Commission within 18@& after the end of fiscal 2001 (April 30, 2002).

30



PART IV

Iltem 14. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules ahReports on Form 8K

(a) 1. Financial Statements and Financial Statef8ehédules

Page
Independent Auditors' Report -F_l
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2000 and 2001 F-2
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001 F-3
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001 F-4
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001 F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements F-8
Schedule II: Valuation and Qualifying Accounts S-1

All other schedules for which provision is madeha applicable accounting regulations of the S¢éiesrand Exchange Commission are not
required under the related instructions or arepfiagble and therefore have been omitted.

2. Exhibits and Reports on Forrk3

Exhibit

Number Description of Do cument

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of In corporation.(3)

3.2 Bylaws in effect since November 5, 199 9.(2)

3.3 Certificate of Designations, Preferenc es and Rights of Series A Preferred Stock.(3)
4.1 Reference is made to Exhibits 3.1 and 3.2.

4.2 Speciman Stock Certificate.(1)

10.1 1997 Stock Option Plan.(1)
10.2 Form of Stock Option Agreement pursuan t to the 1997 Stock Option Plan and related terms a nd conditions.(1)

10.3 1999 Equity Incentive Plan.(1)

104 Form of Stock Option Agreement pursuan t to the 1999 Equity Incentive Plan.(1)

10.5 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan and related offering documents.(1)

10.6 R&D Building Lease by and between the Company and Sorrento Tech Associates as amended.(1)

10.7 Amended and Restated Credit Agreement by and among the Company, various banks and Credit Suisse First Boston

dated as of February 9, 2001.(5)

10.8 Second Amended and Restated Investor R ights Agreement by and among the Company and certai n stockholders of the
Company dated as of September 17, 1999 .(1)
10.9 Employment Offer Letter by and between the Company and Scott Fox dated as of April 9, 199 9.(1)
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10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

10.28

10.29

10.30

Form of Indemnity Agreement by and bet

Amended Promissory Note from the Compa
Amended Promissory Note from the Compa
Amended Promissory Note from the Compa

Form of Warrant Agreement by and betwe
February 28, 1997.(1)

Form of Subscription and Representatio
Scot Jarvis dated as of February 28, 1

Form of Warrant Agreement by and betwe
February 1, 1998.(1)

Form of Bill of Sale and Assignment Ag
K. Tayebi dated as of June 30, 1999.(1

Assignment of Note by and among the Co

Form of Promissory Note from each of M
1999.(1)

Form of Promissory Note from each of M
1999.(1)

Services Agreement by and between WFI
of August 4,
1999.(1) +

Amended and Restated Master Services A
Inc., dated as of October 12, 1999.(1)

Master Services Agreement by and betwe
18,1999.(1) +

Agreement by and between the Company a
Germany, represented by the Business U

Master Services Agreement by and betwe
January 19, 1998, as amended.(1) +

Microwave Relocation Services Agreemen
Company, L.L.C. dated as of February 1

Site Development Services Agreement by
December 10, 1997.(1) +

Sales Agreement for Products and Servi
April 19, 1999.(1) +

Settlement Agreement and Mutual Genera
of June 30, 1999.(1)

Straight Note from Scott Fox and Kathl

ween the Company and certain officers and directors
ny to Masood K. Tayebi dated as of August 2, 1999.(
ny to Massih Tayebi dated as of August 2, 1999.(1)
ny to Sean Tayebi dated as of August 2, 1999.(1)

en the Company and each of Scott Anderson and Scot

n Agreement by and between the Company and each of
997.(1)

en the Company and each of Scott Anderson and Scot
reement by and between the Company and each of Mass

)
mpany, Masood K. Tayebi and Massih Tayebi dated as

asood K. Tayebi and Massih Tayebi to the Company da

asood K. Tayebi and Massih Tayebi to the Company da

de Mexico S. de R.L. de C.V. and Ericsson Telecom,

greement by and between the Company and TeleCorp Ho
T

en the Company and Nextel Partners Operating Corp.
nd Siemens Aktiengesellschaft, Berlin and Mu"nchen,
nit Mobile Networks.(1) +

en the Company and Triton PCS, Operating Company, L
t by and between Entel Technologies, Inc. and Trito
1,1998.(1) +

and between Entel Technologies, Inc. and Triton PC
ces by and between the Company and Integrated Ventu
| Release by and between the Company and Total Outs

een W. Fox to the Company dated as of July 8, 1999.
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10.31 Master Services Agreement by and betwe en the Company and Metricom, Inc. dated as of Septe mber 21, 1999.(1) +

10.32 Sublease Agreement by and between the Company and Franklin Templeton Corporate Services, Inc. dated as of April
14, 2000.(2)

10.33 2000 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan.(2 )

10.34 Form of Stock Option Agreement and Gra nt Notice used in connection with the 2000 Nonstatu tory Stock Option
Plan.(2)

10.35 Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement dat ed as of October 10, 2001 among the Company, Oak In vestment Partners X,
Limited Partnership, and Oak X Affilia tes Fund, Limited Partnership, including Press rele ase of Wireless
Facilities, Inc. dated October 11, 200 1.(3)

10.36 First Amendment to Amended and Restate d Credit Agreement effective July 19, 2001.(4)

10.37 Employment Offer Letter by and between the Company and Brad Weller effective August 16, 1 999.(4)

10.38 Executive Change of Control Agreement dated as of May 11, 2001 between the Company and Br ad Weller.(4)

10.39 Second Amendment to Amended and Restat ed Credit Agreement and Limited Waiver dated as of December 31, 2001.*

21.1 List of subsidiaries.*

23.1 Independent Auditors' Report on Schedu le and Consent.*

24.1 Power of Attorney. Reference is made t o the signature page to this Report on Form 10-K.

(1) Filed as an exhibit to the Company's RegisiraStatement on Form S-1 (No. 333-85515), and parated herein by reference.

(2) Filed as an exhibit to the Company's QuartBiyport on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Septe@®e2000, filed on November 14,
2000 and incorporated herein by reference.

(3) Filed as an exhibit to the Company's Reporfform 8-K filed on October 11, 2001 and incorporatecein by reference.

(4) Filed as an exhibit to the Company's QuartBeyport on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Jun@@01, filed on August 10, 2001 and
incorporated herein by reference.

(5) Filed as an exhibit to the Company's Annualdepn Form 10-K for the year ended December 3002€led on March 29, 2001 and
incorporated herein by reference.

* Filed herewith.

+ Certain confidential matters deleted pursua@tder Granting Application for Confidential Treatmigissued in connection with the
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-858&%d November 10, 1999.

(b) Reports on Form-&

The following report on Form 8-K was filed afterggember 30, 2001:

On October 11, 2001, we filed a Current Report omt8-K dated October 10, 2001, announcing thaémtered into an agreement to sell
$35 million of Series A Convertible Preferred Stacla private placement to investment funds mandigye@ak Investment Partners. Upon
completion of the sale of the Series A Convertleferred Stock, Bandel Carano, a managing paofr@ak Investment Partners, will rejoin
the Company's Board of Directors. Mr. Carano presfip served as a member of the Company's Board Aogust 1998 to June 2001.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regiigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatyp authorized.

Date: March 19, 2002
Wireless Facilities, Inc.

By: /'s/ Masood K. Tayebi, Ph.D.

Masood Tayebi
Chi ef Executive O ficer

Power of Attorney

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each pemsbose signature appears below constitutes anurgppMassih Tayebi at
Masood K. Tayebi, and each of them, as his attarmeyact, each with the power of substitutes,Hion in any and all capacities, to sign any
amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K,tarfide the same, with exhibits thereto, and otthecuments in connection therewith,
with the Securities and Exchange Commission, heratifying and confirming all that each of saidoatteys-in-fact or his substitute or
substitutes, may do or cause to be done by virtuedt.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf of
the registrant and in the capacities and on the iddicated:

Signature Title Date

/sl Massih Tayebi, Ph.D. Chairman and Director March 19, 2002

Massih Tayebi

/sl Masood K. Tayebi, Ph.D. Chief Executive Officer and Director March 19, 2002
(Principal Executive Officer)

Masood K. Tayebi

/s/ Brad Weller General Counsel, Vice President of March 19, 2002
Legal Affairs and Secretary
Brad Weller
/sl Terry Ashwill Chief Financial Officer (Principal March 19, 2002
Financial and Accounting Officer)
Terry Ashwill
/s/ Dan Stokely Corporate Controller (Chief Accounting March 19, 2002
Officer)
Dan Stokely
s/ Scott Anderson Director March 19, 2002
Scott Anderson
/s/ Bandel Carano Director March 19, 2002
Bandel Carano
/sl Scot Jarvis Director March 19, 2002
Scot Jarvis
/s/ William Hoglund Director March 19, 2002
William Hoglund
/s/ David Lee Director March 19, 2002

David Lee
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Independent Auditors' Report

The Board of Directors
Wireless Facilities, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Wireless Facilities, Inc. and subs&liaas of December 31, 2000 and 2!
and the related consolidated statements of opastgtockholders' equity, and cash flows for eddheyears in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2001. These consolidated financitdrsents are the responsibility of the Company'sagament. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these consolidated finastagé¢ments based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with audiiagdards generally accepted in the United StdtAsnerica. Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reabtmassurance about whether the financial statsnaes free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidsnpporting the amounts and disclosures in then6iig statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and &ignifestimates made by management, as well asatirgj the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits providesaonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetegaferred to above present fairly, in all matenégpects, the financial position of Wireless
Facilities, Inc. and subsidiaries as of Decembe2B00 and 2001, and the results of their operatiom their cash flows for each of the years
in the three year period ended December 31, 2@0dgnformity with accounting principles generaltcapted in the United States of
America.

KPMG LLP

San Diego, California
February 11, 2002
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Assets

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Accounts receivable - related party
Contract management receivables, net
Income taxes receivable
Prepaid expenses

Employee loans and advances - current portion

Other current assets
Total current assets

Property and equipment, net

Goodwill, net

Other intangibles, net

Deferred tax assets, net

Investments in unconsolidated affiliates
Employee loans and advances

Other assets

Total assets

Liabilities and Stock

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accounts payable - related party
Accrued expenses
Contract management payables
Billings in excess of costs
Line of credit payable
Note payable - current portion
Capital lease obligations - current portion
Deferred tax liabilities, net

Total current liabilities

Note payable, net of current portion

Capital lease obligations, net of current portion
Common stock to be issued

Other liabilities

Total liabilities
Minority interest in subsidiary

Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders' equity:

Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, $.001 p
authorized; 0.1 shares issued and outstand

liquidation preference $35.0

Common stock, $.001 par value, 195.0 shares a
issued and outstanding at December 31

Additional paid-in capital

Retained earnings (accumulated deficit)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total stockholders' equity

Total liabilities and stockholders

WIRELESS FACILITIES, INC.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2000 and 2001
(in millions, except par value)

2000

holders' Equity

ar value; 5.0 shares
ing at December 31, 2001;

2001

uthorized; 43.3 and 47.2 shares

, 2000 and 2001, respectively -

156.9 215
430 (17
(3 (0
198.6 197

" equity $ 2971 $ 275

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ#tsients.
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WIRELESS FACILITIES, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Operations

Years ended December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001
(in millions except per share amounts)

1999 2000 2001
Revenues $ 927 $ 255. 9 $ 207.2
Cost of revenues 54.3 140. 1 141.0
Gross profit 38.4 115. 8 66.2
Selling, general and administrative expenses 18.7 53. 5 103.2
Depreciation and amortization 2.1 10. 3 21.6
Asset impairment charges -- - - 12.9
Operating income (loss) 17.6 52. 0 (71.5)
Other income (expense):
Interest income (expense), net (0.2) 0. 1 (3.1)
Foreign currency gain (loss) (0.3) - - 0.2
Other, net -- 0. 1 (0.6)
Total other income (expense) (0.5) 0. 2 (3.5)
Income (loss) before minority interes tin income of subsidiary and
income taxes 17.1 52. 2 (75.0)
Minority interest in income of subsidiary 0.3 0. 1 0.1
Provision (benefit) for income taxes 7.2 20. 3 (15.0)
Net income (loss) $ 96 $ 31. 8 $ (60.1)
Net income (loss) per common share:
Basic $ 033 $ 07 6 $ (1.31)
Diluted $ 027 $ 06 3 $ (1.31)
Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic 29.1 41. 8 45.9
Diluted 35.2 50. 5 45.9

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ#tsients.



WIRELESS FACILITIES, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity

Years ended December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001

(in millions)
Convertible Convert ible
Preferred stock - Series A Preferred stoc k - Series B Common stock
Shares Amount Shares Amount  Shares Amount
Balance, December 31, 1998 1.7 $-- -- $-- 27.0  $--
Issuance of common stock - - - - 03 -
Issuance of Series B preferred stock - - 2.7 - - -

Stock-based compensation - - - - I,
Issuance of warrants in connection with
acquisitions - - - - .
Purchase of treasury stock - - - - - -
Conversion of Series A and B preferred stock
to common stock .7 - 2.7 - 7.8 -
Initial public offering of common stock, net -
Retirement of treasury stock - - - - -
Net income - - - - - -
Total comprehensive income - - - - I,

Balance, December 31, 1999 - - - - 39.7 -

Issuance of common stock for exercise of stock

options - - - - 24 -
Issuance of common stock under employee stock

purchase plan - - - - 02 -
Issuance of common stock in connection with

acquisitions - - - - 08 -
Issuance of common stock for exercise

of warrants - - - - 02 -
Tax benefit from exercise of stock options - - - - -
Net income -- - - - -
Foreign currency translation loss -- - - - - -
Net unrealized investment loss -- - - - - -

Total comprehensive income -- - - - - -

Balance, December 31, 2000 -- - - -- 43.3 -

Issuance of Series A preferred stock 0.1 -- -- - I,
Issuance of common stock for exercise of stock

options - - - - 0.7 -
Issuance of common stock under employee stock

purchase plan - - - - 0.3 -
Issuance of common stock in connection with

acquisition - - - - 20 -
Issuance of common stock for exercise of warra nts - - - - 09 -
Tax benefit from exercise of stock options - - - - - -
Net loss - - - - [
Foreign currency translation gain - - - - -
Net realized investment loss -- - - - .

Total comprehensive loss - - - - .

Balance, December 31, 2001 0.1 $-- - $-- 472 $--
(Continued)
See accompanying notes to consolidated financ#tsients.
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Add
Pa
Ca

Balance, December 31, 1998 $

Issuance of common stock

Issuance of Series B preferred stock

Stock-based compensation

Issuance of warrants in connection with
acquisitions

Purchase of treasury stock

Conversion of Series A and B preferred
stock to common stock

Initial public offering of common stock,
net

Retirement of treasury stock (

Net income

Total comprehensive income

Balance, December 31, 1999

Issuance of common stock for exercise
of stock options

Issuance of common stock under employee
stock purchase plan

Issuance of common stock in connection
with acquisitions

Issuance of common stock for exercise of
warrants

Tax benefit from exercise of stock
options

Net income

Foreign currency translation loss

Net unrealized investment loss

Total comprehensive income

Balance, December 31, 2000 1

Issuance of Series A convertible
preferred stock

Issuance of common stock for exercise
of stock options

Issuance of common stock under employee
stock purchase plan

Issuance of common stock in connection
with acquisitions

Issuance of common stock for exercise of
warrants

Tax benefit from exercise of stock
options

Net loss

Foreign currency translation gain

Net realized investment loss

Total comprehensive loss

Balance, December 31, 2001 $2

WIRELESS FACILITIES, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity

Years ended December 31, 1999, 2000, and 2001

(in millions)

Retained Accumul
itional Earnings  Treasury stock Othe
id-in  (Accumulated --------------- Comprehe
pital Deficit) Shares Amount Los

61.9 - -
13.7)

90.2 11.2 - -
9.5 - -
3.4 - -
37.7 - e -

0.5 - -
15.6 - -

56.9 430 - - q
34.9 - e -
2.7 - e -
1.7 - e -
16.0 - e -

1.4 - e -

'

i

'

i

'

i

'

i
= O

151  $(171) - $ - $(0

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ#tsients.

ated Compre-

r hensive

nsive Income

s (Loss) Total

- 318 318
3)  (03) (0.3)
0  (10) (1.0

- - 15
- (60.1) (60.1)
01 01

1
.0 1.0 1.0



WIRELESS FACILITIES, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years ended December 31, 1999, 2000, and 2001

Operating activities:
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to ne
(used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Provision for doubtful accounts
Asset impairment charges
Gain on sale of property and equipment, net
Provision for (benefit from) deferred incom
Tax benefit from exercise of stock options
Realized loss on investment
Other
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of t
Accounts receivable
Contract management receivables
Income taxes receivable
Other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Contract management payables
Billings in excess of costs
Other liabilities

Net cash provided by (used in) operat

Investing activities:
Capital expenditures
Investment in marketable securities
Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acquired
Cash paid for investments

Net cash used in investing activities

Financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock, net o
Proceeds from issuance of common stock
Purchase of treasury stock
Net borrowings (repayment) under line of credit
Repayment of capital lease obligations
Proceeds from collection of officer notes recei
Repayment of officer notes payable
Repayment of subordinated stockholder notes paya
Borrowings (repayment) of notes payable

Net cash provided by financing activi

Effect of exchange rate on cash

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalent
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

(in millions)
1999 2000 2

$ 96 $ 318 $
t cash provided by

25 107
0.4 0.1
e taxes @7 91
- 156
0.3 -
he effect of acquisitions:
(7.6) (84.4)
10.2 (6.8)
16 (17.7)
(2.3) (12.6)
49) 82
12 112
(1.1) 0.9
51 (4.4)
ing activities 13.4 (38.3)
(3.2) (5.6)
(38.0) -
(1.7) (38.1)
(0.1) (9.0
0.1 38.0

f issuance costs 15.0 --
62.5 12.9
0.2) -
(3.00 24.9
- (13)
vable - 0.6
3.8 -
ble (5.5) -
(4.0) 04
ties 61.0 37.5
(0.1) (0:3)
s 314 (15.8)
29 343

(continued)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsistents.



WIRELESS FACILITIES, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years ended December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ#tsients.

(in millions)
1999 2000 20
Supplemental disclosures of noncash transactions:
Fair value of assets acquired in acquisitions $34 $886 $
Cash paid for acquisitions (2.1) (38.7)
Issuance of common stock for acquisitions - (377
Issuance of notes payable for acquisition (0.8) (1.5)
Common stock to be issued - (8.6)
Issuance of warrants in acquisitions 0.1 -
Liabilities assumed in acquisitions 04 21
Common stock issued for earn-out provision in a cquisition -- - 16
Property and equipment acquired under capital | eases 1.8 100 2
Reduction of accounts receivable in exchange fo r notes receivable - -1
Note receivable issued for sale of equipment - - 1
Reduction of accounts receivable in exchange fo r investment securities - 11
Decrease in fair value of investment securities available for sale - (1.0) (0
Reduction of note payable in lieu of considerat ion for exercise of warrants - 0.5
Receipt of note for sale of investment 0.2 --
Tax benefit from exercise of stock options - 156 1
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Cash paid during the year for interest 13 18 3
Cash paid during the year for income taxes, net 56 9.6 10
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WIRELESS FACILITIES, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001
(1) Organization and Summary of Significant AccangtPolicies
(a) Description of Business

Wireless Facilities, Inc. ("WFI") was formed in thate of New York on December 19, 1994, beganatijpers in March 1995 and was
reincorporated in 1998, in Delaware. WFI providdalbsuite of outsourcing services to wirelessrigas and equipment vendors, including
business consulting, design and deployment and geament of client networks. WFI's customers includth early-stage and mature

single cell site, to large multi-year turnkey caatis. These services are billed either on a tindenaaterials basis or a fixed-price, time-certain
basis (i.e. turnkey contracts).

In November 1999, WFI completed an initial publftedng of 4.6 million shares of common stock. Pitie the initial public offering, there
was no public market for WFI's common stock. Thepneceeds of the offering, after deducting apflieainderwriting discounts and
offering expenses, were approximately $61.9 million

(b) Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include tw@ants of WFI and its wholly-owned and majorityred subsidiaries. WFI and its
subsidiaries are collectively referred to hereithes"Company." As of December 31, 1999, the whollned subsidiaries included Entel
Technologies, Inc., WFI de Mexico, Wireless FaigfitLatin America Ltda., and WFI International, Ltdased in London, England, which
began operations in April of 2000. In March 200%& Company acquired the assets of a network opagatienter and business segment
located in Dallas, Texas. In conjunction with tpigchase, the Company formed WFI Network Manager8entices Corporation, a wholly-
owned subsidiary incorporated in the state of Dalawto operate the center. In May 2000, the Compaguired a 16.67% interest in the
operations of Diverse Networks, Inc., which is actied for using the equity method of accountingAligust 2000, the Company acquired
Questus, Ltd., ("Questus") a privately held compiaeprporated in the United Kingdom in a stock fha®e acquisition. Questus is a provider
of management consulting and network developmenicsss in the European wireless services market. ddguisition included Questus'
wholly-owned subsidiaries, Questus Scandinavia, Ar8orporated in Stockholm, Sweden, and Questubld incorporated in Vienna,
Austria. In September 2000, the Company formed allydowned subsidiary WFI-UK, Ltd., based in Londdngland, to act as a holding
company. The Company acquired Telia ContractingafB Telia Academy AB in October 2000 and DecemB802respectively. Telia
Contracting AB, a Swedish corporation located irtt@aburg, Sweden, is a global provider of netwodnagement consulting services with
geographic emphasis in Asia, Scandinavia, Southrfsameand Europe. Telia Academy AB, a Swedish kailiability corporation located in
Kalmar, Sweden, is a provider of management trgiaimd consultancy services to the global teleconications industry.

All intercompany transactions have been eliminaterbnsolidation. Investments accounted for ushegdost method include companies in
which the Company owns less than 20% and for wttielCompany has no significant influence. Investsia@acounted for using the equity
method include companies in which the Company owage than 20% but less than 50%, or for which tben@any is considered to have
significant influence.

(c) Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmasiih an original maturity of three months or lésde cash equivalents. Cash equivalents
consisting of money market investments were $0%5%6 million as of December 31, 2000 and 200peetvely.
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WIRELESS FACILITIES, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001
(d) Investment Securities

Investment securities consisted of an investmeatpnblic company made in fiscal 2000, which wassified as available for sale and car
at fair value with unrealized gains or losses regggbmn a separate component of accumulated othepiahensive income. The carrying value
of the investment at December 31, 2000 was $0.lomilnet of an unrealized loss of $1.0 million amds classified in other current assets.
The investment was liquidated in fiscal 2001 asitlestee company declared bankruptcy. Accordinbly,unrealized loss of $1.0 million
recorded at December 31, 2000 was realized ands®fied to earnings in 2001. There were no investreecurities outstanding as of
December 31, 2001.

(e) Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment consists primarily of corapand office equipment and is recorded at costiffgent acquired under capital leases
is recorded at the present value of the future mmimn lease payments. Depreciation is calculatedjubim straight-line method over the
estimated useful life of each asset, which is onthrtee years for computer equipment and five yiar&irniture and office equipment.
Equipment acquired under capital leases is amadrtixer the shorter of the lease term or the estichaseful life of the asset. Improvements,
which add to the useful life of an asset, are adipééd. Expenditures for maintenance and repagsharged to operations as incurred.

(f) Goodwill, Net

Gooduwill represents the excess of the purchase prier the fair value of assets purchased fromieegjgompanies. Goodwill is amortized
on a straight-line basis over its estimated peoiobenefit from five to twenty years. In determigithe useful life of goodwill the Company
considers several factors including industry teébayy competition, demand and other economic factbhe Company assesses the
recoverability of this intangible asset by deteriminwhether the amortization of the goodwill balamwer its remaining life can be recovered
through future operating cash flows of the acquopdration. The amount of goodwill impairment,rifyais measured based on the projected
discounted future operating cash flows using aadistrate reflecting the Company's average cofirafs. The assessment of the
recoverability of goodwill will be impacted if estated future operating cash flows are not achieved.

(g) Other Intangibles, Net

Other intangibles consist primarily of acquiredtonser relationships, workforce, purchased technglt@de names, non-compete covenants
and patents. Other intangibles are recorded atazwsare amortized using the straight-line methaat their expected useful lives from two to
five years. The Company reviews the carrying valne remaining useful life of intangibles for impaégnt whenever events or circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recle. The amount of impairment, if any, is meadurased on the projected discounted
future operating cash flows using a discount ratkecting the Company's average cost of funds.adsessment of the recoverability of other
intangibles will be impacted if estimated futureeogting cash flows are not achieved.

(h) Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized in accordance with StateofdPosition 81-1, "Accounting for Performance ofrStruction-Type and Certain
Production-Type Contracts." Revenue on time ancri@s contracts is recognized as services areereddht contract labor rates plus
material and other direct costs incurred. Revemufixed price contracts is recognized using the@etage-of-completion method based on
the ratio of total actual costs to complete thetiamt. Estimates of costs to complete include ndtatirect labor, overhead, and allowable
general and administrative expenses. These estraegaeviewed on a contract-by-contract basisaa@devised periodically throughout the
life of the contract such that adjustments to prefsulting from revisions are made cumulativehe date of the revision. The full amount of
an estimated loss is charged to operations ine¢hiegit is determined that a loss will be realifeam the performance of a contract. Billings
in excess of costs incurred on uncompleted progetsecorded as billings in excess of costs iratttempanying balance sheets.
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WIRELESS FACILITIES, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001
(i) Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company maintains an allowance for doubtfubaats for estimated losses resulting from the iitglmf its customers to make required
payments, which results in bad debt expense. Maneageperiodically determines the adequacy of thissance by evaluating individual
customer receivables considering the customegsiial condition and current economic conditions.

() Contract Management Receivables and Payables

During 2000 and 2001, the Company managed contndwseby the Company paid for services renderetthibg parties on behalf of
customers. The Company passed these expensestthootig customers, who reimbursed the Companthfoexpenses plus a management
fee. Commencing on October 1, 2001, the Compamgased its level of service to customers undeethgses of contracts whereby the
Company is functioning as the principle rather ttimagent with respect to the customer and thdarenesulting in higher management fees
to the Company. As such, and in accordance witlptheisions of EITF 99-19 "Reporting Revenue Grass Principal versus Net as an
Agent,"” the Company has recorded the gross chéiggasive of mark-up) in service revenues anddbeesponding costs payable to the
respective vendors in cost of service revenue. Arteoreceivable from the customer or owed to thadips for the contract management
activities are shown separately on the balancetsheeistinguish them from receivables and lidie#i generated by the Company's own
operations.

(k) Income Taxes

The Company records deferred tax assets and tiabifor the future tax consequences attributabMdifferences between the financial
statement carrying amounts of existing assetsiabdities and their respective tax bases and djmeréoss and tax credit carryforwards.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measurid) @hacted tax rates expected to apply to taxabteme in the years in which those
temporary differences are expected to be recovaredttled. The effect on deferred tax assetsiabdifies of a change in tax rates is
recognized in income in the period that includeseghactment date.

The Company maintains a valuation allowance foedefl tax assets for which it is not more likelgrtinot that the Company will realize the
benefits of these tax assets. The valuation alloedbased on estimates of future taxable inconjertsdiction in which the Company
operates, the number of years over which the defaax assets will be recoverable, and schedulextgals of deferred tax liabilities.

() Common Stock Split

On February 22, 1999, the Company effected a 3-faiock split of the Company's common stock. AH glgare and share data in the
consolidated financial statements and notes tadhsolidated financial statements have been rdivefc restated to reflect this stock split.
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WIRELESS FACILITIES, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001
(m) Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based compensatiacciordance with Statement of Financial Accoun8tandard (SFAS) No. 123,
"Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.” SFAS N8 permits entities to recognize as expensetheevesting period the fair value of
all stock-based awards on the date of grant owallentities to apply the provisions of AccountiminBiples Board (APB) Opinion No. 25,
Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees and i@ted interpretations including FASB Interpretatdamber 44, "Accounting for Certain
Transactions involving Stock Compensation." UndBBAOpinion No. 25 and its related interpretatiammsnpensation expense is recognized
as the difference, if any, between the current etgokice of the underlying stock and the exerciseepon the date of grant. In accordance
with SFAS No. 123, the Company has elected to athy@yprovisions of APB Opinion No. 25 and provitle pro forma disclosure provisions
of SFAS No. 123.

(n) Net Income per Common Share

The Company calculates net income per share irdaooe with SFAS No. 128, "Earnings Per Share."dgi8FAS No. 128, basic net
income

(loss) per common share is calculated by dividiegimcome (loss) by the weighted average numbeowfmon shares outstanding during the
reporting periods. Diluted net income per commaarshieflects the effects of potentially dilutivesgties. Weighted average shares used to
compute net income (loss) per share are presested ifin millions):

1999 2000 2001
Weighted average shares, basic 29.1 41.8 45.9
Dilutive effect of stock options 5.2 7.7 --
Dilutive effect of warrants 0.9 1.0
Weighted average shares, diluted 35.2 50.5 45.9

For the years ended December 31, 1999, 2000, & 2ptions to purchase 0.2 million, 4.5 milliorda®3 million shares of common stock,
respectively, were not included in the calculatidmliluted net income (loss) per share becauseftieet of these instruments was anti-
dilutive. For the year ended December 31, 2001lieSés Preferred Stock convertible into 1.6 millicommon shares were not included in the
calculation of diluted net loss per share becalsetfect of these instruments was anti-dilutive.

(o) Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Long-Livassets to Be Disposed Of

The Company reviews long-lived assets and intaegifidr impairment whenever events or changes @ueistances indicate that the carrying
amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Reduligraf assets to be held and used is measurea dnmparison of the carrying amoun
an asset to future net undiscounted cash flowsowitinterest expected to be generated by the d6seth assets are considered to be
impaired, the impairment to be recognized is maabby the amount by which the carrying amount efahsets exceeds the fair value of the
assets. Assets to be disposed of are reported &iler of the carrying amount or fair value lessts to sell.

(p) Fair Value of Financial Instruments

SFAS No. 107, "Disclosures about Fair Value of Riial Instruments,” requires that fair values kecitised for the Company's financial
instruments. The carrying amounts of cash and egslvalents, accounts receivable, contract managiermeeivables, income tax receivable,
accounts payable, accrued expenses and contraegeraent payables approximate fair value due tshbe-term nature of these
instruments. The carrying amounts reported fotGbepany's line of credit payable and notes payafeoximate their fair value because
underlying instruments bear interest at rates coaipa to current rates offered to the Companyristruments of similar terms and risk.
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WIRELESS FACILITIES, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001
(q) Comprehensive Income (Loss)

SFAS No. 130, "Reporting Comprehensive Income Aldisthes rules for the reporting of comprehengie®ine (loss) and its components.
Comprehensive income (loss) for the years ende@mber 31, 2000 and 2001 consisted of net inconss)(lonrealized gain (loss) on
available-for-sale securities and foreign curremapslation adjustments.

(r) Foreign Currency Translation

In accordance with SFAS No. 52 "Foreign Currencgnbiation," the financial statements of the Com{saforeign subsidiaries where the
functional currency has been determined to bedba! lcurrency are translated into United Statedolising current rates of exchange for
assets and liabilities and rates of exchange fh@baimate the rates in effect at the transactate for revenues, expenses, gains and losses.

(s) Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments, which potentially subjea@ @ompany to concentrations of credit risk, conmistcipally of cash, accounts receivable
and contract management receivables. At times, lsalsimces held in financial institutions are inessof federally insured limits. The
Company performs periodic evaluations of the redatiredit standing of financial institutions anahilis the amount of risk by selecting
financial institutions with a strong relative cresianding.

(t) Use of Estimates

Management of the Company has made a number ofast and assumptions relating to the reportirasséts and liabilities, the disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities at the datthefconsolidated financial statements, and therte@ amount of revenue and expenses during
the reporting period to prepare these consolidéecial statements in conformity with accountpminciples generally accepted in the
United States of America. Actual results couldetifirom those estimates.

(u) Reclassifications
Certain amounts in prior year financial stateméwatee been reclassified to conform to the 2001 ptasien.
(v) Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standardsr@¢'FASB") issued Statement of Financial AccoogtStandards (SFAS) No. 141
(SFAS No. 141), "Business Combinations," and SFASNI2 (SFAS No. 142), "Goodwill and Other IntarigiBssets." SFAS No. 141
supersedes APB Opinion No. 16, "Business Combingtiand SFAS No. 38, "Accounting for Preacquisiti@mntingencies of Purchases
Enterprises” and eliminates pooling-of-interestsoanting prospectively. SFAS No. 141 was adopteduy 1, 2001. SFAS No. 142
supersedes APB Opinion No. 17, "Intangible Assets! changes the accounting for goodwill from an rietion method to an impairment-
only approach. Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill willtlested at least annually or whenever events ouamistances occur indicating that
goodwill might be impaired. Upon adoption of SFA8.N42, amortization of goodwill and intangible etsswith indefinite lives will cease,
and intangible assets acquired prior to July 1,120@t do not meet the criteria for recognition @n8FAS No. 141 will be reclassified to
goodwill. The Company will adopt SFAS No. 142 onuary 1, 2002, upon which time the Company willseeamortizing goodwill and
intangible assets with indefinite lives in accordamwith the guidelines set forth in the standafte Tompany is currently evaluating the
impact that the adoption of SFAS No. 142 will haweits results of operations and financial position

F-12



WIRELESS FACILITIES, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143 (SFASINB), "Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligaggrwhich addresses financial
accounting and reporting for obligations associat#él the retirement of tangible long-lived assatsl for the associated asset retirement
costs. The standard applies to tangible long-lagskts that have a legal obligation associatedthatin retirement that results from the
acquisition, construction or development or noross of the asset. SFAS No. 143 requires that thedhue of a liability for an asset
retirement obligation be recognized in the perioavhich it is incurred if a reasonable estimatéadfvalue can be made. The fair value of the
liability is added to the carrying amount of the@sated asset and this additional carrying amsutépreciated over the remaining life of the
asset. The liability is accreted at the end of gamiiod through charges to operating expense. Thégions of SFAS No. 143 are required to
be applied during the quarter ending March 31, 20@3accomplish this, the Company must identifyledlal obligations for asset retirement
obligations, if any, and determine the fair valdi¢h@se obligations on the date of adoption. ThHerdanation of fair value is complex and

will require the Company to gather market inforraatand develop cash flow models. Additionally, @@mpany will be required to develop
processes to track and monitor these obligatiohhié time, the Company does not anticipate thattdoption of SFAS No. 143 will have a
material effect on the Company's consolidated firerstatements.

In October 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144 (SRAS144), "Accounting for the Impairment or Dispbsf Long-Lived Assets," which
addresses financial accounting and reporting feiintipairment or disposal of long-lived assets. WHRFAS No. 144 supersedes SFAS No.
121, "Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Livedsgets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed iDfgtains many of the fundamental
provisions of SFAS No. 121, including the recogmitand measurement of the impairment of long-liasskts to be held and used, and the
measurement of long-lived assets to be disposegt shle. SFAS No. 144 also supersedes the accguantith reporting provisions of
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 30 (APB @), "Reporting the Results of Operations--Repgrthe Effects of Disposal of a
Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusuhlr@drequently Occurring Events and Transactiofwy, the disposal of a segment of a
business. However, it retains the requirement iB AP®. 30 to report separately discontinued openatand extends that reporting to a
component of an entity that either has been disposéby sale, abandonment, or in a distributioowmers) or is classified as held for sale.
SFAS No. 144 is effective for fiscal years begimnaiter December 15, 2001. At this time, the Congpdoes not anticipate that the adoption
of SFAS No. 144 will have a material effect on @@mpany's consolidated financial statements.

(2) Impairment Charge

The recent slowdown in the economy, current econ@oinditions and visible trends in the telecommaitidns industry, triggered an
impairment evaluation by the Company of its gootanld other intangible assets in the second quaftiscal 2001. Based on the Compal
analyses of the results of operations and projectede cash flows associated with certain goodarnlll other intangible assets, the Company
determined that impairment existed. Accordingly, @ompany recorded a $12.9 million impairment changhe second quarter of fiscal
2001, determined as the amount by which the cagrgmount of the assets exceeded the present viallne estimated future cash flows.
Assets determined to be impaired included goodwitl contract and workforce intangibles approxingg$g.2 million in the Company's
design and deployment segment and $4.7 milliotsinétwork management segment.

(3) Acquisitions
The Company accounts for acquisitions in accordantteAPB 16, "Business Combinations,” and reldtedrpretations.
(a) Entel Technologies, Inc. ("Entel")

On February 27, 1998, the Company acquired ati®futstanding shares of stock of Entel, a Marylaindless outsourcing company. Entel
rendered site development and project managemenitag to telecommunications providers in connectidgth site acquisition, construction
management and microwave relocation projects throug
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WIRE FACILITIES, INC.
Notes to Condolidated Financial Statements
Years ended December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001

the United States. Consideration for the acquisitionsisted of $3.5 million in cash and $5.2 millio notes payable to Entel shareholders.
The excess purchase price paid over the fair va@lt@ngible and identifiable intangible assets asgluwas recorded as goodwill. Goodwiill
$7.8 million was recognized in the transaction aad being amortized over seven years. The remameéhgook value of goodwill was
approximately $3.5 million as of December 31, 200kich will be subject to the transition guideliresSFAS 142 effective January 1, 2002.
The Company accounted for this acquisition usirgpthrchase method of accounting. Thus, resultp@efations from this acquired entity are
included in the Company's consolidated financialeshents from the acquisition date.

(b) B. Communication International, Inc. ("BCI")

On January 4, 1999, the Company acquired BCI fa® $illlion in cash, warrants and notes. BCI prodidadio frequency engineering and
cell site and switch technician services in the.ldr&l Latin America. The excess purchase price @aid the fair value of tangible and
identifiable intangible assets acquired was reabategoodwill. Goodwill of $1.2 million was recogad in the transaction and was being
amortized over seven years. The remaining net vahle of goodwill was approximately $0.7 million @sDecember 31, 2001, which will
subject to the transition guidelines of SFAS 142afve January 1, 2002. Acquired identifiable mgible assets of $0.5 million consist
primarily of non-compete agreements and were baingrtized over two years. Acquired identifiablemgible assets were fully amortized as
of December 31, 2001. The Company accounted feratguisition using the purchase method of accegniihus, results of operations from
this acquired entity are included in the Compaagissolidated financial statements from the acqaisidate.

(c) C.R.D., Inc. ("CRD")

On June 25, 1999, the Company acquired CRD for 8ll®n in cash, warrants, and assumption of deiRRD installed and maintained cell
site and microwave electronics. The excess purghase paid over the fair value of tangible andhiiféable intangible assets acquired was
recorded as goodwill. Goodwill of $0.3 million weecognized in the transaction and was being ansatiwer seven years. During the sec
quarter of fiscal 2001, an impairment analysis pagormed which resulted in the write-off of thenaning net book value of goodwill of
$0.2 million, in accordance with SFAS 121. The Campaccounted for this acquisition using the puselraethod of accounting. Thus,
results of operations from this acquired entityiacduded in the Company's consolidated finandiesnents from the acquisition date.

(d) WFI de Mexico ("WFIM")

On September 18, 1998, the Company formed and r@chan 88% ownership interest in a Mexican subsid/FIM). WFIM acquired all
the assets of Cable and Wireless Services, SNexican wireless communications company. Considmrdor the acquisition consisted of
$0.1 million in cash. The remaining 12% of WFI dexito's stock was held by directors and the Geraalager of WFIM pursuant to
Restricted Stock Agreements which permit WFIM touehase and transfer such shares upon the occaroéicertain events.

On January 21, 2000, the Company acquired all B3 2f the minority ownership interest in WFIM fraime General Manager of that
subsidiary. The acquisition was made under thegarina Restricted Stock Agreement, pursuant to livtiie Company issued 0.4 million
shares of common stock valued at $18.2 milliondchange for shares in WFIM. The acquisition prigswallocated first to reduce the
General Manager's minority interest, with the exa#fs$17.9 million recorded as goodwill, which waesng amortized over 20 years. The
remaining net book value of goodwill was approxietat16.1 million as of December 31, 2001, whicH e subject to the transition
guidelines of SFAS 142 effective January 1, 200% General Manager is the brother of both the Greairand the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company. The Company accounted for this iaitgpn using the purchase method of accountingisThesults of operations and
earnings previously allocated to minority owners iacluded in the Company's consolidated finaratimlements from the acquisition date.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001
(e) The Walter Group, Inc. ("TWG")

On January 11, 2000, the Company acquired TWG, shiligton corporation and a privately-held providEmanagement consulting and
network development services to the wireless comcations market. Consideration consisted of $5Mianiin cash and approximately
95,000 shares of the Company's common stock vat$d.1 million. The Company accounted for thisuasitjon using the purchase method
of accounting. Thus, results of operations frons #iquired entity are included in the Company'sclitiated financial statements from the
acquisition date. The excess purchase price padtbe fair value of tangible and identifiable imgible assets acquired was recorded as
goodwill. Goodwill of $7.7 million was recognized the transaction and was being amortized oveyéans. During the second quarter of
fiscal 2001, an impairment analysis was performaétvresulted in the write-off of $6.5 million obgdwill in accordance with SFAS 121.
As of December 31, 2001, the remaining net bookevaf goodwill was approximately $0.1 million, whiwill be subject to the transition
guidelines of SFAS 142 effective January 1, 200&yred identifiable intangible assets of $1.6 imillconsisted of non-compete covenants
and an assembled workforce and were being amonizedtwo to five years. During the second quasfdiscal 2001, in connection with the
impairment analysis performed, the lives of thea#mmg intangibles were evaluated, which resulted reduction of the useful life for
assembled workforce from five to three years ABe€ember 31, 2001, the remaining net book valua$sembled workforce was $0.8
million, which will be subject to the transition igelines of SFAS 142 effective January 1, 2002. ifldentifiable assets related to non-
compete covenants were fully amortized as of Deegr@h, 2001.

(f) Network Operations Center

On March 13, 2000, the Company acquired the as$etmietwork operations center and business segimentEricsson Inc. for $6.3 million
in cash. The center is located in Dallas, Texas. Cmpany accounted for this acquisition usingpiirehase method of accounting. The
results of operations from the acquired assettaheded in the Company's consolidated financiafeshents from the acquisition date. The
excess purchase price paid over the fair valubefdngible and identifiable intangible assets meduvas recorded as goodwill. Goodwill of
$1.0 million was recognized in the transaction aad being amortized over seven years. During tbersbquarter of fiscal 2001, an
impairment analysis was performed which resulteth@write-off of the remaining net book value obgwill of $0.8 million, in accordance
with SFAS 121. Acquired identifiable intangible efssof $3.4 million consisted primarily of customelationships and an assembled
workforce and were being amortized over two to frears. As a result of the impairment analysis rémaining net book value of customer
relationships and assembled workforce was detedrtmée impaired and fully written off in accordaneith SFAS 121.

(g) Comcor Advisory Services ("Comcor")

On April 25, 2000, the Company acquired the asse@omcor, a privately-held provider of site dey®itent services to the wireless mobility
and broadband wireless communications market. Tregany paid $5.4 million in cash as well as issajggroximately 21,000 shares of the
Company's common stock valued at $1.8 million tonCor shareholders for the acquisition. The excasshase price paid over the fair va
of the tangible and identifiable intangible assatguired was recorded as goodwill. Goodwill of $®iion was recognized in the transaction
and was being amortized over ten years. During#oend quarter of fiscal 2001, an impairment amalysas performed which resulted in the
write-off of $1.5 million of goodwill, in accordaeowith SFAS 121. As of December 31, 2001, the ramginet book value of goodwill was
approximately $4.0 million, which will be subjectthe transition guidelines of SFAS 142 effectimauary 1, 2002. Acquired identifiable
intangible assets of $0.6 million consisted prityaof an assembled workforce and was being amattizer five years. As of December 31,
2001, the remaining net book value of assembledkfonre was approximately $0.4 million, which wikkIsubject to the transition guidelines
of SFAS 142 effective January 1, 2002. The Compapunted for this acquisition using the purchasthod of accounting. Thus, the res
of operations from the acquired assets are inclinléfie Company's consolidated financial statemiaota the acquisition date.
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(h) Diverse Networks, Inc. ("DNI")

On May 24, 2000, the Company paid $4.0 millionastt to acquire a 16.67% percent interest in DIgkate company that provides

network management and data center services. jnroiion with the acquisition, the Company receigedarrant for the rights to purchase
up to a 50% interest in DNI over five years. Thanamat is exercisable after May 24, 2001, or upandbcurrence of a material event as
defined in the warrant agreement. The number afeshand exercise price for the warrant is depengeon revenues earned by contracts and
agreements provided to DNI by the Company. Exermftbe warrant may be effected by cash or by uaingt issue exercise feature. The
warrant may be exercised in total or in part, anassignable and transferable prior to any first@ge. This investment has been accounted
for under the equity method of accounting due &phesence of significant influence that is deetoeskist based on the material level of
existing contracts that WFI holds with DNI.

(i) Davis Bay, LLC

On June 26, 2000, the Company acquired the assB@vis Bay, LLC, a Washington State limited liatyilcompany, for $3.0 million in cash
and approximately 49,000 shares of the Company'sram stock valued at $2.4 million. The acquisities accounted for as a purchase.
Thus, the results of operations from the acquissges are included in the Company's consolidateshial statements from the acquisition
date.

Included in the asset purchase agreement was aroaaprovision whereby the Company agreed to payi©Bay's selling shareholders'
additional consideration contingent on certain tprér earnings results from existing and poterftitlire contracts secured by Davis Bay for
the Company and executed within 18 months of tlygiaition date. Earn-out payments, were paid qugrterer the life of the eligible
contracts, in stock. These payments were capp®2i0ad million. As of December 31, 2000, the Compeeoorded $9.5 million in additional
goodwill as a result of the earn-out provision dstisg of approximately 0.2 million shares of therfipany's common stock. The majority of
these shares were issuable in the first quart2001 and were recorded as a liability as of DecerBbhe2000. The excess purchase price paid
over the fair value of the tangible and identifebitangible assets acquired was recorded as gho@eodwill of $11.6 million was

recognized as of December 31, 2000 related taémsaction, and was being amortized over ten years.

During the six months ended June 30, 2001, $10l®min additional goodwill was recorded under #srn-out provision, bringing the total
earn-out up to the $20.0 million allowed under¢batract. During the second quarter of fiscal 200@Tonnection with the impairment
analysis performed, the lives of the remainingrigibles were evaluated, which resulted in a reduabf the useful life for goodwill from 10
to 5 years, pursuant to guidelines of SFAS 12lediife September 27, 2001, Davis Bay and the Coynpaeacuted a second amendment to
the original asset purchase agreement that reptaee@maining, unpaid earn-out with a final eam-equal to 1,638,838 shares of the
Company's common stock issued at the then currarkanvalue. Accordingly, the estimated liabilifyammmon stock to be issued related to
the earneut agreement decreased from $10.5 million asé B0, 2001 to $7.3 million as of September 30,1208sulting in a correspondi
reduction in goodwill of $3.2 million. On October,12001, 1,638,838 shares of the Company's comiock were issued to Davis Bay.
Acquired identifiable intangible assets of $1.0limil consisted of an assembled workforce and pwethéechnology and were being
amortized over three to five years. As of Decen#ier2001, the net book value of goodwill and aceglidentifiable assets related to
assembled workforce were approximately $15.6 nmilaad $0.4 million, respectively, which will be et to the transition guidelines of
SFAS 142 effective January 1, 2002.

(j) CommVerge Solutions, Inc.

On July 21, 2000, the Company acquired converpibdderred stock of CommVerge Solutions, Inc., &gtely-held wireless network
planning and deployment company. The investmeatadt$5.0 million in cash and is accounted for gsire cost method of accounting.
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(k) Questus, Ltd.

On August 29, 2000, the Company acquired all ofothitstanding capital stock of Questus, Ltd., agiaMimited company incorporated in the
United Kingdom. Consideration consisted of $10.8iom in cash, approximately 0.2 million shareshé Company's common stock value
$10.3 million, and promissory notes to one selBhgreholder totaling $1.5 million. Included in fhérchase were Questus' wholly owned
subsidiaries, Questus Scandinavia, A.B., incorparat Stockholm Sweden, and Questus GmbH, incotpdia Vienna, Austria. The
acquisition was accounted for as a purchase. Thesgsults of operations from the acquired assetincluded in the Company's
consolidated financial statements from the acdaisilate. The excess purchase price paid ovemihgdlue of tangible and identifiable
intangible assets acquired was recorded as good®athdwill of $14.0 million was recognized in thrarisaction and was being amortized «
ten years. As of December 31, 2001, the net boblevat goodwill was approximately $12.7 million awill be subject to the transition
guidelines of SFAS 142 effective January 1, 200&yred identifiable intangible assets of $6.8 imiillconsisted primarily of customer
relationships, purchased technology, and trade s@me are being amortized over two to five years.

Under the agreement for the sale and purchaseeadrtire issued share capital of Questus Limiteel Gompany agreed to issue additional
stock to the former Questus shareholders if theevaf our common stock decreased to less tharmther Icollar amount, which is equivalent
to 50% of the price at which the shares were oaiirissued pursuant to the agreement. As of Aug@s2001, the last day of the escrow
period, based on the calculation set forth in gpre@ement, the Company's stock price was less twalotver collar amount, which triggered
the payment of additional shares of our commonkstmeier the agreement. Pursuant to the agreerhenGdmpany issued an aggregate of
146,806 shares of its common stock based on thisrloollar adjustment in December 2001.

() Telia Contracting AB

On October 12, 2000, the Company acquired all ®ftitstanding capital stock of Telia Contractin®, & Gothenburg, Sweden, a subsidiary
of Telia AB in Sweden. Consideration consisted B$nillion in cash. The acquisition was accourftedas a purchase. Thus, the results of
operations from the acquired assets are includétkiCompany's consolidated financial statements the acquisition date. The excess
purchase price paid over the fair value of tangé#nld identifiable intangible assets acquired waended as goodwill. Goodwill of $1.8

million was recognized in the transaction and weisidp amortized over ten years. Acquired identifaibkangible assets of $5.5 million
consisted primarily of customer relationships, asemnbled workforce and purchased technology ankeaing amortized over two to five
years. As of December 31, 2001, the remaining aeklvalue for goodwill and assembled workforce ®a$ million and $0.5 million
respectively, which will be subject to the trarmitiguidelines of SFAS 142 effective January 1, 2002

(m) Telia Academy AB

On December 4, 2000, the Company acquired thesask&elia Academy AB, a limited liability compawyganized under the laws of
Sweden. Consideration consisted of $2.2 millionash. The acquisition was accounted for as a psecfdus, the results of operations from
the acquired assets are included in the Compaagsotidated financial statements from the acquisitlate. The excess purchase price paid
over the fair value of tangible and identifiabléaimgible assets acquired was recorded as goo@atidwill of $1.2 million was recognized in
the transaction and was being amortized over sgears. Acquired identifiable intangible assets @f7$million consisted primarily of
customer relationships and an assembled workfordengre being amortized over one to ten years.riguhie second quarter of fiscal 2001,
an impairment analysis was performed which resutftate write-off of the remaining net book valuegoodwill and acquired identifiable
intangible assets of $1.1 million and $0.6 millioespectively, in accordance with SFAS 121.
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The following summary presents pro forma consoéidaesults of operations for the years ended Deee3ih 1999 and 2000 as if the
acquisitions described above had occurred at thimbieg of the year ended December 31, 1999, arlddes adjustments that are directly
attributable to the transaction or are expectduhtee a continuing impact on the Company. Adjustsiemtevenues and cost of revenues are
derived from the available financial information éstimating the monthly operating revenue or expeamsl pro-rating for the period of time
such operations were excluded from the Compamyasial results for the periods presented.

The pro forma results are for illustrative purposely, and do not purport to be indicative of tleéual results which would have occurred had
the transactions been completed as of the beginfitige periods, nor are they indicative of resafteperations which may occur in the
future (all amounts except per share amounts améliions).

1 999 2000
Pro forma revenue $1 26.1 $268.9
Pro forma operating income $ 16.4 $48.2
Pro forma net income $ 8.7 $28.7
Pro forma net income per common share:
Basic $ 0.29 $0.68
Diluted $ 0.24 $0.57

F-18



WIRELESS FACILITIES, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Years ended December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001

(4) Balance Sheet Detalils

The consolidated balance sheets consist of thewfsl at December 31, 2000 and 2001 (in millions):

2000 2001
Accounts receivable, net:
Billed $ 751 $ 584
Unbilled 44.9 46.1
120.0 104.5
Allowance for doubtful accounts (0.9) (16.0)
Total accounts receivable, net $ 1191 $ 885
Contract management receivables, net:
Billed $ 60 $ 58
Unbilled 14.8 2.4
20.8 8.2
Allowance for doubtful accounts -- (2.3)
Total contract management receivables, net $ 208 $ 59
Property and equipment, net:
Computer equipment $ 242 $ 297
Furniture and office equipment 1.4 3.1
25.6 32.8
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (5.6) (13.8)
Total property and equipment, net $ 200 $ 19.0
Goodwill, net:
Goodwill $ 711 $ 69.0
Accumulated amortization (6.4) (14.6)
Total goodwill, net $ 647 $ 544
Other intangibles, net:
Customer relationships $ 102 $ 84
Assembled workforce 3.9 3.4
Purchased technology 3.6 3.6
Trade names 1.1 0.5
Noncompete covenants 0.5 0.5
Other 0.8 0.3
20.1 16.7
Accumulated amortization (3.0) (8.1)
Total other intangibles, net $ 171 $ 86
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(5) Notes payable and other financing arrangements
(a) Credit Agreement

As of December 31, 2001, $33.0 million was outstagdinder the Company's line of credit with a weédghaverage interest rate of 6.40%.
The line of credit expires in February 2004. Loander this line of credit bear interest, at the @any's discretion, at either

(i) the greater of the bank prime rate and the F@dainds Rate plus 0.5%, plus a margin rangingf6o75% to 2.50%, the ("base rate
margin"), or (ii) at the London Interbank OfferilRate ("LIBOR") plus a margin ranging from 1.75%3t60%, the ("LIBOR rate margin").
The line of credit is secured by substantiallyofithe Company's assets. The line of credit agreeoentains restrictive covenants, which,
among other things, require maintenance of cefiiaémcial ratios. On July 19, 2001, the Companyceted an amendment to its line of cre
agreement, which among other items, changed themain EBITDA covenant to exclude unusual chargesougp specified amount with
respect to the first and second quarters of figéall. On December 31, 2001, the Company execwsedand amendment to our line of credit
agreement, which amended certain financial coverfan2002, reduced the aggregate commitment frb@® $nillion to $80 million and
waived the requirement for compliance for two ficiahcovenants as of December 31, 2001. As suehCtimpany was in compliance with
all required covenants as of December 31, 2001.

(b) Note Payable to Financial Institutions

In December 1999, the financial institutions whaevparties to the line of credit agreement enterexrlan intercreditor agreement with the
Company, which provided for the issuance of notasaple not to exceed $1.0 million, secured by sutiitlly all of the Company's assets.
On February 24, 2000, the Company executed a $illibmmote payable under this agreement, payadtialy through February 2005 at a
9% interest rate. At December 31, 2000 and 20@LCimpany had outstanding borrowings of $0.8 nmiland $0.6 million, respectively,
under this note payable.

(c) BCI Notes Payable

In January 1999, the Company issued notes payaloignisideration for the BCI acquisition (see NogteT®iese notes had a carrying value of
$0.9 million at December 31, 1999. The notes weeid January 2001 and bore interest at 9.62%.eThetes were repaid in full during
2000.

(d) Questus Notes Payable

In consideration for the acquisition of Questug(Sete 3), the Company issued promissory notestlliag shareholder totaling $1.5
million, secured by a standing letter of credite$a notes bore interest at LIBOR plus 1% and weaesoth April 30, 2002. The notes were
repaid in full in 2001.

Maturities of notes payable at December 31, 20@1aarfollows (in millions):

2002 $0.2
2003 0.2
2004 0.2

Total $0.6
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(6) Lease Commitments

The Company leases certain equipment under cadgéses with interest rates ranging from 2.5% t@%3that expire at various dates through
2005. The Company also leases certain facilitiesemjuipment under operating leases having termisieg@t various dates through 2010.
Future minimum lease payments under capital ancatipg leases as of December 31, 2001 are as ®l{owmillions):

Ca pital Operating
| eases leases

Year ending December 31,

2002 $ 51 $4.9
2003 3.5 4.3
2004 0.5 3.7
2005 0.2 35
2006 - 2.4
Thereafter -- 8.2
Total minimum lease payments 9.3  $27.0
Less amount representing interest (0.8)
Present value of capital lease obligations 8.5
Less current portion (4.5)
Long-term capital lease obligations $ 4.0

Equipment recorded under capital leases approxdrité.8 million and $13.9 million, with accumulatachortization of $1.4 and $5.7
million as of December 31, 2000 and 2001, respelgtiv

There were no sublease agreements as of Decemhi2d(@®lLto offset future minimum lease payments.tRgpense under operating leases
for the years ended December 31, 1999, 2000, ad#l ®@s $0.9 million, $3.8 million and $6.4 milliorgspectively.

The lease on certain office facilities includesestiied base rent increases over the term of tise |§de total amount of the base rent
payments is being charged to expense on the stighmethod over the term of the lease. In addito the base rent payment, the Company
pays a monthly allocation of the building's opemgtexpenses. The Company has recorded deferredrmelotled in accrued expenses, of $0.3
million and $0.5 million at December 31, 2000 af@?2, respectively, to reflect the excess of repease over cash payments since inception
of the lease. During 2001, the Company recordeacarual for $1.4 million related to an estimatesslon unused office space which is
included in rent expense. The Company periodi@lBluates the adequacy of this accrual and theedelariables and assumptions used to
calculate the estimated loss on unused office space

F-21



WIRELESS FACILITIES, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001

(7) Income Taxes

Income (loss) before provision (benefit) for incotares for the years ended December 31, 1999, 20@02001 is comprised of the
following (in millions):

1999 2000 20 01
Domestic $10.5 $30.7 $(5 7.3)
Foreign 6.3 214 1 7.8)

$16.8 $52.1 $(7 5.1)

The provision (benefit) for income taxes for thageended December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001 is ggedpf the following (in millions):

1999 2000 2001
Current:
Federal $5.7 $1.7 $ 0.6
State 0.8 0.4 0.3
Foreign 2.4 4.1 0.4
$8.9 $6.2 $ 13
Deferred:
Federal $(1.6) $85 $(14.9)
State (0.3) 15 (1.8)
Foreign 0.2 4.1 0.4
2.7 14.1 (16.3)
$7.2 $20.3 $(15.0)

A reconciliation of total income tax provision (kefit) to the amount computed by applying the statufederal income tax rate of 35% to

income
(loss) before income tax provision (benefit) foe grears ended December 31, 1999, 2000 and 208Xdédaws (in millions):

1 999 2000 2001
Income taxes at federal statutory rate $ 5.9 $18.3 $(26.2)
State taxes, net of federal tax benefit 03 12 (1.0
Foreign taxes 07 05 70
Amortization of goodwill and other intangibles 03 07 1.0
Increase in federal valuation allowance - - 33
Other, net - (0.4) 0.9

$ 7.2 $20.3 $(15.0)
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The tax effects of temporary differences that gise to significant portions of the deferred tagsets and deferred tax liabilities as of
December 31, 2000 and 2001 are as follows (in oni):

2000 2001
Deferred tax assets:
Allowance for doubtful accounts $03 $69
Bonus accrual 0.1 -
Vacation accrual 0.8 0.9
Goodwill and other intangibles, principally du e to differences in amortization 1.2 6.6
Net operating loss carryforwards 44 10.0
Income tax credit carryforwards 4.6 4.6
Other 0.2 0.7
11.6 297
Valuation allowance 4.1) (12.2 )
Total deferred tax assets, net 75 175
Deferred tax liabilities:
Adjustment from cash to accrual method of acco unting for income taxes (0.8) -
Property and equipment, principally due to dif ferences in depreciation 2.1) (@.6 )
Unearned revenue 9.2) (6.1 )
Foreign deferred tax liability (4.2) (0.8 )
Total deferred tax liability (16.3) (7.5 )
Net deferred tax asset (liability) $(8.8) $10.0

At December 31, 2001, the Company had federaldss ¢arryforwards of $24.6 million and foreign tagdit carryforwards of $4.1 million,
which expire in 2020 and 2004, respectively. ThenBany has minimum tax credit carryforwards of $@iBion, which may be carried

forward indefinitely. In addition, the Company Haseign tax loss carryforwards of $6.4 million ad4l5 million in the United Kingdom and
Sweden, respectively.

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax ssspanagement considers whether it is more likedy not that some portion or all of the
deferred tax assets will not be realized. Basedhuipe level of historical taxable income and progts for future taxable income,
management believes it is more likely than notGoenpany will realize the deferred tax assets, h#tevaluation allowance, as of Decem
31, 2001. The Company has recorded a valuatiowaltioe of $12.2 million as of December 31, 200%eftect the estimated amount of
deferred tax assets that may not be realized. datiain allowance of $4.2 million was recorded dughe expiration of foreign tax credit
carryforwards after consideration of stock opti@ddctions available for tax return purposes. A atitun allowance of $4.2 million was
recorded for certain federal and state deferredssets related to intangibles and tax loss cawygials not expected to be realized, and a
valuation allowance of $3.8 million was recordedffireign tax loss carryforwards not expected todsized.

It is the Company's intention to reinvest undisttém earnings of its foreign subsidiaries and tineiadefinitely postpone their remittance.
Accordingly, no provision has been made for foreigthholding taxes or United States income taxeskwmay become payable if
undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries weai as dividends to the Company.
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(8) Stockholders' Equity
(a) Common Stock

In November 1999, the Company completed an intiddlic offering of 4.6 million shares of commonatoPrior to the initial public offerin
there was no public market for the Company's ComBtock. The net proceeds of the offering, afteudédg applicable underwriting
discounts and offering expenses, were approxim&&ly9 million.

(b) Preferred Stock

On August 8, 1998, the Company issued 1.7 milllwares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock pmieate placement for $21.0 million.
Upon closing of the Company's initial public offagi all outstanding shares of Series A PreferrediSivere converted into 5.1 million sha
of Common Stock.

In February 1999, the Board of Directors authoriteslissuance of up to 2.8 million shares of pduer$0.01 Series B Preferred Stock.
Shortly thereafter, the Company sold 2.7 milliomi& B Convertible Preferred Stock for $15.0 milli@r $5.50 per share. Upon closing of
the Company's initial public offering, all outstamgl shares of Series B Preferred Stock were coadeénto 2.7 million shares of Common
Stock.

On October 10, 2001, the Company executed an agrgemsell $35.0 million of its Series A ConvelgiPreferred Stock in a private
placement to investment funds managed by Oak Imezdt Partners. Pursuant to the agreement, on Qc8h2001, the investment funds
managed by Oak Investment Partners purchased aagadg of 63,637 shares of Series A ConvertibléeRerl Stock for a common stock
equivalent price of $5.50 per share. The shar&edes A Convertible Preferred Stock have a lictinelapreference and price anti-dilution
protection. Upon any Liquidation Event (such aala sf the Company), each outstanding share oéSériConvertible Preferred Stock is
entitled to receive $550.00 per share as a ligindaireference, ahead of any amounts paid to heldfe€ommon Stock. These shares are not
registered under the Securities Act of 1933 and nwyoe offered or sold in the United States absagistration or applicable exemption fr
registration requirements. Each share of Serie@AvErtible Preferred Stock is initially convertiblgo 100 shares of Common Stock at the
option of the holder at any time subject to certaiovisions in the agreement. After July 2004, $leeies A Convertible Preferred Stock will
automatically convert into shares of the Compa@gsimon Stock if and when the Company's Common Stades at or above $11.00 per
share for 30 consecutive days after that date.I@adstment Partners agreed to a lockup with redpebie shares of Series A Convertible
Preferred Stock (and the underlying shares of Com8tock). The lockup will expire in stages begimnir8 months from October 29, 2001.
On October 30, 2001, the Company received $35.lomjpursuant to this agreement, and the net pascaéier the deduction of related
issuance costs was $34.9 million.

(c) Treasury Stock

On August 5, 1998, the Company purchased 3.3 miilzares of Common Stock for $13.5 million. Durrg99, the Company purchased an
additional approximate 21,000 shares of CommonkStwc$0.2 million. The treasury stock was retidading 1999.

(d) Common Stock Warrants

In February 1997, the Company issued warrants tchase 0.3 million shares of Common Stock at amceseprice of $0.93 per share to two
Company directors. One-third of these warrantsegeat the date of issuance and then annually éfalfowing two years. In February 1998,
the Company issued warrants to purchase 1.2 milimmes of Common Stock at an exercise price &¥Hier share to two Company
directors. One-third of these warrants vestedettte of issuance, and then annually for theviatig two years. At December 31, 2000, a
total of 0.9 million warrants were outstanding .[Bécember 31, 2001, no warrants remained outstgradirall 0.9 million warrants were
exercised during 2001.
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In connection with the acquisition of BCI in Janpa®99, the Company issued 0.2 million common steakrants exercisable at $4.16 per
share. These warrants vested 25% on June 1, 1@@@eniber 1, 1999, June 1, 2000, and December 1,&@D6xpire one year after their
respective vesting date. In June 2000, these warveere exchanged for new warrants with the saraeanic terms other than the additior
a net exercise provision. During 2000, the outstapdiarrants related to the BCI acquisition wergiply exercised using the net exercise
provision contained in the warrants, and the reingif.1 million warrants were exercised by redudimg outstanding balance of the note
payable related to the acquisition. No warrantsevaeitstanding as of December 31, 2001.

(e) Stock Option Plans and Employee Stock Purchése
Stock Option Plans

During the years ended 1997, 1999 and 2000, thedBufeDirectors approved the 1997 Stock Option Rtha "1997 Plan™), the 1999 Equity
Incentive Plan (the "1999 Plan") and the 2000 Ntatutory Stock Option Plan (the "2000 Plan"), ezsjwely. Stock options granted under
1997 Plan and 1999 Plan may be incentive stocloogtdr non-statutory stock options and are exdstgdar up to ten years following the
date of grant. The Company ceased making grantsruhd 1997 Plan upon completion of its initial jiubffering. The 2000 Plan permits 1
grant of non-statutory stock options, which arereisable for a period following the date of grastdetermined by the Board of Directors,
generally ten years. Stock option exercise prioeshfe 1997 Plan, 1999 Plan and 2000 Plan mustjb&l ¢o or greater than the fair market
value of the common stock on the grant date. A @it®.5 million, 12.1 million, and 3.0 million shes of common stock have been author
for issuance under the 1997 Plan, 1999 Plan an@ PG, respectively.

In accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 128 counting for Stock-Based Compensation," the Canypapplies APB Opinion No. 25,
"Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees," andted interpretations in accounting for its 199hMPEB99 Plan and 2000 Plan.
Accordingly, the Company recorded compensation es@éotaling $0.1 million, for the year ended Deben81, 1999, reflecting the intrin:
value of options granted in 1999. All options geghin 2000 and 2001 were at or above fair markieieven the date of grant.

During 2001, the Company's Board of Directors apedoa voluntary stock option cancel and regrangmm for employees. The program
provided employees with the opportunity to candlebfatheir existing and outstanding stock optigranted to them on or after September 30,
2000 and before March 30, 2001, and some or @liaf existing and outstanding stock options grandethem prior to September 30, 2000,
in exchange for a new option grant for an equal lmemof shares to be granted at a future date. €heaptions were to be issued no earlier
than six months and one day after the cancellatada of March 30, 2001, and the exercise pric@fiew options was to be based on the
trading price of the Company's Common Stock ordtite of the new option grants. Under the prograartjgipating employees could select
their regrant date to be October 1, 2001, OctoBePQ01 or November 12, 2001. A total of 5,221 ,514¥,852 and 16,415, options were
regranted with exercise prices of $4.47, $6.12%m85 on October 1, 2001, October 22, 2001 and Mbee 12, 2001, respectively. The
exchange program was designed to comply with FA8&rpretation No. 44, "Accounting for Certain Tractons Involving Stock
Compensation.”
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Stock option transactions are summarized below:

Weighted

average

exercise
1997 Plan price

Outstanding at December

31, 1998 3,573,648 $ 2.26
Granted 4,288,890 9.74
Exercised (305,312) 1.88
Cancelled (781,879) 5.03

Outstanding at December

31, 1999 6,775,347 6.74
Granted - -
Exercised (2,357,930) 4.03
Cancelled (663,765) 11.51

Outstanding at December

31, 2000 3,753,652 7.64
Granted - -
Exercised (567,309) 3.91
Canceled (632,474) 11.37

Outstanding at
December 31, 2001 2,553,869 $ 7.55

Balance exercisable at
December 31, 2001 1,579,094 $ 6.76

Weighted Weighte
average averag
exercise exercis
1999 Plan price 2000 Plan price
192,487 $ 47.44 - % -
192,487 47.44 - -
5,977,752 52.81 1,725,419  45.00
(274) 32.75 - -
(551,954) 54.70 (21,589) 48.90
5,618,011 52.44 1,703,830 44.95
6,668,374 466 2,117,353 8.00
(103,337) 4.66 (28,328) 4.40
(5,312,862) 4575 (1,985,459) 38.91
6,870,186 $ 11.90 1,807,396 $10.49
2,094,513 $ 13.13 431,112 $12.11

0]



WIRELESS FACILITIES, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended December 31, 1999, 2000, and 2001

The following table summarizes information as otBmber 31, 2001 concerning options outstandingeapdcisable:

Options outst anding Options exercisable
Weighted Weighted Weighted Weighted
Range of Number average average number average
exercise prices outstanding  remaining | ife exercise price exercisable exercise pr ice
$ 1.33-3.69 1,885,227 8.34 $ 324 729,477 $ 252
4.00-4.16 652,038 7.22 4.14 268,830 4.16
4.29-4.47 4,818,166 9.60 4.47 1,641,738 4.47
5.06 - 8.50 1,709,448 8.53 6.80 626,124 7.63
10.00 - 56.25 1,610,618 8.15 27.11 656,093 25.50
57.00 - 109.38 540,950 8.69 59.99 175,165 60.66
132.06 - 132.06 15,004 8.21 132.06 7,292 132.06
11,231,451 8.83 $ 10.69 4,104,719 $ 10.57

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In August 1999, the Board of Directors approvedfi89 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "Purchasé)PA total of 1.5 million shares
of common stock have been authorized for issuanderuthe Purchase Plan. The Purchase Plan is eddndjualify as an employee stock
purchase plan within the meaning of

Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Service Colie.Aurchase Plan commenced in November 1999 upopletion of the Company's
initial public offering.

Unless otherwise determined by the board, all eygae are eligible to participate in the Purchas@ Bb long as they are employed by the
Company (or a subsidiary designated by the boardjtfleast 20 hours per week and are customarifji@/ed by the Company (or a
subsidiary designated by the board) for at leasbths per calendar year.

Employees who participate in an offering may hapeai15% of their earnings for the period of thiesng withheld pursuant to the
Purchase Plan. The amount withheld is used atwsparchase dates within the offering period tehase shares of Common Stock. The
price paid for Common Stock at each such purchasewlill equal the lower of 85% of the fair markatue of the Common Stock at the
commencement date of that offering period or 85%heffair market value of the Common Stock on #lewant purchase date. Employees
may end their participation in the offering at dimge during the offering period, and participatemds automatically on termination of
employment. From the Purchase Plan's inceptionutir®ecember 31, 2001, the cumulative number aleshaf Common Stock that have
been issued under the Purchase Plan is 0.5 million.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

Under SFAS No. 123, the weighted average fair vafustock options granted during 1999, 2000, an@l20as $7.83, $42.21, and $4.59
respectively, on the date of grant. The weightestage estimated fair values of shares granted uhdd?urchase Plan during 2000 and 2001
was $10.80 and $5.91, respectively. There wererawatg under the Purchase Plan in fiscal 1999.\@dire under SFAS No. 123 is determil
using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model whik following assumptions:

1999 2000 2001
Expected term:
Stock options 5 years 5 years 3 years
Purchase plan - 1 1 months 6 months
Interest rate 5.75% 6.16% 4.55%

Volatility 81% 123% 150%
Dividends -- --
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Had compensation expense been recognized for stsid compensation plans in accordance with SFAS2R) the Company would have
recorded the following net income (loss) and nebme (loss) per share amounts (in millions, expeptshare amounts):

19 99 2000 2001

Net income (loss) $9 .6 $31.8 $(60.1)
SFAS No. 123 stock-based compensation expense 4 6 292 149

Pro forma net income (loss) $5 .0 $26 $(75.0)

Pro forma income (loss) per common share:
Basic $0 .17 $0.06 $(1.63)
Diluted $0 .14 $0.05 $(1.63)

(9) Employee Benefit Plan

In 1996, the Company implemented a savings plasyaunt to Section 401(k) of the Internal RevenueeQtitk "Code"), covering
substantially all employees. Participants in trenghay contribute a percentage of compensatiomdiuh excess of the maximum allowed
under the Code. The Company may make contribuibtise discretion of its Board of Directors. Then@any made no contributions in
1999, 2000 or 2001.

(10) Significant Customers

The Company had sales to three separate custorh@is eomprised 14%, 11% and 10% of the Compantes tevenues for the year ended
December 31, 1999. At December 31, 1999, accoentivable from these customers totaled $1.6 mijl#3 million, and $2.8 million,
respectively.

The Company had sales to one customer who com®R&¥dof the Company's total revenues for the yaded December 31, 2000. At
December 31, 2000, accounts receivable from thstoover totaled $8.9 million.

The Company had sales to three separate custorhaéis omprised 11%, 11% and 10% of the Companies tevenues for the year ended
December 31, 2001. At December 31, 2001, accoentsvable from these customers totaled $3.1 mijliioh3 million and $26.9 million,
respectively.

(11) Segment Information

SFAS No. 131, "Disclosures about Segments of aarfrise and Related Information," establishes aneminterim reporting standards for
an enterprise's operating segments and relatelbslises about its products, services, geograpk@sasind major customers. An operating
segment is defined as a component of an entefidg@ngages in business activities from whichaymarn revenues and incur expenses
about which separate financial information is regiyl evaluated by the chief operating decision makeleciding how to allocate resources.

Prior to the year ended 1999, the Company provideyl design and deployment service. In 1999, then@any added network maintenance
and business consulting services. Due to the nafutese services, the amount of capital assets
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used in providing services to customers is min@vdtue and operating income (loss) provided byCimpany's segments for the years
ended December 31, 1999, 2000, and 2001 are as/&(in millions):

1999 2000 2001

Revenues:

Design and deployment $ 8.9 $ 205.6 $ 159.5

Network management 4.5 42.7 40.4

Business consulting 1.3 7.6 7.3

Total revenues $ 927 3 2559 $ 207.2
Operating income (loss):

Design and deployment $ 162 $ 389 $ (59.1)

Network management 1.1 10.7 (11.2)

Business consulting 0.3 2.4 (1.2)

Total operating income (loss) $ 17.6 $ 52.0 $ (71.5)

1999 20 00 2001
United States $611 $1 83.7 $ 1416
EMEA - 18.0 22.5
Latin America 31.6 54.2 43.1
Total revenues $927 $2 55.9 $ 207.2

Long-lived assets by geographic region for the yeamded December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001, whidid@@roperty and equipment,
goodwill, and other intangibles, are as followsriitlions):

1999 2000 2001

United States $ 123 $ 715 $ 582
EMEA -- 29.2 21.9
Latin America 0.3 1.1 1.9

Total long-lived assets $ 12.6 $ 1018 $ 82.0

(12) Related Party Transactions

In August 1998, the Company paid a dividend tattekholders. In connection with the dividend pagiméhe Company issued promissory
notes for a total of $5.5 million to two executiveasd one related stockholder. The notes carriedgst at 5% per annum and were repaid in
November 199¢

In August 1998, the Company sold 1.7 million shareSeries A convertible preferred stock to variougestors at a purchase price of $12.48
per share, of which 1.4 million were sold to esstaffiliated with a director of the Company. Thebares were converted into common stock
upon closing of the Company's initial public offegi

In February 1999, the Company sold 2.7 million seaf Series B convertible preferred stock to wegimvestors at a purchase price of $5.50
per share, of which 2.3 million were sold to esstaffiliated with a director of the Company. Irdaidn, 0.4 million shares were sold to
entities which combined, held greater than 5% ef@ompany's capital stock. These shares were deavieto common stock upon closing
the Company's initial public offering.

In June 1999, the Company sold its 25% ownershgreést in Sierra Towers Investment Group, LLC (&8 and a note receivable from
Sierra to two officers of the Company in exchangreciish and a note payable to the Company. Thewadeaid in full in September 2000.
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During 1999, the Company advanced $0.5 milliorhe&eneral Manager of WFI de Mexico. The generalager is the brother of both the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the @amy. The advance was repaid in March 2002.

In January 2000, the Company acquired a portidgh@fninority ownership interest in WFI de Mexicorir the General Manager of WFI de
Mexico. The acquisition was made under the ternes Réstricted Stock Agreement, pursuant to whienGbmpany issued shares of common
stock valued at $18.2 million in exchange for thares held by the General Manager.

In October 2001, the Company issued an aggreg#®,687 shares of Series A Convertible PreferrediStvalued at $35.0 million, in a
private placement to entities affiliated with aetitor of the Company. Each share of Series A CoimeiPreferred Stock is initially
convertible into 100 shares of Common Stock abitigon of the holder at any time subject to cerf@ovisions in the agreement. After July
2004, the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock awiiomatically convert into shares of the Compa@gsmon Stock if and when the
Company's Common Stock trades at or above $11.106hpee for 30 consecutive days after that datenldmy Liquidation Event (such as a
sale of the Company), each outstanding share a¢sSArConvertible Preferred Stock is entitled toaige $550.00 per share as a liquidation
preference, ahead of any amounts paid to holde€oofmon Stock.

During 2000 and 2001, two subsidiaries of the Camp®/FI de Mexico and Wireless Facilities Latin Atiea Ltda., entered into certain
transactions with JFR Business Corporation Intésnat S. de R.L. de C.V. and JFR de Brasil Ltdalléctively, JFR). The General Manager
of WFI de Mexico and Wireless Facilities Latin Ariwer Ltda. is the brother of both the Chairman drelGhief Executive Officer of the
Company and holds a majority ownership interesHR. The primary business purpose for WFI de Meaiw Wireless Facilities Latin
America Ltda. transacting business with JFR relaiexbtaining superior service and response condpgarsndependent businesses providing
such services, at market or less than market r@@smencing in March 2002, all transactions betw#eR and WFI de Mexico and JFR and
Wireless Facilities Latin America Ltda. must be aped by the Company's Chief Financial Officer @®wheral Counsel, after a competitive
bidding process.

During 2000 and 2001, WFI de Mexico contracted Wit for automobile leasing, computer leasing, ad sub-contractor for certain of its
customer contracts. During the years ended Dece81her000 and 2001, WFI de Mexico paid JFR appraséty $3.6 million and $2.7
million, respectively, for all services renderedlanthese contracts. As of December 31, 2000 a@dl,20F| de Mexico owed JFR $0 and
approximately $2.2 million, respectively. Also cagi2001, JFR contracted with WFI de Mexico for suticactor services for certain of its
customer contracts. The Company believes thatrtitmuats paid or payable under these contracts anpa@ble to amounts that the
Company could have negotiated under contracts umitffiliated third parties for such services.

During 2001, Wireless Facilities Latin America Lidieas transacted business with JFR as a subcamtpoviding services in connection w
certain customer contracts. During the year endeceBiber 31, 2001, Wireless Facilities Latin Ametitda. paid JFR approximately $0.1
million for all services rendered under these ats. Also during 2001, JFR contracted with WirglEacilities Latin America Ltda. for
subcontractor engineering services for certainsofiustomer contracts. As of December 31, 2001eMAs Facilities Latin America Ltda. has
a trade receivable balance from JFR for approxim&@.3 million related to such services. The Comphelieves that the amounts payable
and receivable under these contracts are compammhfaounts that the Company could have negotiatelér contracts with unaffiliated third
parties for such services.

At December 31, 2001, except as noted above, Hrerao other commitments or guarantees betweerad&fhe Company.
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(13) Legal Matters

In June and July 2001, the Company and certaits afiiectors and officers were named as defendafitge purported class action
complaints filed in the United States District Ciofiar the Southern District of New York on behalfpersons and entities who acquired the
Company's common stock at various times on or &ftetrember 4, 1999. The complaints allege that élggstration statement and prospectus
dated November 4, 1999, issued by the Companyrineaxtion with the public offering of the Compangtsnmon stock contained untrue
statements of material fact or omissions of maltéaizt in violation of securities laws because thgistration statement and prospectus
allegedly failed to disclose that the offering'slerwriters had (a) solicited and received additi@ama excessive compensation and benefits
from their customers beyond what was listed inrdggstration statement and prospectus and (b)eshiato tie-in or other arrangements with
certain of their customers which were allegedlyiglesd to maintain, distort and/or inflate the maniece of the Company's common stocl
the aftermarket. The actions seek unspecified naopefamages and other relief. On August 8, 20@ atiove-referenced lawsuits were
consolidated for pretrial purposes with similar $aits filed against hundreds of other initial patdffering issuers and their underwriters in
the Southern District Court of New York. An initighse management conference was held on Septen®@17for all the lawsuits, at which
time the court ordered that the time for all defamtd to respond to any complaint be postponed fumtiier notice of the Court. The Company
believes these lawsuits are without merit and igetio vigorously defend against them.

In October 2000, the Company was notified that N&aney, a former employee who was terminated, ésde¢hat he is owed certain
commissions and stock options and severance paytire Company. The Company was served with a foanmdration demand relating to
the matter in January 2001. In August 2001, thératton concluded with an award of $316,700 indiagf Norm Korey, representing
severance pay, commissions and expense reimbursemenoutcome of this proceeding did not have tenally adverse effect on the
Company.

On July 25, 2000, the Company filed a complaintDeclaratory Relief in the Superior Court of that8tof California for the County of San
Diego, against Dr. Rahim Tafazolli, a former em@eiconsultant who received an unregistered cextdipurportedly representing 45,000
shares of the Company's common stock. The comairght a declaration that the subject certifieatavalid due to the forfeiture

provisions of the employee benefit plan and duBrtorafazolli's failure to perform the agreed seed. On November 21, 2000, Dr. Tafazolli
filed a cross-complaint seeking money damages atetkaration that he is entitled to receive an sinieed WFI stock certificate for 45,000
shares. On July 2001, the Company entered intttlarsent agreement with Dr. Tafazolli agreeingssuie Dr. Tafazolli 15,000 unrestricted
shares. Massih Tayebi, the Company's ChairmanMashod K. Tayebi, the Company's Chief Executivadeff each agreed to transfer to us
one-half of the shares due to Dr. Tafazolli untiergettlement agreement. As a result, the Compasiyad no net increase in the number of
outstanding shares of its common stock and no itmpads financial statements for the year endedeer 31, 2001.

Advanced Radio Telecom Corp. ("ART"), which inigdtChapter 11 bankruptcy proceedings in 2001, itebdn action with the bankruptcy
court against the Company to recover alleged peafar payments in the amount of $737,529. The Coynfilad an answer contesting the
allegations in this matter and intends to vigorpwidfend against this matter. In a related ma&BT has filed a partial objection to the
Company's proof of claim. The Company has retagmahsel and is currently prosecuting the full vadfigs claim.

Metricom, Inc., which initiated Chapter 11 bankmypproceedings in 2001, has filed an action withliankruptcy court against the Company
to recover alleged preference payments in the atrafui,416,240. The Company intends to vigoroagfend against this matter.

In addition to the foregoing matters, from timeitoe, the Company may become involved in varioussldts and legal proceedings which
arise in the ordinary course of business. Howditgyation is subject to inherent uncertaintiesd am adverse result in these or other matters
may arise from time to time that may harm the Camyfsabusiness.
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WIRELESS FACILITIES, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001
(14) Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The following financial information reflects all moal and recurring adjustments that are, in tha@iopiof management, necessary for a fair
statement of the results of the interim periodsn®arized quarterly data for the years ended DeceBthel 999, 2000 and 2001, is as follc
(in millions, except per share data):

First Second Third Fourth

Q uarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

Fiscal year 1999:
Revenues $ 150 $ 181 $238 $ 358
Gross profit 5.8 6.3 10.7 15.6
Operating income 2.6 28 $ 56 $ 6.6
Net income $ 16 $ 1.0 $ 28 $ 4.2
Net income per common share:

Basic $ 0.06 $ 0.04 $ 0.10 $ 0.12

Diluted $ 0.05 $ 0.03 $ 0.08 $ 0.10
Fiscal year 2000:
Revenues $ 433 $ 594 $ 73.1 $ 80.1
Gross profit 180 264 323 391
Operating income 9.3 128 140 15.9
Net income $ 58 $ 79 $ 90 $ 9.1

Net income per common share:
Basic $ 014 $ 019 $ 021 $0.21
$

Diluted 0.12 $ 0.16 $ 0.17 $ 0.18
Fiscal year 2001:
Revenues $ 527 $ 547 $ 548 $ 45.0
Gross profit 13.6 22.2 17.8 12.6
Operating loss (22.1) (36.5) (3.7) (9.2
Net loss $ (8.5) $(38.3) $ (2.9) $(10.4)
Net loss per common share - basic and diluted $ (0.19) $(0.83) $(0.06) $(0.22)
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WIRELESS FACILITIES, INC.

Schedule II: Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts B

Year ended December 31, 1999

Year ended December 31, 2000

Year ended December 31, 2001

(in millions)

Years Ended December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001

Balance at
eginning of Year  Provisions  Write-offs

$0.6 $04 $0.1
$0.9 $0.1 $0.1
$0.9 $21.3 $3.9

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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Exhibit 10.39

SECOND AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND
RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT AND LIMITED WAIVER

This Second Amendment to Amended and Restatedt@xgtiement and Limited Waiver (the "Amendment"gigered into as of December
31, 2001.

RECITALS
This Amendment is entered into in reference tofdfiewing facts:

(a) WHEREAS, the Amended and Restated Credit Agesenis dated as of February 9, 2001 and made betWéless Facilities, Inc., as
Borrower, the financial institutions from time ime party thereto as Banks, Credit Suisse Firstddoas Sole Lead Arranger, Administrative
Agent and Collateral Agent, Bank One Arizona, NeA.Syndication Agent, and Bank of America N.A.Dasumentation Agent as amended
by the First Amendment to Amended and RestateditChgdeement dated as of July 19, 2001 (as the samebe amended, restated,
supplemented and otherwise modified, the "CredieAment"). Capitalized terms used herein, withadihiion shall have the meaning
assigned thereto in the Credit Agreement.

(b) WHEREAS, the Borrower, the Agents and the Bamtexcuting this Amendment desire to amend the CAglieement in certain respects,
subject to the terms hereof.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual cams contained herein, the parties hereto heretgeass follows

ARTICLE | - AMENDMENTS

1.1 Amendment of Section 1.1
Section 1.1 of the Credit Agreement shall be aménde

(a) by deleting the definition of "Applicable BaRate Margin" and "Applicable LIBOR Margin" set fbrtherein in their entirety and
substituting the following therefor (both in subses 1.1 and as used in the other provisions ofdtedit Agreement and the other Credit
Documents):

"Applicable Base Rate Margin" a percentage per andatermined by reference to the Senior Leveragm® Ra set forth below



*1.25:1.00 and ** 1.00%
1.50:1.00
**1.25:1.00 0.75%

* greater than ** less than/equal to

Senior Applicable
Leverage Ratio Base Rate
Margin

*3.00 : 100 2.50%
*2.50: 1.00 and ** 2.00%
3.00:1.00
*1.75:1.00 and ** 1.50%
2.50:1.00
*1.50 : 1.00 and ** 1.25%

1.75:1.00

The Applicable Base Rate Margin shall be determimedeference to the Senior Leverage Ratio aseétid of the most recently ended Fi
Quarter for which the financial statements requbbg&ection 6.1(a) have been delivered in accorlémerewith; provided, however, that (x)
no change in the Applicable Base Rate Margin dimkffective until the date on which the Adminisitra Agent and each Bank receives such
financial statements and a Compliance Certificateutating such Senior Leverage Ratio in reasondéiail, and (y) the Applicable Base
Rate Margin shall be 2.50% per annum for so long @nly for so long) as the Borrower has not sutedito the Administrative Agent and
each Bank the information described in clause {ithis proviso as and when required under Sectit(e$, provided further, that for the
purpose of calculating Applicable Base Rate MarBiBITDA shall be calculated in accordance with dedinition of such term as in effect

immediately prior to the Second Amendment Effecihae.

"Applicable LIBOR Margin" means a percentage pearan determined by reference to the Senior LeveRag® as set forth below:

* greater than ** less than/equal to

Senior

Leverage Ratio

Applicable
LIBOR
Margin

*3.00 : 100

3.50%

*2.50 : 1.00 and **
3.00:1.00

3.00%

*1.75:1.00 and **
2.50:1.00

2.50%



*1.50 : 1.00 and ** 2.25%
1.75:1.00

*1.25:1.00 and ** 2.00%
1.50:1.00

**1.25:1.00 1.75%

* greater than ** less than/equal to

The Applicable LIBOR Margin shall be determinedriference to the Senior Leverage Ratio as of tdeoéthe most recently ended Fiscal
Quarter for which the financial statements requlrgd&ection 6.1(a) have been delivered in accoml#imerewith; provided, however, that (x)
no change in the Applicable LIBOR Margin shall fizetive until the date on which the Administratixgent and each Bank receives such
financial statements and a Compliance Certificateutating such Senior Leverage Ratio in reasondélail, and (y) the Applicable LIBOR
Margin shall be 3.50% per annum for so long (buy dor so long) as the Borrower has not submittethe Administrative Agent and each
Bank the information described in clause (x) o$thioviso as and when required under Section 6.A(ayided further, that for the purpose
calculating Applicable LIBOR Margin, EBITDA shalklcalculated in accordance with the definitionwaftsterm as in effect immediately
prior to the Second Amendment Effective Date.

(b) by adding in alphabetical order the followingandefinitions as follows:

"Second Amendment" means the Second Amendment datef December 31, 2001 to the Credit Agreenignénd among Company, the
Banks party thereto, Administrative Agent, Managhgent, Documentation Agent and Syndication Agent.

"Second Amendment Effective Date" means the dadé wghich the conditions to effectiveness in Artitieof the Second Amendment are
satisfied or waived.

(c) by deleting paragraph (x) of the definition"Bermitted Investments" and substituting the follayvtherefor:

"(x) intercompany payables which: (a) are owed ty Subsidiary which is not a Guarantor to the Bawoor a Subsidiary which is a
Guarantor; (b) remain on intercompany account éiqals not in excess of 250 days from the dateioi payment by Borrower or a
Subsidiary which is a Guarantor, as applicablesk@ll not exceed an aggregate $50,000,000 outstpatlany time; provided, however, st
intercompany payables shall not exceed $15,000100@ aggregate in any individual country in whiBbrrower conducts business,
excluding Mexico for which such intercompany pagstghall not exceed $40,000,000 in the aggregatédrcomply with the requirements
of Section 7.4, including, without limitation, e subordination of such intercompany payablegimt of payment to the payment in full of
the Obligations pursuant to the terms of the applie promissory note or an intercompany subordnaagreement, that in any such case, is
reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agamd (ii) evidencing such intercompany payables pyomissory note which is subject to a
First Priority Lien in favor of the Collateral Agepursuant to a Collateral Document.”
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1.2 Limitation on Commitments. Schedule 1 of thedirAgreement shall be amended by deleting itsrentirety and replacing it with
Schedule 1 annexed hereto as Annex A.

1.3 Amendment of Section 2.1. Limitation of RevalyiCredit
Advances.

Subsection 2.1(b) shall be amended by adding tlerfimg proviso at the end thereof:

"Provided, however that notwithstanding anythinght® contrary set forth herein in no event shatii&make further revolving credit
advances to the Borrower in the aggregate in exafe$$0,000,000 in the first Fiscal Quarter of 2002

1.4 Amendment of Section 6.1: Information Covenants
Section 6.1(g) shall be amended by deleting itsrentirety and substituting the following therefor

"(g) Quarterly Intercompany Loan Balances. WiththBusiness days after the close of each quarteach Fiscal Year of the Borrower, the
balance of all intercompany loans permitted undsmatisn 7.4."

1.5 Amendment of Section 7.3: Dividends.
Section 7.3 shall be amended by adding the follgwiroviso at the end of the last sentence thereto:

"provided, however, such repurchase of Capital IiStamm directors and officers shall not exceed 88,000 in aggregate during the term of
this Agreement."

1.6 Amendment of Section 7.4: Indebtedness. Sectibshall be amended by deleting it in its enfigetd substituting the following therefor:

"7.4 Indebtedness. The Borrower will not, and shatlpermit any of its Subsidiaries to, directlyimdirectly contract, create, incur, guaran
assume or suffer to exist any Indebtedness, eXagjdebtedness of the Borrower or its Subsidsaneurred under the Transaction
Documents, (b) Schedule Indebtedness, (c) so lsmp default has occurred and is continuing atithe such Indebtedness is incurred or
would result from the making thereof, Purchase Mdmeebtedness, (d) accrued expenses and cureglet aiccounts payable incurred in the
ordinary course of business, and obligations utrdele letters of credit in the ordinary course adibess, which are to be repaid in full not
more than one year after the date on which suckbliediness is originally incurred to finance thechase of goods by the Borrower, (e)
obligations under letters of credit in the ordinaourse of business in support of obligations irediin connection with worker's
compensation, unemployment insurance and othealsseiurity legislation, (f) Indebtedness with msto Capital Leases to the extent
permitted by Section 7.7, (g) any other Indebtedmed exceeding $3,000,000 in aggregate principaluant at any one time outstanding, (h)
Indebtedness from Imperial Bank not to exceed $1L03D pursuant to that Note dated December 22, 8288uted by the Borrower in favor
of Comerica



Bank (formerly known as Imperial Bank), (i) Indethtess with respect to the Convertible Subordintetes, (j) Indebtedness which
constitutes a Permitted Investment pursuant to (tgii), (ix), or (x) of the definition of Permitt Investment; provided all such Indebtedness
referred to in this clause (j), (i) shall be suboaded in right of payment to the payment in filtlee Obligations pursuant to the terms of the
applicable promissory note or an intercompany stibation agreement, that in any such case, is nedbp satisfactory to the Administrative
Agent and (ii) shall be evidenced by a promissatemnwhich is subject to a First Priority Lien irvéa of the Collateral Agent pursuant to a
Collateral Document, (k) unsecured Indebtednesse(dhan by way of intercompany indebtedness) oiga Subsidiaries not to exceed
$15,000,000 in the aggregate and (I) extensiongwals, refundings, modifications, amendments asthtements of any of the items of
Indebtedness described in clauses (a), (b), (g)(ffe(q), (h), (i), (j) and (k) above, providéldat the principal amount thereof is not increased
and the terms thereof are not modified to imposeerbardensome terms upon the Borrower.

1.7 Amendment of Section 7.7: Capital Expenditures.
Section 7.7 shall be amended by deleting thed&stence thereto and replacing it with the follayvin

"The Borrower will not, and shall not permit anyitsf Subsidiaries to, directly or indirectly makeyaCapital Expenditure during any Fiscal
Year if, as a result thereof, the aggregate amolstich expenditures for such Fiscal Year wouldeexic$20,000,000 for each of the Fiscal
Years ending December 31, 2000 and December 32, &0 $35,000,000 for any other Fiscal Year (exoly€apital Expenditures
occurring as a result of a "Permitted Acquisitioh")

1.8 Amendment of Section 7.9: Maximum Senior DelEBITDA. Section 7.9 shall be amended by deleiinigs entirety and substituting t
following therefor:

"The Borrower will not permit the ratio (the "Seniceverage Ratio") of Senior Debt as of the lagt ofaany Fiscal Quarter to EBITDA for

the four Fiscal Quarter period ending on such tatxceed 2.00:1.00; provided that, with respeetrtp measurement of the Senior Leverage
Ratio as of the last day of any Fiscal Quarterigt& Year 2002, such ratio shall be required a@xceed the correlative ratio indicated as set
forth below":

Fiscal Quarter Senior Leverage

Ended Ratio
March 31, 2002 4.75:1.00
June 30, 2002 4.75:1.00

September 30, 2002 4.00:1.00

December 31, 2002 3.00:1.00




1.9 Amendment of Section 7.10: Minimum Fixed Chafgpeerage Ratio.
Section 7.10 shall be amended by deleting thegasagraph thereof in its entirety and substitutiregyfollowing therefor:

"The Borrower will not permit the ratio (the "Fixétharge Coverage Ratio"), determined as of thedagiof each fiscal quarter, of (a)
EBITDA, less any dividends or other distributioragto any shareholder or Affiliate of the Borrowksss any Capital Expenditures made
(other than Capital Expenditures funded with thecpeds of Loans), less cash taxes (net of anycaybdi tax refunds, rebates or credits), in
each case for the four complete Fiscal Quartereend such day, to (b) the sum of (i) the aggregateunt of scheduled principal payments
on Total Debt (other than the Loans) and the pontibCapital Lease obligations outstanding on siatle which by the terms of any
instrument or agreement relating thereto is dudemand or within one year from the time of deteation, in each case at the last day of
such fiscal quarter, and (ii) the Borrower's asdStibsidiaries, consolidated interest expenseleddd for the four complete fiscal quarters
ended on such last day of such fiscal quarteretiess than 1.50 to 1.00; provided, that with resfieany measurement of the Fixed Charge
Coverage Ratio as of the last day of the FiscalM@uanding September 30 in Fiscal Year 2002, satib shall not be less than 1.25:1.00."

1.10 Credit Documents. It is agreed that the dédimiof "Credit Document" in the Credit Agreemehal include this Amendment and each
Reaffirmation of Guaranty delivered pursuant totleec3.1(b) hereof.

ARTICLE Il - LIMITED WAIVER

2.1 Waiver. Subject to the terms and conditionda#tt herein and in reliance on the representatamd warranties of Borrower herein
contained, Required Banks hereby consent to thaxfolg limited waivers:

(i) waiver of compliance with the maximum Seniowvkeeage Ratio requirement of 2.00:1.00 as of Decerdbe2001 set forth in subsection
7.9 of the Credit Agreement; and

(i) waiver of compliance with the minimum Fixed &ge Coverage Ratio requirement of 1.50:1.00 &ecEmber 31, 2001 set forth in
subsection 7.10 of the Credit Agreement.

2.2 Limitation of Waiver.

Without limiting the generality of the provision§subsection 10.13 of the Credit Agreement, theveraset forth above shall be limited
precisely as written and relates solely to the @mand consent to the amendment of the provisibtiseedCredit Agreement in the manner and
to the extent described above, and nothing inAhiendment shall be deemed to:

(a) constitute a waiver of compliance by BorrowefGouarantors with respect to (i) subsection 3.2 arkection 3.3 of the Credit Agreement
in any other instance or



(il) any other term, provision or condition of tBeedit Agreement and any other instrument or agezgmeferred to therein; or

(b) prejudice any right or remedy that AdministvatiAgent or any Bank may now have (except to therssuch right or remedy was based
upon existing defaults that will not exist aftevigg effect to this Amendment) or may have in thife under or in connection with the Cri
Agreement or any other instrument or agreementrexido therein.

Except as expressly set forth herein, the ternmsjigions and conditions of the Credit Agreement tinedother Credit Documents shall remain
in full force and effect and in all other respe&ts hereby ratified and confirmed.

ARTICLE Il - REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

3.1 Borrower Representations and Warranties. Ieraiainduce the Agents and the Banks to entertiisoAmendment the Borrower
represents and warrants as follows:

(a) The Borrower has the power and authority argitalen all action necessary to execute, delivémpanform this Amendment and all other
agreements and instruments executed or delivertwllmgr executed or delivered in connection hereuuiitth therewith and this Amendment
such other agreements and instruments constiteteatid, binding and enforceable obligations of Bugrower (except as such enforceability
may be limited by (i) bankruptcy, insolvency, reanization or other similar laws affecting the esfament of creditors rights generally and
(i) general principles of equity (regardless ofetter such enforceability is considered in a prdicggin equity or at law)).

(b) After giving effect to the amendments set fanlARTICLE | and the waivers set forth in ARTICUE the Borrower's representations and
warranties contained in the Credit Agreement are &md correct in all respects on and as of the liateof as though made on and as of the
date hereof (except representations and warramigete specifically as of another date which are anckcorrect as of such other date) and no
Default or Event of Default has occurred and istibaing as of the date hereof.

3.2 Acknowledgment of Borrower. The Borrower exgigsicknowledges and agrees that as of the dageférhas no offsets, claims or
defenses whatsoever against any of the Indebtedn&sligations.

ARTICLE IV - CONDITIONS PRECEDENT

4.1 Conditions to Effectiveness of this Amendmédthie effectiveness of this Amendment is subjechédatisfaction of the following
conditions:

(a) Each Guarantor shall have executed and detiterthe Agent a counterpart to the ReaffirmatibGoaranty in substantially the form of
the Exhibit | attached hereto (the "ReaffirmatidrGauaranty").

(b) The Borrower shall have paid (i) to the Admirasive Agent, for distribution to each Bank exéegtthis Amendment, an amendment fee
equal to 0.25% of such



Bank's Commitment (prior to the effectiveness i hmendment); and (ii) all reasonable fees, cantsexpenses owing to the
Administrative Agent, the Banks and the AdministratAgent's counsel through the Second Amendmedetkie Date.

(c) The Borrower shall deliver to the Administrati®gent all intercompany promissory notes enteneid between Borrower and its
Subsidiaries to the date hereof which shall comytiz the proviso of subsection 7.4 (j), includingithout limitation, intercompany
promissory notes entered into pursuant to clausef(the definition of "Permitted Investments", amtlich shall otherwise be in form and
substance acceptable to the Administrative Agent.

ARTICLE V - GENERAL PROVISIONS

5.1 Full Force and Effect. Except as expressly alaedrereby, the Credit Documents and all other miecits, agreements and instruments
relating to thereto are and shall remain unmodiéied in full force and effect.

5.2 Counterparts. This Amendment may be executadymumber of counterparts, each of which wheexezuted and delivered shall be
deemed to be an original and that all of which tetagether shall constitute one and the same im&tnt, respectively. Delivery of an
executed counterpart of this Amendment by facsistilall be equally effective as delivery of a malyuakecuted counterpart of this
Amendment. Any party delivering an executed coyadrby facsimile shall also deliver a manuallyaxed counterpart of this Amendment,
but failure to do so shall not effect the validiégnforceability, of binding effect of this Amendnten

5.3 Final Agreement. This Amendment is intendednayBorrower, the Agents and the Banks to be thed,fcomplete, and exclusive
expression of the agreement between them with cespé¢he subject matter hereof. This Amendmenesgrles any and all prior oral or
written agreements relating to the subject matteedrf.

5.4 Effectiveness. This Second Amendment to therdad and Restated Credit Agreement shall becoreetei on the date on or before
December 31, 2001 on which the later of the foltaywccurs (i) the Borrower, the Required Banks @axch of the Agents and Issuing Banks
shall have signed a copy hereof (whether the sardéferent copies) and shall have delivered thaes#o the Administrative Agent or, in the
case of the Banks and Issuing Banks, shall havengiv the Administrative Agent telephone (confirniregvriting), written or telex notice
(actually received) that the same has been signédnailed to it, and (ii) the conditions precedssit forth in ARTICLE IV hereof shall be
satisfied or waived in accordance with the termedie The Administrative Agent will give the Borrew each Bank and each Issuing Bank
prompt written notice of the occurrence of the $EcAmendment Effective Date.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have catisisdAmendment to be duly executed by their dulthatized officers as of the date
first above written.

W RELESS FACI LI TIES, | NC CREDI T SUI SSE FI RST BOSTON

as Borrower as a Sole Lead Arranger, Administrative
Agent, Collateral Agent, an |ssuing Bank
and a Bank

By: /sl Mke C. Reilly

Name: Mke C. Reilly By: /s/ Robert Hetu

Title: Treasurer Name: Robert Hetu

Title: Director

By: /s/ Mark E. d eason

Title: Director

BANK OF AMERI CA, N. A COMVERI CA BANK (fornerly known as

as Docunentation Agent and I nperi al Bank)

a Bank as Managi ng Agent, or Issuing Bank and a
Bank

By: /s/ Stephen M Cusato

By: /s/ M Duncan MDuffie Name: Stephen M Cusato

Name: M Duncan McDuffie Title: Senior Vice President

Title: Managing Director

BANK ONE, N.A. (with its main office in
Chicago, Illinois, successor by merger
wi th Bank One, Arizona, N A)

As a Syndicati on Agent and a Bank

By: /s/ Gavin Burowai l

Title: Vice President



EXHIBIT |
FORM OF REAFFIRMATION OF GUARANTY

THIS REAFFIRMATION OF GUARANTY (this "Reaffirmatidl), dated as of December 31, 2001, is made by klensigned

(the "Guarantor"), in favo€adit Suisse First Boston, a bank organized utidetaws of Switzerland, actir
through its New York Branch ("CSFB"), as administra agent and collateral agent (the "Agent") fo¥ various Banks (the "Banks") from
time to time party to the Credit Agreement, date@BAugust 18, 1999 (as the same has been amemdtated, supplemented and otherwise
modified through the date hereof (including, withbonitation, by the Amended and Restated Credite®gnent dated as of February 9, 2001
among, inter alios, the Borrower, CSFB, as Admiaiste Agent and Collateral Agent, and the Banke (Amended and Restated Credit
Agreement")) (the "Agreement”), among, inter alid&reless Facilities, Inc. (the "Borrower"), CSF Administrative Agent and Collateral
Agent and the Banks. Capitalized terms used hamihnot otherwise defined herein shall have theninga ascribed to such terms in the
Credit Agreement.

WITNESSETH

WHEREAS, the Guarantor has entered into a Guardatgd as of August 21, 2000, for the benefit efAlgent and the Banks (as amended,
restated, supplemented and otherwise modified froma to time (including without limitation by theeRffirmation of the Guarantee dated as
of February 9, 2001 made between the parties Heta®"Guaranty");

WHEREAS, the Borrower, the Agent and the Requiradk® propose simultaneously herewith to entertimb certain Second Amendmen
the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, foptinpose of amending certain provisions of the Agrest;

WHEREAS, the execution and delivery of this Reaffition is a condition precedent to the effectiverefthe Second Amendment to the
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement; and

WHEREAS, the Guarantor desires to confirm thatGl@ranty remains in full force and effect;

NOW THEREFORE, in order to induce the Agent andBheaks to enter into the First Amendment to the Adesl and Restated Cre
Agreement, the Guarantor hereby agrees as follows:

1. Reaffirmation. The Guarantor hereby acknowledbesit has reviewed the terms and provisionfhiefecond Amendment to the Amen
and Restated Credit Agreement and consents taitba@ment of the Credit Agreement pursuant themetoimthe terms thereof. The
Guarantor expressly reaffirms that, notwithstandimgexecution, delivery and effectiveness of thedBd Amendment to the Amended and
Restated Credit Agreement
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and any and all other agreements, documents,icatéi§ and instruments executed and deliveredrinexdion therewith, the Guaranty shall
remain in full force and effect and will continuedguarantee to the fullest extent possible in atauore with the terms of the Guaranty, the
payment and performance of all of the Guaranteddj&tions (as such term is defined in the Guarantyy or hereafter existing under or in
respect of the Credit Agreement.

Except as expressly amended hereby, the Guaradtglbother documents, agreements and instrumelatng thereto are and shall remain
unmodified and in full force and effect.

2. Amended and Restated Security Agreement andj@l&dreement. (a) The Guarantor reconfirms thergigdnterest granted to Collateral
Agent pursuant to Section 2 of the Amended andeResstSecurity Agreement, and hereby grants to tiat€ral Agent a continuing lien on
and security interest in and to all Collateral al$ateral security for the prompt payment and peni@nce in full when due of the Obligations
(as such term is defined in the Amended and Rek&eeurity Agreement) (whether at stated matubpyyacceleration or otherwise).

(b) The Guarantor reconfirms the security integeahted to Collateral Agent pursuant to Sectioffi the Pledge Agreement dated as of
February 9, 2001, and hereby grants to the Co#lafggent a continuing lien on and security inteiasand to all Collateral as collateral
security for the prompt payment and performandelinvhen due of the Obligations (as such termefiried in the Pledge Agreement)
(whether at stated maturity, by acceleration oentlise).

3. Governing Law. THIS REAFFIRMATION AND THE OBLIGANONS OF THE GUARANTOR HEREUNDER SHALL BE GOVERNED
BY, AND SHALL BE CONSTRUED AND ENFORCED IN ACCORDABE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK
(INCLUDING SECTION 5-1401 AND

SECTION 5-1402 OF THE NEW YORK GENERAL OBLIGATIONSAW), BUT OTHERWISE WITHOUT REFERENCE TO
CONFLICTS OF LAW RULES.

Exhibit 1-2



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Guarantor has caused teafiRmation to be executed as of day and yeatr diosve written.

Wireless Factilities, Inc.

By:/s/ Mke C. Reilly

Title: Treasurer

CREDIT SUISSE FIRST BOSTON
as Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent

By:/s/ Robert Hetu

Title: Director

Title: Vice President
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Annex A

SCHEDULE 1
TO CREDIT AGREEMENT

COMMITMENTS/LOANS AS OF EFFECTIVE DATE AFTER MAKING  OF INITIAL LOANS

Name of Bank Commitment Loans
-CredltSulsse First Boston $éOOOOOOO $10,000,000
Comerica Bank (formerly known as Imperial Bank) $20,000,000 $10,000,000
Bank of America, N.A. $20,000,000 $10,000,000
BankOne, Arizona, N.A. $20,000,000 $10,000,000
Total $80,000,000 $40,000,000
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Exhibit 21.1
LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES

Wireless Facilities, Inc./Entel, a Delaware corpioraWFI de Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V., a Mexicamporation Wireless Facilities Latin
America LTDA, a Brazilian commercial limited lialtif company

WFI Network Management Services Corp., a Delawarparation WFI FSC, Inc., a Barbados corporation

WFI UK Ltd., a United Kingdom corporation WireleBacilities International Limited, a United Kingdasorporation WFI NMC LP, a
Delaware limited partnership WFI NMC Corp., a Detae/ corporation

WEFI Spain SL, a Spanish corporation

Wireless Facilities International Germany GmbH,exi®an corporation WFI Telekomunikasyon Servis LadTurkish corporation Questus,
Ltd., a United Kingdom corporation Questus ScandmaB, a Swedish corporation WFI Scandinavia AEBvaedish corporation Questus
GmbH, an Austrian corporation

WFI Asesoria En Telecommunicaciones SC, a Mexicaparation WFI Asesoria En Administracion SC, a Max corporation WFI
Services de Mexico, S.A. de C.V., a Mexican corporaWFI India Pvt. Ltd., an Indian corporation Wiess Facilities International Hong
Kong Limited Wireless Facilities International Sappre PTE LTC



Exhibit 23.1
Independent Auditors' Report on Schedule and Consén

The Board of Directors
Wireless Facilities, Inc.:

The audits referred to in our report dated Febrddry2002 included the related financial statensehedule as of December 31, 2001, and for
each of the years in the three-year period endegmber 31, 2001, included in the 2001 Annual Repoform 10-K. This financial
statement schedule is the responsibility of the @amy's management. Our responsibility is to expaasspinion on this financial statement
schedule based on our audits. In our opinion, $ineimcial statement schedule, when consideredatioa to the basic consolidated financial
statements taken as a whole, presents fairly) imatlerial respects, the information set forth d¢iver

We consent to incorporation by reference in regigin statements No. 333-85515 on Form S-1; No-588.4, No. 333-71618, and No. 333-
74108 on Form S-3; and No. 333-90455, No. 333-548t8 No. 333-71702 on Form S-8 of Wireless Faedljtinc. of our report dated
February 11, 2002, relating to the consolidatedrad sheets of Wireless Facilities, Inc. as of Ddmm 31, 2000 and 2001, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, stockhdldgtsty, and cash flows for each of the yearhiathree-year period ended December 31,
2001 and the financial statement schedule, whipbrteappears in the December 31, 2001 Annual RepoRorm 10K of Wireless Facilities
Inc.

KPMG LLP
San Diego, California
March 19, 2002
End of Filing
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